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The 2014/15 
financial year saw a 
noticeable increase 
in the number of 
complex and severe 
incidents across 
the State. Frontline 
operations were 
challenged in their 
ability to manage 
significant and 
protracted bushfires 

in the South West and outer metropolitan 
regions, Tropical Cyclone Olwyn in the north 
of the State and a number of high profile land 
and sea searches. The results of our work to 
improve inter-agency operability over the past 
few years were evident and enabled us to 
efficiently manage our joint resources to achieve 
the best possible outcome for the communities 
of Western Australia.

Our new DFES Strategic Plan was published 
on 1 October 2014 outlining the department’s 
priorities to the end of 2020. The plan forms 
part of the broader operational reform program 
and provides an insight into how we will meet 
the changing needs of Western Australia and 
build a better coordinated and more effective 
emergency services organisation for the future.

During 2014/15, we continued to meet major 
milestones for our long term projects.  

Standards for delivery of training and 
professional development for operational 
personnel, including volunteers, and corporate 
staff are now established through the 
Professional Pathways project. Delivery of the 
Pathways will enable DFES to build a capable 
and sustainable workforce critical for ensuring 
continued success in the challenging times 
ahead. Consolidation of existing emergency 
service legislation into a single contemporary 
Emergency Services Act has progressed with 
the Regulatory Gatekeeping Unit issuing a 
Compliant Assessment Notice in May. Drafting 
Instructions and Cabinet Submission have 
since been provided to the Minister. A project to 
deliver a second Emergency Rescue Helicopter 
Service funded by the Department of Regional 
Development’s Royalties for Regions program 
has commenced to support the existing Perth 
based operation providing improved response to 
the State’s South West.

The mental and physical safety of staff 
members and volunteers continues to be a 
priority. A comprehensive Safety Management 
System is now in place to manage and improve 
safety performance. A key success in this area 
is the establishment of more than 60 peer 
support officers across the State and a team of 
mental health first aiders who will act as a point 
of support for all employees, volunteers and 
their families.

A major achievement this year is the Aboriginal 
Firefighter Cadetship Program. This 12 month 
program focuses on developing the skills of 
young Aboriginals to support them to compete 
for much sought after trainee firefighter roles. 
The benefit of this program is evident not only 
in the progression of six of the cadets to the 
second stage of the recruitment process, but 
also a growing number of Aboriginals applying 
to become firefighters.

Continued improvements in managing bushfire 
related risk across Western Australia at the 
local level is being driven through the Office of 
Bushfire Risk Management and learnings from 
a review of community preparedness with the 
residents impacted by the Parkerville, Stoneville 
and Mt Helena Fires in January 2014.

At the end of what has been a busy and 
challenging year, I extend my thanks and 
appreciation to staff members and volunteers 
for their continued commitment to the 
ongoing evolution of our Department as a 
leading emergency services organisation. The 
outstanding passion and effort that each and 
every one of you commits to the Department 
is paramount to us providing the best possible 
emergency response to the communities of 
Western Australia. 

Commissioner’s Foreword

Commissioner Wayne Gregson
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Our Vision
Resilient Western Australian communities that work together to build 
capacity and capability to prevent, prepare for, respond to and recover 
from emergencies.

Our Mission
To improve community safety practices and provide timely, quality and 
effective emergency services, in partnership with local communities 
and emergency management partners. 

Our Values
• Put the community first

• Work together as a committed team

• Respect and value each other

• Continuously improve our services

• Act with integrity and honesty

• Have open and honest two way communications

• Strive to keep ourselves and others safe

Our Role and Responsibilities
The Department of Fire and Emergency Services (DFES) has a legislated 
role to manage a range of emergencies within Western Australia. This 
includes ensuring our workforce has the capability and capacity to 
effectively respond to emergencies. It also includes supporting increased 
community resilience by working with and within communities, and focusing 
on shared responsibilities for the prevention and mitigation of hazards.

The Fire and Emergency Services (FES) Commissioner is the Hazard 
Management Agency in Western Australia for:
• fire
• hazardous materials incidents
• flood
• cyclone
• storm
• earthquake
• tsunami
• collapse – landform or structures.

OUR VISION
MISSION VALUES
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Financial Overview

Overview

Finance costs
$2,897,000

Accommodation
expenses
$5,989,000

Grants
and subsidies
$43,239,000

Other expenses
$3,874,000

Loss on disposal
of non-current assets
$463,000

User charges
and fees

$299,086,000

Employee
benefits
expense
$184,634,000 

Supplies
and services

$103,159,000

Depreciation
and amortisation

expense
$15,554,000 Commonwealth

grants and
contributions

$4,640,000

Interest revenue
$118,000

Other revenue
$6,076,000

Service
appropriation
$53,425,000

Services received
free of charge
$2,003,000

Royalties for
Regions Fund
$301,000

Total cost of DFES 
services from 

1 July to 30 June
$359,809,000

Total sources of 
funding for DFES 

services from 
1 July to 30 June

$365,649,000
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DFES Strategic Plan
The DFES Strategic Plan was published on 1 October 2014. The plan is a 
blueprint for the implementation of a broad operational reform program. 
The program aims to further develop a frontline focused organisation and 
drive cultural change at all levels through a commitment to:
• greater transparency with regard to decision making, accountability and 

governance
• genuine consultation and inclusion of staff members, volunteers, the 

community and other key stakeholders
• embrace innovation and new approaches.

Our strategic framework is illustrated in Figure 1. Four strategic directions 
are underpinned by strategies to deliver outcomes by the end of 2024. 
The strategies provide focus for business improvement, to ensure that into 
the future we can deliver relevant and sustainable services to meet our 
stakeholders’ needs.

To support more effective planning, the 12 year period has been divided 
into three horizons of four years each. The outcomes for these horizons 
are described over the duration of the plan. More defined outcomes are 
provided for Horizon 1, less so in Horizon 2 and outcomes for Horizon 
3 are aspirational. Specific deliverables for achieving the horizon level 
outcomes are captured through our annual business plans as business as 
usual or as corporate projects in our Program of Works.

The Strategic Plan is intended to be a dynamic document, reviewed as 
part of the annual planning process and adjusted as required.

Figure 1: DFES Strategic Planning Framework

A FUTURE 
FOCUSED 
ORGANISATION

An organisation 
capable of 
anticipating and 
responding to the 
changing needs of 
the community and 
environment.

A LEADING 
EMERGENCY 
SERVICES 
ORGANISATION

An organisation that 
achieves its goals 
through a foundation 
of strong leadership, 
governance, 
collaboration, 
cooperation and 
alignment.

AN INTEGRATED 
ORGANISATION

An organisation 
with consistent and 
integrated systems 
and business 
processes.

VALUED AND 
CAPABLE PEOPLE

An organisation that 
values, protects and 
develops its staff 
members  
and volunteers.

12 YEAR OBJECTIVES, OUTCOMES AND RELATED RISK

STRATEGIES

Horizon Outcomes

2012 Horizon 1 2016

2017 Horizon 2 2020

2021 Horizon 3 2024

Annual Business Plans 
incorporating actions (what, who, when)

Strategic Direction Strategic Direction Strategic Direction Strategic Direction1 2 3 4
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Performance Highlights

DFES’ Key Achievements for 2014/15:

• published the DFES Strategic Plan

• commenced the Aboriginal Firefighter Cadetship program

• awarded two scholarships to Aboriginal students completing tertiary studies that will build safer and more resilient communities

• delivered the Ready on Country training package on emergency risk management in the Kriol language to five remote Aboriginal communities

• jointly won the 2014 WA Resilient Australia, State Government Award for Bushfire Patrol with the Department of Education and was highly 
commended at the National Resilient Australia Awards

• was highly commended at the Attorney General’s Department Western Australia Awards for the Bushfire Ready Program

• won the Revitalising the Regions category in the 2014 Premier’s Award for the Aurora Bushfire Prediction System

• progressed the implementation of crew protection systems for firefighting appliances.
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Enabling Legislation
DFES was established on 1 November 2012 and operates under the amended Fire and Emergency Services Act 1998.

DFES comprises the career (FRS) and Volunteer Fire and Rescue Service (VFRS), the State Emergency Service (SES), Volunteer Marine Rescue Services 
(VMRS), Volunteer Emergency Service (VES) and Volunteer Fire Service (VFS) units. We support local governments in areas of administration, training 
and funding of the Bush Fire Service (BFS) and also support the participation of young volunteers through our Emergency Services Cadets and junior 
programs.

DFES is responsible for administering State resources to two metropolitan sea rescue groups and the service level agreement for Surf Life Saving Western 
Australia’s volunteer rescue operations. Surf Life Saving Western Australia has more than 5,000 patrolling lifeguards who provide a range of essential 
services to the beach going community.

State Emergency Management Committee Secretariat
The State Emergency Management Committee (SEMC) Secretariat was formally established as a sub-department of DFES on 1 July 2013.

In support of the SEMC Secretariat, DFES provides transactional human resources, finance and other services on a free of charge basis. Where DFES 
data includes or is impacted by SEMC Secretariat data, it is noted within this report.

As a reporting authority in its own right, the SEMC Secretariat prepares a separate annual report detailing its own financial statements and key 
performance indicator results. The DFES Annual Report should be read in conjunction with the SEMC Secretariat Annual Report. Links between each 
report are provided where appropriate.

Responsible Minister
The Honourable Joe Francis MLA, Minister for Emergency Services.

Operational Structure
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Metro North
Coastal

Metro North
East

Metro South
East

Metro South
Coastal

Joondalup

Belmont

DFES
Emergency
Services 
Complex

Pilbara

Midwest Gascoyne

Goldfields Midlands

Great Southern

Lower South West 

South West 

Kimberley

Kununurra

Kalgoorlie

Geraldton

Karratha

Broome

Port Hedland

Bunbury
Narrogin

Manjimup

Albany

Esperance

For Personnel and Emergency Response Statistics please see Appendix 2.

Kimberley
Volunteers Brigades/Groups/Units  19

Pilbara
Volunteers Brigades/Groups/Units  30

Midwest Gascoyne
Volunteers Brigades/Groups/Units  112

Goldfields Midlands
Volunteers Brigades/Groups/Units  133

Perth Metropolitan Operations
Volunteers Brigades/Groups/Units  88

Total  
Volunteers  546

Total  
Volunteers  941

Total  
Volunteers   3,067

Total  
Volunteers  3,906

Total  
Volunteers   5,022

Great Southern
Volunteers Brigades/Groups/Units  242 Total  

Volunteers  8,957

South West
Volunteers Brigades/Groups/Units  50 Total  

Volunteers 1,660

Lower South West
Volunteers Brigades/Groups/Units  126 Total  

Volunteers  4,859

Perth  
Metropolitan  
Area

DFES Emergency Services complex

Regional offices

Region
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Commissioner  
Wayne Gregson, APM, BA, MBA 
(Fire and Emergency Services Commissioner)

Commissioner Wayne Gregson was appointed 
Commissioner upon the formation of the 
Department of Fire and Emergency Services on 
1 November 2012.

Commissioner Gregson joined FESA in 
September 2011 from Western Australia Police 
(WAPOL), where he held the rank of Assistant 
Commissioner within Judicial Services.

Commissioner Gregson holds a Master of 
Business Administration from Edith Cowan 
University, Graduate Certificate in Applied 
Management from the Australian Institute of 
Police Management and a Bachelor of Arts from 
the University of Western Australia.

Deputy Commissioner  
Lloyd Bailey AFSM 
(Operations Command)

Deputy Commissioner Lloyd Bailey has more 
than 40 years experience in fire and emergency 
services.

He held a number of roles within FESA before it 
became the Department of Fire and Emergency 
Services, and was promoted to his current 
position in March 2012.

Deputy Commissioner Bailey holds a Diploma 
of Fire Engineering Management, Graduate 
Certificate in Applied Management from the 
Australian Institute of Police Management and 
a Graduate Business qualification from Curtin 
University.

Deputy Commissioner  
Stephen Fewster BA(Mil), MSc 
(Capability Command)

Deputy Commissioner Steve Fewster has 
worked in both the State and Commonwealth 
Public Service for the past 38 years.

His roles include senior positions with the 
Departments of Defence, Justice, Attorney 
General and Premier and Cabinet. He also held 
senior management positions with FESA in the 
State Emergency Service and Fire Services.

Deputy Commissioner Fewster holds a Bachelor 
of Arts in Military Studies from the University 
of New South Wales, a Master of Science in 
Explosive Ordinance Engineering from Cranfield, 
United Kingdom and a Diploma of Explosives 
Handling and Management.
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Mr Frank Pasquale, BCom 
(Executive Director, Corporate 
Services Command)

Mr Frank Pasquale has 25 years 
experience in the public sector, 
commencing at the Office of the 
Auditor General. In 1996 he joined 
the Bush Fires Board of Western 
Australia.

During his 19 years with fire and 
emergency services, Mr Pasquale 
has managed significant financial 
reform projects, in particular the 
challenging implementation of the 
Financial Management Information 
System and the Emergency 
Services Levy.

Mr Pasquale holds a Bachelor of 
Commerce from Curtin University. 

Mr David Caporn, APM 
(Executive Director, Governance 
and Strategy Command)

Mr David Caporn has more 
than 39 years experience in the 
public sector, with a long history 
in Emergency Security and Risk 
Management, including 32 years 
with WAPOL.

In his role at the Department of 
Fire and Emergency Services he 
oversees the directorates of Risk, 
Planning and Reporting; Legal and 
Legislative Services; the Strategic 
Program Office and Professional 
Standards.

Mr Caporn retired from DFES in 
July 2015. Ms Sue Paterson has 
been employed to fill this role from 
July 2015.

Assistant Commissioner 
Graham Swift, BBA 
(Country Operations)

Assistant Commissioner Graham 
Swift has 35 years experience in 
the field of fire and emergency 
services, having commenced as a 
volunteer firefighter in 1980, before 
moving to the Bush Fires Board of 
WA as a Regional Training Officer 
in 1994.

Assistant Commissioner Swift 
holds a Bachelor of Business 
Administration from Curtin 
University.

Assistant Commissioner  
Darren Klemm 
(Metropolitan Operations)

Assistant Commissioner Darren 
Klemm has more than 24 years 
experience in fire and emergency 
services, having served three 
years with the South Australian 
Metropolitan Fire Service before 
joining the WA Fire Brigades Board 
in 1993.

Originally posted to Perth Fire 
Station, Assistant Commissioner 
Klemm has served at various 
metropolitan fire stations, followed 
by service in the Goldfields/ 
Midlands region as part of Country 
Operations.

Prior to moving to Metropolitan 
Operations in April 2015, he 
was Assistant Commissioner 
Professional Development. 
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Assistant Commissioner  
Gary Gifford, ESM 
(Operations Capability)

Assistant Commissioner Gary Gifford has  
38 years experience in the defence and 
emergency services industry and holds 
a Graduate Certificate in Emergency 
Management.

He has been involved in emergency 
management at a national level for more than  
15 years and in 2010 was awarded the 
Australian Emergency Services Medal.

Assistant Commissioner  
Chris Arnol, MPM 
(Hazard Planning and Response)

Assistant Commissioner Chris Arnol has more 
than 37 years experience in fire and emergency 
services. He holds a Masters Degree in Public 
Management (Flinders University) and a 
Graduate Certificate in Applied Management 
(Sturt University). He is a Member of the Institute 
of Fire Engineers, and was awarded a Churchill 
Fellowship for studies in urban interface 
firefighting in 2007.

Assistant Commissioner  
Brad Stringer 
(Professional Development)

Assistant Commissioner Brad Stringer has 
26 years experience working in the fire and 
emergency services, having joined the WA Fire 
Brigades Board in 1989 as a recruit firefighter. 
He has served throughout the metropolitan 
region as a Firefighter, Station Officer, District 
Officer, Superintendent and Rural Operations 
Coordinator.
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Command Key Responsibilities

Office of the Commissioner • Office of Bushfire Risk Management.
• Engagement with Aboriginal people on emergency management issues.
• Promotion and administration of health and safety issues including the Safety Management System.
• Provision of timely information to the Minister for Emergency Services.

Operations Command • Delivery of operational services through the career FRS, VFRS, VES, VFS and SES.
• Support local governments in areas of the administration, training and funding of the BFS.

Capability Command • Capability planning.
• Operations capability including built environment, special response, volunteer marine services, fire investigations and 

analysis, aviation services and Statewide volunteer operational response.
• State hazard planning including environmental protection, community engagement, spatial services and the State 

Operations Centre.
• Professional development including career and volunteer technical training, curriculum development, incident 

management training and leadership and management training.
• Operational readiness and standards including doctrine, research and development.

Corporate Services 
Executive Command

• Business services, information resources and strategic procurement.
• Development and maintenance of online services, information and communications technology.
• Human resources, workplace relations, recruitment, personnel and payroll, workers compensation and injury 

management, wellness, volunteer and youth services.
• Media, public affairs and corporate communications.
• Asset planning, delivery and maintenance of fleet, equipment and property.

Governance and Strategy 
Executive Command

• Corporate risk management, strategic and corporate planning, evaluation and reporting.
• Promoting professional standards and investigating matters relating to misconduct.
• Governance of corporate projects, change management and innovation/ideas management.
• Legislation, policy management and governance.

Organisational Structure
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Organisational Chart as at 30 June 2015

State Emergency Management 
Committee Secretariat 

(Sub Department)

Office of the  
Commissioner

Director Health and  
Safety Services

Director Asset Planning and Delivery

Director Business Services

Director Human Resources

Director Information and 
Communications Technology

Director Media and 
Corporate Communications

Deputy Commissioner Operations 
L Bailey

Assistant Commissioner Country 
G Swift

Assistant Commissioner  
Metropolitan 

D Klemm

Assistant Commissioner  
Hazard Planning and Response 

C Arnol

Assistant Commissioner  
Operations Capability 

G Gifford

Assistant Commissioner  
Professional Development 

B Stringer

Chief Superintendent Operational 
Readiness and Standards

Deputy Commissioner Capability 
S Fewster

Director Legal and 
Legislative Services

Director Professional Standards

Director Risk Planning  
and Reporting

Director Strategic Program Office

Executive Director 
Governance and Strategy 

D Caporn

Executive Director  
Corporate Services 

F Pasquale

FES Commissioner 
W Gregson

Office of Bushfire 
Risk Management

Denotes a member of DFES’ 
Corporate Leadership Team

Director Capability Planning 
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Administered Legislation
DFES administers the following Acts along with 
associated subsidiary legislation:
Bush Fires Act 1954
Emergency Services Levy Act 2002
Fire and Emergency Services Act 1998
Fire Brigades Act 1942

For other key legislation impacting on  
DFES activities, please see Appendix 1.

Changes to Written Law
Statutes (Repeals and Minor Amendments) Act 2014
The Statutes (Repeals and Minor Amendments) Act 2014 came into effect on 6 September 2014. 
This Act amended the Bush Fires Act 1954 to correct several identified grammatical errors.

Road Traffic Legislation Amendment Act 2012
The Road Traffic Legislation Amendment Act 2012 came into effect on 27 April 2015. This Act 
amended the Bush Fires Act 1954 to replace references to the Road Traffic Act 1974 with the 
Road Traffic (Vehicles) Act 2012.

Bush Fires Amendment Regulations 2014
The Bush Fires Amendment Regulations 2014 came into effect on 27 April 2015. These regulations 
amended the Bush Fires Regulations 1954 to replace references to the Road Traffic Act 1974 with 
the Road Traffic (Administration) Act 2008.

Fire and Emergency Services Amendment Regulations 2014
The Fire and Emergency Services Amendment Regulations 2014 came into effect on 13 December 
2014. These regulations amended the Fire and Emergency Services Regulations 1998 to allow a 
member of staff to disclose information obtained in the course of duty to a police officer for the 
purposes of investigating specified offences.

Fire and Emergency Services Amendment Regulations 2015
The Fire and Emergency Services Amendment Regulations 2015 came into effect on 3 June 2015. 
These regulations amended the Fire and Emergency Services Regulations 1998 to prescribe a fee of 
$750 for attendance by career or volunteer fire and rescue crews to a false fire alarm.
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Performance 
Management Framework

Outcome Based Management 
Framework

Shared Responsibilities with Other Agencies

Link to Government Goals
DFES’ core business is to support Results 
Based Service Delivery. Greater focus on 
achieving results in key service delivery areas  
for the benefit of all Western Australians.

Changes to Outcome Based 
Management Framework
DFES has retained the performance 
management framework established for the 
former Fire and Emergency Services Authority 
of Western Australia. There were no changes to 
the framework in 2014/15.

DFES is currently reviewing its outcome based 
management framework, to more clearly link 
to its strategic plan. Reporting against the new 
framework will commence in 2016/17.

Significant work is being undertaken at the 
national level by fire and emergency services 
organisations to develop an agreed framework 
for benchmarking and measuring performance 
across the industry with contemporary 
performance measures. The DFES framework 
will be aligned to national measures where 
appropriate.

Weather Warnings
DFES and the Bureau of Meteorology each have 
a responsibility to ensure that Western Australian 
communities are informed and supported in 
preparing for emergencies caused by severe 
weather events. The agencies have a close 
working relationship, which is underpinned by 
a Memorandum of Understanding signed in 
July 2014. A meteorologist is based in the DFES 
State Operations Centre at the Emergency 
Services Complex and provides forecasting 
services to support incident management. 
The primary objective is to provide incident 
managers with an understanding of current 
and predicted weather conditions to improve 
response planning.

Arson Reduction
DFES works closely with Western Australia 
Police (WAPOL) and the Department of Parks 
and Wildlife (DPaW) to reduce arson. A joint 
agency campaign encourages the community, 
particularly those vulnerable to bushfire, to be 
vigilant against arsonists and report suspicious 
behaviour. The DFES Extinguish Arson 
Database is also an important tool that enables 
Fire Investigation Officers and WAPOL to identify 
trends and investigators to monitor suspicious 
fire activity and combat arson.

State Operations Air Desk
DFES and DPaW have joint management 
responsibilities for the State’s aerial suppression 
assets. The State Operations Air Desk operates 
from DFES’ Emergency Services Complex in 
Cockburn, within the State Operations Centre. 
It is jointly resourced to carry out the tasks 
of dispatch and coordination of suppression 
aircraft.

State Emergency Rescue Helicopter Service
DFES manages the contracts for the State’s 
emergency rescue helicopter, RAC Rescue. 
Sponsorship is provided by the RAC and 
critical care paramedics are provided under a 
contract arrangement with St John Ambulance. 
Helicopter pilots are provided under DFES’ 
Aviation Services contract.
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Significant Issues Impacting DFES

Current and Emerging Issues and Trends
Emergency service delivery reform continues 
through the following long term projects: 
• the Emergency Services Acts Review has 

progressed with the Regulatory Gatekeeping 
Unit issuing a Compliant Assessment Notice 
on 3 May 2015. Drafting Instructions and 
Cabinet Submission were provided to the 
Minister on 19 June 2015

• the Future Fleet project will deliver 
comprehensive crew protection capability  
to firefighting appliances across the State. 
The project will also procure next generation 
firefighting appliances, and deliver mobile data 
capabilities. The project will run until 2017/18.

Improved emergency management outcomes at 
the community level is supported by a number 
of important projects including:
• the Command, Control, Coordination and 

Information Systems project is nearing 
completion.  It has already demonstrated 
substantial improvement in agency capability 
and inter agency collaboration

• the All Hazards Information Management 
System project is due for completion at the 
end of 2015. It will support improved incident 
management, reporting and information 
sharing

• the Critical Messaging project will improve  
the dissemination of public information  
during incidents.

Mental health is a key safety focus with 
implementation of mental health first aid training 
for staff members and volunteers and an 
expanded and enhanced peer support program 
being rolled out in 2015/16.

Improved resilience through community 
preparedness and capacity building is also a 
major focus. DFES has commenced a four year 
project to establish Level 1 fire response units in 
a number of remote Aboriginal communities. 

The Office of Bushfire Risk Management 
in partnership with DPaW, DFES and local 
government, is working to ensure that bushfire 
related risk in Western Australia is managed 
in accordance with Australian Standard ISO 
31000:2009 Risk management – Principles  
and guidelines. 

A project to deliver a system to support the 
development and execution of Bushfire Risk 
Management Plans is being operationalised. 
The system enables the user to conduct risk 
assessments and initiate treatments associated 
with identified assets.

Increased diversity of career firefighters is 
supported through the Aboriginal Firefighter 
Cadetship program. The program aims to 
increase the number of successful Aboriginal 
and Torres Strait Islander applications to 
become a trainee firefighter.

Charging for repeat false fire alarms, in line 
with legislation, will commence during 2015/16. 
This will increase the capacity of firefighters by 
reducing the number of false fire alarm incidents. 

Economic and Social Trends
The Department places a continued emphasis 
on the development of a sustainable funding 
and investment model as it seeks to replace 
its ageing information and communications 
systems.

The impact of demographic shifts across 
Western Australia is challenging DFES’ ability to 
sustain its volunteer workforce. Issues include 
the declining numbers of volunteers in the 
regions and a steady increase in the average 
age of volunteers.

DFES is developing a Volunteer Sustainability 
Strategy to focus on the recruitment, retention 
and diversity of its volunteer workforce. 
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Report on Operations
Actual Results versus Budget Targets

Resource Agreement
(Treasurer’s Instructions 808)

The following performance information (financial and non-financial) is the subject of a resource agreement signed by the Minister for Emergency Services, 
the Department of Fire and Emergency Services and the Treasurer under Part 3, Division 5 of the Financial Management Act 2006. Resources are 
provided for the delivery of two services, which are linked to two agency level outcomes.

Prevention and Mitigation Services
Western Australian communities able to prevent, prepare for and recover from emergencies.

Emergency Services
The impact of emergencies is minimised through the delivery of appropriate emergency response.
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Financial Targets Summary (further detail is provided in the Financial Statements)

Performance is monitored against financial targets and through our key performance indicators. Performance results for 2014/15 are shown below.

2014/15 
Target 
$000

2014/15 
Actual 
$000

Variation 
$000 Reason for Significant Variation between Target and Actual

Total cost of services (expense 
limit) (details from Statement of 
Comprehensive Income).

334,231 359,809 25,578 The variance is mainly due to an increase in DFES’ expense limit to 
address budget shortfalls including funding for the supplementary 
funding for bushfire suppression and State Emergency Services 
response and recovery operations.

Net cost of services (details from 
Statement of Comprehensive 
Income).

28,257 49,889 21,632 The variance is mainly due to an increase in DFES’ expense limit to 
address budget shortfalls including funding for the supplementary 
funding for bushfire suppression and State Emergency Services 
response and recovery operations.

Net increase/(decrease) in cash 
held (details from Statement of 
Cash Flows).

(14,908) 14,103 29,011 Increase in cash balances largely reflects underspends in recurrent and 
capital projects, RAC sponsorship contributions paid in advance and 
savings on salaries and wages due to the recruitment freeze.

Total equity (details from Statement 
of Financial Position)

314,271 354,126 39,855 The variance mainly reflects an upward revaluation of land and buildings 
from Landgate, together with an increase in cash balances.

2014/15 
Target

2014/15 
Actual Variation

Approved average Full Time 
Equivalent (FTE) staff level.

1,473 1,462.72 10.28 The variance is primarily due to the recruitment freeze. 
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Target Achieved Status Page

Service 1: Prevention and Mitigation

Number of accidental residential fires per 100,000 households 70 60.27 ✔ 119

Proportion of structure fires confined to object or room of origin 72% 73.58% ✔ 120

% of FES Emergency Response Guides for hazardous materials sites reviewed within specified timeframes 90% 80.06% ✘ 121

Service 2: Emergency Services 

% of 000 calls answered within the target timeframe 95% 95.27% ✔ 123

% of metropolitan responses by career Fire and Rescue 
Service within target timeframes 

Total Times1 90% 89% ✘ 124

Life Critical – Structure Fire 90% 92.61% ✔ 125

Life Critical – Rescue 90% 90.81% ✔ 125

% of volunteer Fire and Rescue Service turnouts within target timeframes – Hazard Management Agency 
roles only

90% 93.75% ✔ 128

% of operational personnel trained in incident management  
(bushfire)

Level 2 90% 152% ✔ 129

Level 3 90% 183% ✔ 129

DFES’ Efficiency Indicator Results2 Target Achieved Status Page

Service 1: Prevention and Mitigation

Cost of prevention and mitigation services per capita (WA) $20.90 $15.59 ✔ 122

Service 2: Emergency Services 

Cost of emergency services per capita (WA) 3 $115.18 $104.48 ✔ 130

KEY  ✔ We are achieving our goals      ✘ Desired result not achieved – taking action
1 The total response time is impacted by lower response time results for ‘Other (Property)’ and ‘Grass, Scrub, Rubbish and Bush’ fires.
2 A recalculation of population figures by the Australian Bureau of Statistics after the Targets were set, has resulted in a lower than expected result for these two efficiency indicators.
3 This result includes supplementary funding of $18,893,000 provided for extraordinary and unforseen expenditure on bushfire suppression and State Emergency Service response and recovery incidents, which was not included at the 

time the Target was set. The exclusion of this extraordinary expenditure would result in an even more favourable result of $97.31 spent per Western Australian.

DFES’ Effectiveness Indicator Results
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Emergency management can be grouped into three phases of activity – before, during and after an incident or event occurs.

Before
Preparedness for emergency events accounts for a significant component of DFES resourcing and is 
undertaken at two levels:
1. Preparing the Department to be ready to respond when incidents or events occur.

2. Supporting the community to prepare for emergencies that may impact them as a consequence of local risks.

Preparedness at the Department level includes determining and establishing capacity and capability 
requirements for managing DFES hazard risks. This informs strategic asset, human resource and training 
delivery planning. Preparedness includes exercising at the State, department and local levels which allows response personnel to test and practise 
protocols in a safe learning environment.

DFES assists stakeholders to understand their responsibilities to improve preparedness at the local level by helping them identify, understand and mitigate 
local hazards and risks. Specific services that are provided across the State in this phase include built environment planning; monitoring and planning for 
bushfire risk; and delivery of community education and awareness programs tailored to specific hazards.

During
Response services are the most obvious interface that DFES has with the community. DFES’ objective is to promote 
highly motivated, resourced and well trained emergency responders, both volunteers and career, that strive to keep 
themselves and others safe. The work undertaken in the preparedness phase supports cohesive and cooperative 
delivery of emergency services and reduced impact from emergencies.

Information management and effective communication between all stakeholders, including the affected community,  
is vitally important during the incident response phase.

After
During this phase, DFES evaluates the emergency response to validate current practice and protocols and identify 
where improvements can be made. Outcomes of incident reviews and other relevant feedback, including research 
findings, are fed back into the planning and preparedness phase to support learning and maintain contemporary 
standards of service delivery. DFES’ objective is to create a learning culture that supports continuous improvement.
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Before incidents occur, we focus 
on preparing for emergency situations so 
our personnel and community stakeholders 
are equipped to respond.

Through our Strategic Plan DFES aims 
to develop as an organisation capable of 
anticipating and responding to the changing 
needs of the Western Australian community 
and environment. During 2014/15 we set 
out to improve our capability through a 
range of initiatives. These include our 
Aboriginal Cadetship Program focusing 
on skill development for young Aboriginals 
to compete for much sought after trainee 
firefighter roles, the Commissioner’s 
Aboriginal Scholarship program and 
progression of the Professional Pathways 
project. Development of the theme of 
‘a shared responsibility’ was supported 
through our Ready on Country, Bushfire 
Patrol and Bushfire Ready community 
engagement programs.

The Hon. Joe Francis MLA, Commissioner Wayne 
Gregson with the Aboriginal Firefighter Cadetship 

Program facilitator and participants. 
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Aboriginal Firefighter Cadetship Program
On 5 January 2015, DFES launched its 
Aboriginal Firefighter Cadetship Program, a 
12 month initiative to train young Aboriginal 
people and increase their competitiveness 
when applying for highly sought after trainee 
firefighter positions.

The Cadetship Program is a workforce 
management initiative providing a career 
pathway for young Aboriginal people into 
fire and emergency services, just one of 
DFES’ strategies to ensure our people are 
representative of the diverse communities we 
serve.

Eleven cadets won places in the pilot Program 
which comprises physical fitness training, 
improvement of numeracy and literacy skills 
and development of personal confidence 
to satisfy the firefighter entry standards. On 
graduation, the cadets will also have attained 
a Certificate II in Resources and Infrastructure 
Work Preparation. The course units have 
been customised to suit DFES’ work roles 
and expectations.

The Cadetship Program does not guarantee 
the cadets’ acceptance into future trainee 
firefighter schools. Rather, it provides the 
opportunity to develop the skills and knowledge 
to competitively apply for a position within 
the firefighter recruit program. The Cadetship 
Program is designed to provide cadets with 
not only practical work skills and qualifications 
but additionally create an environment which 
fosters individual confidence, the development 
of leadership skills and cultural connectedness.

The benefits from the Cadetship Program 
include:
• an increased trust and understanding of 

DFES as an agency representative of the local 
community through the active promotion of 
Aboriginal culture in its workplace

• an increased capacity for DFES to serve 
Aboriginal communities with a greater 
understanding of local needs

• capability building and authentic employment 
pathways, providing cadets with a nationally 
accredited qualification and valuable industry 
work experience

• the cultivation of Aboriginal leaders through a 
holistic program that recognises, celebrates 
and encourages diversity and provides positive 
and meaningful role modelling for cadets

• a demonstration of DFES’ genuine 
commitment to diversity.

Commissioner’s Aboriginal Scholarship
In 2014, DFES announced its inaugural 
Commissioner’s Aboriginal Scholarship. The 
Scholarship provides $5,000 each to two 
university level Aboriginal students completing 
studies in a field that contributes to building 
safer and more resilient communities.

Partnerships have been developed with the 
University of Western Australia (UWA) and Edith 
Cowan University to administer the scholarships.

This year the scholarships were awarded to 
Jenelle Sorensen and Corey O’Shaughnessy. 
Jenelle has a Bachelor of Arts in Aboriginal  
Pre-Law and is now enrolled to complete a 
Bachelor of Laws. Corey has commenced 
his second year of a Bachelor of Science 
(Paramedical).

Building Workforce Diversity
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During 2014/15, the DFES Aboriginal 
Advancement Unit commenced delivery of 
the Ready on Country training package, an 
introduction to emergency risk management 
in five remote Pilbara and Kimberley Aboriginal 
communities – Bidyadanga, Fitzroy Crossing, 
Looma, Punmu and Warmun.

Ready on Country is jointly funded through a 
National Disaster Resilience Program grant 
(NDRP). It builds on DFES’ Safer Country 
training package with appropriate Aboriginal 
considerations, recognising unique Aboriginal 
learning methods. The package is tailored for 
remote Aboriginal communities.

The Ready on Country training facilitator 
delivered the training in Kriol language, 
facilitating an increased understanding of 
concepts by participants and their engagement 
in the conversation.

Relationships built between DFES and 
community members as a result of this 
successful two way exchange of knowledge 
will benefit the communities during future 
emergencies and allow for increased 
engagement at the local level.

Ready on Country includes hands-on, practical 
exercises and community walkthroughs to 
identify unique risks and hazards. The training 
package emphasises listening to communities 
before training commences and allowing 
adaptation where required. As a result, DFES 
is negotiating to develop Emergency Risk 
Management Plans in remote Aboriginal 
communities.

DFES will deliver Ready on Country to more 
communities during 2015/16 and further develop 
the training package and materials.

South West Helicopter Service
In August 2013, the State Government 
committed to establishing a second Emergency 
Rescue Helicopter Service (ERHS) based in the 
South West to operate in conjunction with the 
Perth-based ERHS.

On Wednesday 10 June, it was announced 
that the South West ERHS would be located 
at Bunbury Airport. A budget of $29.95 million 
over three years has been allocated by the 
Department of Regional Development’s 
Royalties for Regions program.

The funding includes the construction of the 
state-of-the-art helicopter base, the provision of 
the helicopter, flight crew, critical care paramedics 
and the helicopter’s dispatch services.

The new service, managed by DFES, will double 
the capacity of the existing ERHS allowing the 
services to perform all types of mercy flights 
over a greater area. It will provide improved 
initial response to the South West’s increasing 
population, transport patients more quickly to 
medical facilities and conduct inter-hospital 
transfers.

The service will mirror the existing Perth-based 
capability operating 24 hours per day, every 
day of the year. The new service will allow, for 
the first time, medical helicopter response to 
simultaneous incidents.

Ready on Country

“ DFES will deliver Ready on Country to more communities 
during 2015/16 and further develop the training package 
and materials. ”
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Pathways is the framework which underpins the 
skills and knowledge requirements for DFES. 
The Professional Pathways project creates 
pathways detailing the skills required to perform 
each rank, role or level at DFES. 

The career pathways component of the 
Professional Pathways Project has consolidated 
the required and optional training requirements 
into an easily accessible format for individuals 
and supervisors to review and administer. 
This greatly enhances career staff members’ 
ability to maintain the required competencies to 
guarantee 24/7 service delivery.

During 2014/15, the Professional Pathways 
Project implemented Volunteer Pathways for 
Fire and Natural Hazards. Implementation of 
the initial volunteer pathways for Fire and State 
Emergency Services has seen approximately 
15,000 volunteers issued with Pathway 
Certification. Implementation of the remaining 
volunteer pathways during 2015 will complete 
a structured DFES training platform providing 
the skills and standards to support successful 
hazard and emergency response to the 
community. 

The launch of the volunteer qualification 
program in the second half of 2015 will offer 
volunteers the opportunity to opt in or out of an 
educational pathway, accommodating those 
seeking nationally accredited qualifications.

The DFES corporate pathways provide 
a consistent approach for public service 
government officers. The skill and knowledge 
requirements are aligned to the public sector 
levels incorporating the relevant leadership 
capability themes. Corporate pathways allow 
for role specific vocational qualifications and 
tertiary education as an option to supplement 
department specific courses. This provides a 
structured approach and clear direction for  
staff development.

The Pathways Project has launched an 
enterprise training management system known 
as the eAcademy. The eAcademy provides 
visibility of training to all DFES services, 
business areas, staff members and volunteers. 
The system enhances the training experience 
with online courses, streamlined administrative 
workflows and improved reporting to increase 
preparedness and improve emergency response 
capability.

The Professional Pathways eAcademy complements 
DFES’ capability to deliver training to all its 
stakeholders in a variety of mediums, statewide.

The Professional Pathways – Design and Implementation Project

“
”
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Technology Supporting the Frontline

Significant progress has been made to 
implement this suite of crew protection elements 
with the installation of 3,700 burnover blankets 
completed. The installation of radiant heat shields 
is to be completed by December 2015. The 
critical component lagging and panels, deluge 
system and in cabin air systems are currently 
subject to a tender process, with installation 
scheduled for completion by January 2018.

The remaining element of the crew protection 
system is the AVL. Contracts are anticipated to 
be finalised in 2016 with installation complete 
in 2018.

The range of compliance issues to be 
addressed with each element adds to the 
complexity of the program implementation.

Tablet Deployment
A review identified that many incident controllers 
either did not have access to laptops or 
were operating from old laptops without the 
required capability.

This year DFES has invested $280,000 in mobile 
computer equipment for incident controllers and 
station officers. Seventy six incident controllers 
and station officers across the state have been 
issued a tablet device with in-built Wi-Fi, 4G 
data connectivity and the latest software.

Tablet devices optimise connectivity of 
operational staff, ensuring they can access and 
contribute to vital incident information while 
on the road. The investment is part of DFES’ 
commitment to a future focused organisation 
with enabled, capable staff.

Driving Simulator
A driving simulator will assist DFES train staff 
members and volunteers in a range of difficult 
driving conditions without the risk associated 
with actually driving a vehicle under emergency 
conditions.

The simulator will enable the Western Australia 
Fire and Emergency Services (WAFES) Academy 
to ensure personnel are trained to perform their 
duties proficiently and competently.

A tender has been released and it is expected 
that the contract will be awarded early in 2015/16.

Crew Protection Rollout
DFES is improving its fleet services systems, 
processes and procedures in build specification, 
compliance and quality assurance. DFES is 
also rationalising its existing firefighting fleet 
to reduce the number of different appliances 
in use statewide. It is part of a broader future 
fleet project that incorporates the integration 
of critical crew protection systems with 
the introduction of a new generation of fire 
appliance. 

The fire appliance crew protection program is 
jointly funded by DFES and the Department of 
Regional Development’s Royalties for Regions 
Program and supports volunteer and career 
firefighter safety in bushfire burnover and 
entrapment situations.

It is a complex, comprehensive statewide 
program being delivered over four years and 
comprises five elements:
• burnover blankets
• radiant heat shields
• deluge, lagging and panel systems
• in cabin air systems
• automatic vehicle location (AVL) system.
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Preparedness Brings Peace of Mind
The Shire of Mundaring ran Winter Burning 
Workshops last year, with participation from 
the nine volunteer Bush Fire Brigades in the 
shire. The workshops attracted 130 community 
members from 98 households seeking more 
responsibility for reducing their fuel loads and 
undertake safe burning practices.

The workshops, combined with volunteer Bush 
Fire Brigades hazard reduction burning in the 
area, are aimed at mitigating bushfire risk in the 
Perth hills throughout the summer months. 

The workshops provided residents with clear 
and simple instructions on how to safely reduce 
fuel load during the winter months. Participants 
were shown techniques and tools needed to 
control burn off fires and taught the conditions 
required to conduct safe and successful burns.

Strategies such as breaking down their 
properties into small sections, prioritising areas 
close to the house and sheds and identifying  
the most likely direction of a fire meant that 
residents entered the summer fire season  
better prepared.

Workshops also educated participants about:
• correct clothing and equipment
• how and where to light the burn in relation to 

wind direction and land slope
• how to manage the burn
• the importance of ensuring all burning is 

extinguished before leaving the area.

Measuring Resources to Risk
DFES VMRS branch reviewed the Marine Search 
and Rescue resources at each VMRS group 
to determine business rules for future asset 
purchases. The project found that overall, there 
are only small variations between current and 
required Marine Search and Rescue resources.

The project was expanded to develop a 
resourcing model that can be applied across  
all DFES services.

A six step methodology for determining a 
resource to risk model across Western Australia 
was developed. The model will be applied to 
SES and VFRS units in the first instance.

Supporting Emergency Management Partners

A resident reported that the workshops gave them “a strategy 
and the confidence to carry out an extensive program of 
winter burning on our 10 acre property, something that had 
seemed an overwhelmingly huge task.”

“

”
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Reducing Bushfire Risk in the 
Community
The Office of Bushfire Risk Management’s 
(OBRM) role is to oversee prescribed burning 
and bushfire related risk management in 
Western Australia. Throughout 2014/15, OBRM 
focused its efforts on increasing the breadth  
and involvement of stakeholders across  
Western Australia in bushfire risk management. 
OBRM has:
• finalised a best practice guide for prescribed 

burning in the Kimberley Region. The guide 
will assist in coordinating and standardising 
the planning and management of prescribed 
burning in the region

• developed the first version of the Western 
Australian Bushfire-Prone Area Map and 
revision of the Western Australian Bushfire-
Prone Area Mapping Standard. The standard 
and the map form an integral element of a 
State Planning Policy that will greatly assist 
in better protecting communities at risk 
from bushfire

• commenced implementation of the Statewide 
Review of the Local Government Permit to 
Burn. The review aims to design a permit that 
can be applied to each local government

• revised the Bushfire Risk Management 
Planning Guideline following the 2014  
pilot project.

OBRM has continued to support the 
development and implementation of a 
coordinated best practice approach to the 
identification, prioritisation and treatment of 
bushfire-risk across Western Australia. This 
has included assisting DFES, DPaW and other 
partner organisations to review and align their 
prescribed burning activities with Australian 
Standard ISO 31000 Risk management – 
Principles and guidelines.

WA Cyclone and Southern 
Bushfire Season Synopsis 
2014/15
Following last year’s successful launch of the 
Seasonal Outlook site, DFES launched the 
2014/15 WA Cyclone and Southern Bushfire 
Season synopsis. The site is intended to 
complement the preparedness and training 
initiatives already underway by those involved in 
emergency and response activities statewide.

The synopsis covers topics such as the 
Seasonal Bushfire Assessment 2014/15, 
Bureau of Meteorology weather outlook, public 
information, seasonal aircraft, community 
engagement tools and operations centre 
phased activation arrangements at the state  
and regional level.

The site is available to all DFES staff and 
volunteers, state and local government agencies, 
public utilities and other community members.
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Fit for Duty Project
The Fit for Duty Project was designed to 
investigate the establishment of a tool to monitor 
firefighter and station officer physical fitness and 
work capacity.

Throughout 2014/15 the Fit for Duty Project 
collated over 300 responses to a job task 
analysis from firefighters performing frontline 
duties.

With the assistance of a professional research 
team from UWA, an inventory of firefighting 
tasks was physiologically graded.

Physiological markers were assessed in 88 
firefighters and station officers who participated 
in simulated firefighting scenarios conducted at 
the WAFES Academy.

Over 200 trials of the physical evaluation of 
work capacity have since been completed 
demonstrating the tool’s reliability.

Australian Firefighters’ Health  
Study Report
In 2011, the Australasian Fire and Emergency 
Services Authorities Council commissioned 
Monash University to carry out a study of the 
health of firefighters.

The study compared the cancer and mortality 
rates of 232,871 firefighters around Australia to 
those of the wider population. Approximately 
1,700 career firefighters and 30,000 volunteer 
firefighters from Western Australia were included 
in the study. The cohort included current 
and former firefighters who have undertaken 
firefighting tasks, including prescribed burning.

The study found that while the incidence for 
cancer was elevated by about eight percent for 
male full time and 11 percent for male part time 
firefighters, the overall mortality of firefighters 
was significantly decreased compared with the 
general population.

DFES recognises that being a firefighter is 
physical demanding and emotionally challenging.

To support the psychological, physical health 
and wellbeing of career firefighters, DFES 
maintains a range of initiatives including 
proactive health screening and an ongoing 
health monitoring program.

Ensuring the Health of Our People
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Awards for Building Community Resilience

DFES and the DOE were joint recipients of the 
2014 WA Resilient Australia, State Government 
Award, with the Community Engagement for 
Bushfire Patrol school education initiative. The 
program was also recognised as a ‘Highly 
Commended’ program at the National Resilient 
Australia Awards as part of the Australian 
War Memorial Awards held at the Australian 
War Memorial Canberra in November 2014. 
Furthermore, the DFES program Bushfire Ready 
was recognised as a ‘Highly Commended’ 
initiative at the Attorney General’s Department 
Western Australia Awards.

Bushfire Patrol
Bushfire Patrol is an online bushfire education 
program for schools within Western Australia’s 
South West land division. DoE provided 
curriculum and technical advice through the 
development of Bushfire Patrol, jointly funded by 
DFES and the Attorney General’s Department 
NDRP. DFES staff members, career and 
volunteer firefighters and teachers were involved 
in its development.

Bushfire Patrol’s key outcome is to raise the 
awareness of risk and shared responsibility 
around bushfire in the community.

It includes lesson plans and mission based 
online games. Homework is incorporated into 
the program to develop individual and family 
resilience to bushfire hazards. During 2014/15 
3,277 students used the program.

Bushfire Ready Program
The Bushfire Ready program aims to strengthen 
community connectedness through supporting 
neighbours to work together to prepare and 
respond to bushfire. Bushfire Ready plays a key 
role in supporting residents to initiate bushfire 
planning and preparation measures. Trained 
Bushfire Ready facilitators provide residents 
with information and skills to understand their 
bushfire risk and put strategies in place to 
prepare for and respond effectively to bushfire.

The Bushfire Ready program has grown 
significantly from 95 Bushfire Ready facilitators in 
2011 to 218 facilitators across the State in 2015.

There are currently 238 reported Bushfire Ready 
groups operating across the State. Records 
show that at least 155 Bushfire Ready activities 
were conducted before the last bushfire season, 
which is three times the recorded number for 
the previous year. Bushfire Ready facilitators 
conducted a range of activities including 
community forums, property walk throughs, 
street meets and information sessions.

After the bushfire season, facilitators reported 
that residents:
• became more aware of their bushfire risk
• learned how to prepare their property to 

withstand bushfire
• learned where to access accurate information 

about a bushfire.
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In the individual Braveheart competition, 
Firefighter Caddy placed second. Firefighter 
Caddy’s time for the event was a personal best 
and beat the existing Braveheart record. He was 
beaten by the representative from the Singapore 
Civil Defence Force by two seconds.

The team placed first in the Rip-It-Off 
competition for the second year in a row, ahead 
of the Singapore Civil Defence Force and the 
London Fire Brigade teams.

Teams from the Hong Kong Fire Services 
Department, Jakarta Fire and Disaster 
Management Department, Philippines Bureau 
of Fire Protection, Abu Dhabi Civil Defence, 
Malaysia Fire and Rescue Service, Special 
Malaysia Disaster Assistance and Rescue, Tokyo 
Fire Department and Miramar Fire and Rescue 
Department also participated in the event.

The team won first place in the Rip-it-off Competition.

Firefighter Caddy was awarded second place in the Braveheart Competition.

Rescue Team Wins First Place in 
International Competition
The Singapore Global Firefighters and 
Paramedics Challenge is an annual event where 
elite rescue teams from around the world gather 
to compete against each other in demanding 
scenarios related to firefighting, rescue, medical 
emergencies and hazmat management.

This year, the Western Australian team 
competed in two events:
1. Braveheart – An individual event where 

competitors perform strenuous firefighting 
and rescue related tasks. Speed, skill and 
strength are essential for the competing 
individuals.

2. Rip-It-Off – a timed, team based challenge 
where competitors carry out a road traffic 
accident scenario, with an emphasis on 
safety.

DFES was represented by Senior Firefighter 
Michael Burnes, Senior Firefighter Regan 
Pownall, Firefighter Dominic Reay and Firefighter 
Joshua Caddy. They were joined by Paramedic 
Mark Hill. The team leader was District Officer 
Jon Broomhall.
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Western Australian State Emergency Management Plans are known as Westplans and provide strategic, State level arrangements for managing the 
particular hazards to which they apply. Westplans are reviewed every five years, or as required. Reviews include extensive consultation with relevant 
stakeholders to ensure the plans are current and meet community and emergency service agency needs.

Interagency operational exercises are used to test Westplans with their frequency determined by the SEMC. The formal operational activation of a 
Westplan may be considered as an exercise for this purpose. The exercises provide the opportunity to improve State preparedness by clarifying legislative 
responsibilities, testing systems and procedures, identifying training gaps and improving interagency cooperation.

Current Status of Westplans:

Westplan Status 2014/15 Activations/Exercises

CBRN (Chemical Biological 
Radiological and Nuclear)

Current 25 February 2015 – (Exercise Cook Up) State level exercise to test the interagency arrangements 
within Westplan CBRN.

Collapse Current 9-10 and 29-30 October 2014 – (Exercise Orange Squeeze) State level multiagency exercises to 
evaluate the response of the USAR Taskforce and St John Ambulance Paramedics to a significant 
earthquake event.

Earthquake Current 9-10 and 29-30 October 2014 – (Exercise Orange Squeeze).

11 November 2014 – (Exercise Shockwave) Multiagency regional exercise to test regional staff 
members in incident management, coordination and reporting through the Regional Operations 
Centre, in support of operations. The aim was to test the regional response arrangements and 
incident management.

22 April 2015 – (Exercise Magnitude) a State level tabletop exercise involving personnel from the 
State Operations Centre, Metro Operations Centre, nominated Regional Operational Centres 
and Incident Management teams. The aim was to practice the DFES response and incident 
management to an earthquake event in Western Australia in accordance with Westplan – 
Earthquake, at both regional and State levels.

State Emergency Management Plans – Westplans
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Westplan Status 2014/15 Activations/Exercises

Fire Current 15 October 2014 – (Exercise Touchstone) State level multi-hazard exercise based on cyclone, 
flood and bushfires impacting WA to practice the coordination of a multi-agency response to 
multiple hazards in accordance with Westplan Fire, Westplan Cyclone and Westplan Flood.

30-31 January 2015 – O’Sullivan and Lower Hotham bushfires.

Flood Current 15 October 2014 – (Exercise Touchstone).

19 June 2015 – (Exercise Rainstorm) A State level exercise involving the State Operations Centre, 
Metro Operations Centre, nominated Regional Operations Centres and incident management 
teams. This was a multi-hazard exercise based on extreme weather events impacting WA 
resulting in a storm and flooding. The aim is to practice the DFES coordination of a multi-agency 
response to multiple hazards in accordance with Westplan Storm and Westplan Flood.

Freight Subsidy Under review Following a review, action has commenced to rescind this Westplan.

HAZMAT Current 17 September and 23 October 2014 – (Exercise Higgins) A two phased multi-agency state level 
exercise that tested the onsite response and interoperability between CSBP and DFES to a 
significant chemical leak.

Storm Current 17 August 2014 – Metropolitan and South West storms.

19 June 2015 – (Exercise Rainstorm).

Telecommunications Under review

Tropical Cyclone Current 15 October 2014 – (Exercise Touchstone).

11-15 March 2015 – Tropical Cyclone Olwyn.

29 April 2015 – Severe Tropical Cyclone Quang.

Tsunami Current 9 September 2014 – (Exercise Indian Ocean Wave) National multiagency exercise to evaluate the 
effectiveness of the Australian Tsunami Warning System at the national and state level.
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During an incident, primacy of 
life is the major motivation for Fire and 
Emergency Services staff members and 
volunteers.

This year we responded to 31,984 
incidents, several of which were significant 
bushfires. Of concern is the 146 percent 
increase in malicious false alarm calls 
since last year. A large number of these 
occurred while fire and emergency 
services personnel were responding to 
large simultaneous incidents including the 
South West bushfires.

Emergency services on-scene and preparing  
to defend community assets. 
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Bushfire
During the 2014/15 southern bushfire season 
there was a noticeable increase in the number of 
complex and severe incidents which challenged 
fire and emergency services across the State.

Late January 2015, multiple lightning strikes 
caused numerous fires across the South West 
region. In particular, two incidents occurring 
concurrently at Lower Hotham and Northcliffe 
quickly escalated. Over a number of weeks, the 
Northcliffe fire burnt more than 91,000 hectares 
and the Lower Hotham fire burnt approximately 
52,000 hectares. Despite the size of these fires, 
no lives were lost and damage to structures was 
minimal. Firefighters reported the fire conditions 
in the South West region as the worst they have 
seen since the 1961 Dwellingup bushfires.

These significant and protracted fires saw the 
largest response effort by emergency service 
personnel for some time. Assistance was 
provided by three interstate deployments who 
undertook roles in incident management teams 
and firefighting. Personnel came from Victoria, 
Australian Capital Territory, Northern Territory, 
New South Wales and Queensland.

Response to these fires was not confined to 
land. The VMR delivered emergency supplies to 
Windy Harbour residents who had taken refuge 
in the VMR building on the beach.

DFES worked closely with DPaW and 
government agencies, emergency services 
volunteers and not-for-profit organisations to 
respond and help the community recover from 
the fires.

The results of the extensive multiagency 
response demonstrated the collaborative and 
cooperative relationships within DPaW, local 
governments and DFES.

Significant bushfires also occurred in Gingin, 
Waroona, Eneabba and Bullsbrook.

Simultaneous fires across the South West 
region and numerous deliberately lit bushfires in 
the Kwinana, Mandogalup and The Spectacles 
areas meant firefighting resources were 
stretched throughout this period.

Storms and Cyclones
In August 2014, emergency services responded 
to a thunderstorm which triggered 59 requests 
for assistance for structural damage and water 
inundation across the Metropolitan and South 
West regions.

Category 3 Tropical Cyclone Olwyn crossed the 
coast near Coral Bay in the early hours of Friday 
13 March 2015 and slowly made its way south 
towards Denham. 

Residents, tourists and remote communities 
were relocated to welfare centres at Onslow, 
Exmouth, Carnarvon and Denham. The 
township of Coral Bay was closed to tourists 
and non-essential personnel. 

Tropical Cyclone Olwyn caused widespread 
extensive structural damage, with numerous 
orchards and plantations totally destroyed and 
disrupted essential services. An Emergency 
Situation was declared for the area. DFES staff 
members, SES and VES volunteers across the 
State were deployed to assist with the response.

Operational Overview
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The 2014/15 fire season saw an unprecedented 
level of aviation activity. Aerial fire suppression 
aircraft were activated almost daily from  
1 November 2014 until mid February 2015. 
Unfavourable weather, several lightning events 
and arson resulted in several long running 
campaign fires. 

Operations culminated in February 2015 during 
the Northcliffe and Lower Hotham (South West) 
fires. These two fires exceeded the capacity of 
the combined DFES and DPaW aerial firefighting 
fleet. To assist, four Police Air Wing aircraft 
supported these incidents and significant 
additional aviation resources were deployed 
from the Eastern States.

Interstate assistance included:
• four fixed wing single engine air tankers 

(SEATs), joining existing SEAT teams
• two large air tankers with an air attack 

supervisor fixed wing aircraft
• two Erickson Aircrane helitaks
• one high altitude infrared line scanner fixed 

wing King Air
• one RAAF Globemaster transport aircraft 

which transported 44 tonnes of fire retardant
• several heavy fuel tankers
• numerous aviation personnel deployed from 

New South Wales and Victoria.

Interstate deployment of these resources was 
a major logistics undertaking. It increased the 
aerial fire suppression fleet’s total water capacity 
from 48,100 litres to 105,600 litres. At the peak 
of the South West fires, more than 30 aircraft 
were in operation.

Once conditions eased the additional resources 
were able to be released. The aircraft conducted 
over 10,000 drops, totalling over 27 million litres 
of water. 

Fighting Fire from Above

“

”

The number of aircraft 
activations, hours flown and 
volume of water dropped in 
January 2015 exceeded the 
entire 2013/14 fire season.

Aerial firefighting suppression during the 2014/15 southern bushfire 
season.
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Land Search and Rescue
The SES attended 530 incidents during 2014/15.

Search incidents included:
• December 2014, SES volunteers and canine 

teams assisted WAPOL with a land search in 
Landsdale

• April 2015, SES volunteers assisted WAPOL in 
an extended land search for a missing couple 
in Sandstone. This land search included 
numerous mine shafts within the area

Marine Rescue
Marine Rescue Volunteers were also involved 
in challenging responses across the State, 
including four recoveries within three weeks at 
Salmon Holes in Albany and the rescue of a 
child injured by a propeller at Port Walcott.

Members of the Two Rocks Volunteer Marine 
Rescue were first at the scene when an 
emergency beacon was triggered five kilometres 
off Two Rocks.

Two men were pulled from the water suffering 
with hypothermia and burns. One man was 
unconscious. Crew members took turns 
performing cardio pulmonary resuscitation on 
the unconscious man during the 15 minute 
trip to the marina before handing over to 
paramedics.

The rescue operation was coordinated by 
WAPOL and included Whitfords Sea Rescue, 
helicopters and a long range fixed wing aircraft.

Rescue

SES volunteers involved in a vertical rescue at Karijini

• April 2015, SES volunteers in a search for two 
trail bike riders lost in bushland at Chidlow, 
east of Perth.

SES volunteers conducted vertical rescues in 
two separate incidents at Handrail Pool, Karijini 
and single incidents at Bluff Knoll and Prevelly.
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“

”

…the incident demonstrated 
the capabilities and 
professionalism of 
emergency crews and 
system to protect lives and 
infrastructure at Fremantle 
Port in the event of an 
emergency…

DFES Helps Fight Canadian Wildfire
Five firefighters travelled to British Columbia, 
Canada, as part of an 81-strong Australian 
contingent representing 14 emergency services 
agencies, to help battle widespread forest fires 
for up to five weeks.

DFES District Officers Danny Mosconi and 
Gavin Eva represented DFES and three fire 
management officers represented DPaW.

The Western Australian contingent’s challenges 
included working in very steep mountainous 
country with heavy pine forest areas and 
dealing with daily sightings of black bears 
and moose. It also involved learning new fire 
terminology, fatigue management after working 
shifts in excess of 14 hours and living in a camp 
environment.

The fires contributed to one of British Columbia’s 
most destructive fire seasons on record with 
almost 339,000 hectares of forest burnt.  
Despite the challenges, the officers agreed 
it was a fantastic experience and they felt 
honoured to represent DFES and Australia. 
While they were providing much needed 
help to the Canadians they also gained 
valuable experience and exposure to different 
environments and techniques, experience that 
will benefit the Western Australian community.

Ship Fire in Fremantle Port
Fire broke out in the accommodation section of 
the world’s largest purpose built livestock vessel, 
the ‘Ocean Drover’ and escalated rapidly.

It took more than 100 firefighters approximately 
14 hours to extinguish the blaze which spread to 
the bridge area of the vessel.

The incident required a significant response with 
representation from DFES, St John Ambulance, 
Department of Health and Fremantle Ports.

Of the 47 crew members on board at the time 
the fire started, one sustained critical injuries 
and another required hospitalisation.

Following the incident the vessel owner released 
the following media statement:
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Aurora wins 2014 Premier’s Award – “Revitalising the Regions”

The Aurora Bushfire Prediction System, was the 
winner of the ‘Revitalising the Regions’ Category 
in the 2014 Premier’s Award. The System 
is used operationally by DFES for all major 
bushfires.

Funded by both the State and Commonwealth 
governments, Aurora is the first operational 
national bushfire spread prediction system and 
aims to:
• accurately simulate a bushfire in real-time
• identify communities potentially under threat 

within a known timeframe
• enable fire management agencies to run a 

range of fire suppression scenarios.

Aurora is a result of successful cross-agency 
collaboration between UWA, Landgate and 
DFES to deliver better solutions to government 
with a particular focus on regional Western 
Australia. It is the product of long-term research 
at UWA with support from DFES. Aurora uses 
Landgate’s FireWatch as its interface and 
UWA’s Australis bushfire simulator to predict fire 
behaviour in near real-time. It combines scientific 
research on fire behaviour with large dynamic 
data sets and uses innovative computing and 
simulation techniques to deliver vital information 
on fire spread within a web mapping application.

Aurora reduces the complexity of operational fire 
behaviour analysis and could ultimately change 
the face of fire management in Australia.

Australis predicts the future location of a fire 
given its current position, fuel type and loads, 
slope and the forecasted weather. The simulator 
uses inbuilt algorithms and data inputs to 
produce outputs such as the speed at which 
the fire is predicted to move, the area that fire 
may encompass and the direction that the fire  
may advance.
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After an incident we celebrate 
our successes and apply learnings from 
post incident analyses and community 
feedback and research.

For DFES to improve emergency services, 
it is imperative that we learn from research 
and experiences. Wider access to mental 
health and psychological wellbeing 
support services will be available to 
support DFES people in managing the 
impact of attending incidents. 

During 2014/15 we conducted a review 
of community response during a major 
bushfire, the results of which will help 
inform and develop future community 
education programs.

A thank you note and gift left  
by a young community member. 
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Critical Incident Survey Evaluation
Critical incidents (also known as potentially 
traumatic events) are events that can evoke 
unusually strong emotional reactions and have 
the potential to interfere with the ability of an 
individual, or group of individuals, to perform 
their role.

As critical incidents are frequently experienced 
by DFES operational personnel and volunteers, 
a survey was designed to gain feedback on the 
current critical incident interventions/procedures 
at DFES. It also helped identify which critical 
incident factors DFES operational personnel 
and volunteers find most stressful, and gain 
information on what follow up intervention/
procedures are believed to be most effective.

The majority of survey participants reported that 
they were involved in up to five critical incidents 
during 2014. The most stressful incidents were 
noted as being those where the participant knew 
the victim and the incident resulted in their death 
or injury, or resulted in the death of a child.

Participants were also asked to rate the 
effectiveness of DFES’ mental health 
interventions following a high stress incident. 
The most effective interventions recorded were 
an informal discussion between team members 
or the Chaplain.

The CLT is considering a number of 
recommendations to enhance intervention 
outcomes for all operational personnel and 
volunteers. 

These recommendations include wider access 
to mental health first aid training and improved 
access to information about psychological 
wellbeing support and services.

Evaluation of Enterprise Governance 
Framework’s Effectiveness
The DFES Enterprise Governance Framework 
document was first published in 2012. In 
March 2015, an evaluation of the Framework’s 
effectiveness was undertaken. The evaluation 
found that DFES’ Audit and Risk Management 
Committee’s performance review and evaluation 
methodology is considered ‘better practice’ for 
undertaking a governance ‘health check’ and 
achieving continuous improvement.

The two recommendations for strengthening 
DFES’ Enterprise Governance Framework 
were presented to the CLT and approved for 
adoption. 

FES Commissioner Honoured 
by Recognition
At the Institute of Public Administration Australia 
WA Awards in Perth on 26 June 2015 the FES 
Commissioner, Wayne Gregson, was named 
the 2015 Murdoch University Leader of the Year 
working in State or Federal Government.

The award recognises Commissioner Gregson’s 
excellence in leadership in public administration 
and his achievements during significant strategic 
change at DFES.

Since his appointment, Commissioner Gregson 
has led a major reform program beginning with 
a refocus towards supporting frontline services, 
the implementation of a 12-year strategic plan 
and increased transparency, accountability  
and collaboration.

Improving through Evaluation
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An investigation into the work environment at 
Success Fire Station was undertaken following a 
diagnosis of renal cell carcinoma (kidney cancer) 
for four career firefighters who were based 
there. While it is acknowledged in Western 
Australia that firefighting is an occupation with 
a higher than normal prevalence of cancer, 
DFES is committed to ensuring firefighters are 
protected from hazardous materials wherever 
and whenever possible.

Following these diagnoses, DFES undertook 
a rigorous process to identify any causal link 
between firefighters’ health and the Success 
Fire Station. The process included a number  
of steps to assess both the station, current  
on-station firefighters and those that worked 
there previously. It included a temporary 
relocation of firefighters from the Success fire 
station to the City of Cockburn’s emergency 
services facility. This allowed environmental 
testing of the station to assist in determining if 
factors were present that increased the chances 
of firefighters developing kidney cancer.

The Success Fire Station has been examined 
by experts for any chemicals known to cause 
kidney cancer. This involved testing water, soil, 
air and surfaces within the fire station.

Further examination of the site’s surroundings 
was undertaken by the Department of Health, 
the Water Corporation and the City of Cockburn. 
The outcome of the investigations was that there 
is no identified link between the Success Fire 
Station and a cause of kidney cancer.

A medical examination specifically designed to 
identify signs of kidney cancer was developed 
by experts. The voluntary medical assessments 
were offered to more than 300 firefighters that 
had worked at Success Fire Station in some 
capacity since it opened in 2000. Medical 
assessments of more than 90 firefighters have 
not identified any signs of kidney cancer.

During this difficult time, DFES continued to 
support impacted firefighters and their families 
through its Employee Assistance Program and 
its Wellness Branch.

The results of the reports on environmental 
testing, voluntary health monitoring and 
epidemiological study conducted by Health 
WA, were all made available to an independent 
expert advisory panel consisting of a public 
health physician, occupational physician and a 
medical oncologist. 

The report’s conclusions included:
• all appropriate investigations have been 

undertaken to assess any workplace potential 
contaminant, without any evidence to support 
a plausible link between the environment at 
the site and the incidence of kidney cancer 
cases

• the cases as identified and investigated by 
the Department of Health Western Australia, 
are not consistent with the criteria of a cancer 
cluster and that further investigation is unlikely 
to uncover a single cause, due to the small 
numbers involved

• the response of DFES is deemed to have 
been appropriate and timely.

The FES Commissioner has determined that 
he will not direct any firefighter to return to 
the Success Fire Station, nor utilise the site 
operationally again. Instead, he will bring forward 
capital development plans for a new fire station 
to replace the Hammond Road site.

Success Fire Station
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Major Incident Review – 
Northcliffe and Lower Hotham 
(South West fires)
Following the devastating South West fires in 
January 2015, the SEMC is conducting a major 
incident review. The review will determine what 
DFES, DPaW and local governments can learn 
from this experience about how to best work 
together to respond effectively to major fires. 
The review will focus on agency response to the 
bushfires, primarily on the response phase of  
fire management. 

The Review Steering Committee is made up of 
representatives from DFES, DPaW and WALGA. 
The SEMC report is due at the end of  
September 2015.

Review of Community Bushfire 
Preparedness
Following the 2014 fire in Parkerville, Stoneville 
and Mt Helena during which 57 homes were 
destroyed, DFES commissioned the Bushfire 
and Natural Hazards Cooperative Research 
Centre to interview affected residents. The 
purpose of the interviews was to determine 
residents’ prior understanding of bushfire safety 
and risk and their experience during the fires. 
Feedback from the interviews will be used to 
improve community education and awareness 
programs around bushfire safety.

Very few of the residents interviewed had 
participated in any form of organised community 
bushfire safety activity though almost all had 
read published bushfire safety information.

Most residents interviewed reported having 
some level of concern about bushfire threat 
before the fire. Most reported having a bushfire 
plan, however, few had a written plan or had 
undertaken extensive preparations to reduce 
house vulnerability or planned and prepared 
for leaving safely if threatened. None of those 
interviewed had left for a safer location on the 
basis of fire danger weather predictions before 
the fire was reported.

The research also noted that residents 
expressed frustration at not being able to 
re-access their property once they had left 
due to the fire.

Following the finalisation of this research 
DFES has:
• targeted local government to increase 

awareness of existing bushfire and natural 
hazard programs

• included the findings of the research into 
Bushfire Ready facilitator training

• increased the number of Bushfire Ready 
groups across the State

• published and distributed targeted 
monthly themes for residents through local 
government websites, DFES’ website, 
operational staff members and volunteers

• commenced redevelopment of a Restricted 
Access Permit Policy whereby residents, 
under specific conditions, will be able to gain 
access to their properties once the fire front 
has passed but before the fire ground is 
opened.
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Financial Statements
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Disclosures and Legal Compliance
Financial Statements

Certificate of Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2015

The accompanying financial statements of the Department of Fire and Emergency Services have been prepared in compliance with the provisions of the 
Financial Management Act 2006 from proper accounts and records to present fairly the financial transactions for the year ended 30 June 2015 and the 
financial position as at 30 June 2015.

At the date of signing we are not aware of any circumstances which would render any particulars included in the financial statements misleading or 
inaccurate.

G Camarda BCom, CPA W Gregson APM, BA, MBA
Chief Finance Officer Accountable Authority

27 August 2015 27 August 2015

46Department of Fire and Emergency Services | Annual Report 2014/15



Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year ended 30 June 2015 ...........................................................................................................................48

Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2015 ..........................................................................................................................................................50

Statement of Changes in Equity for the year ended 30 June 2015 ....................................................................................................................................52

Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 30 June 2015 ..............................................................................................................................................53

Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service for the year ended 30 June 2015 ..............................................................................................................55

Schedule of Assets and Liabilities by Service as at 30 June 2015 .....................................................................................................................................56

Summary of Consolidated Account Appropriations and Income Estimates for the year ended 30 June 2015 ....................................................................57

Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2015 .................................................................................................................................59

Glossary .........................................................................................................................................................................................................................150

Contents

47Department of Fire and Emergency Services | Annual Report 2014/15



Statement of Comprehensive Income  
for the year ended 30 June 2015

  2015 2014 
 Note $000 $000

COST OF SERVICES
Expenses
Employee benefits expense 6 184,634 175,689
Supplies and services 7 103,159 89,227
Depreciation and amortisation expense 8 15,554 16,245
Finance costs 9 2,897 3,012
Accommodation expenses 10 5,989 7,701
Grants and subsidies 11 43,239 39,919
Loss on disposal of non-current assets 17 463 – 
Other expenses 12 3,874 3,172
Impairment loss 30 – 12,316

Total cost of services  359,809 347,281

Income
Revenue
User charges and fees 13 299,086 280,830
Commonwealth grants and contributions 14 4,640 4,435
Interest revenue 15 118 120
Other revenue 16 6,076 3,299

Total Revenue  309,920 288,684

Gains
Gain on disposal of non-current assets 17 – 372

Total Gains  – 372

Total income other than income from State Government  309,920 289,056

NET COST OF SERVICES  49,889 58,225
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Statement of Comprehensive Income  
For the year ended 30 June 2015 (continued)

 Note 2015 2014 
  $000 $000

Income from State Government 18
Service appropriation  53,425 50,688
Services received free of charge  2,003 1,029
Royalties for Regions Fund  301 371

Total income from State Government  55,729 52,088

SUPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE PERIOD  5,840 (6,137)

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Changes in asset revaluation surplus 35 22,753 7,463
Gains/(losses) recognised directly in equity  – 6

Total other comprehensive income  22,753 7,469

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD  28,593 1,332

See also the ‘Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service’.
The Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of Financial Position  
as at 30 June 2015

  2015 2014 
 Note $000 $000

ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 19 86,731 72,022
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 20 4,002 2,908
Inventories 21 8,836 21,295
Receivables 22 8,027 5,133
Other assets 23 2,104 518
Amounts receivable for services 25 – 5,000

Total Current Assets  109,700 106,876

Non-Current Assets
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 20 – 1,700
Amounts receivable for services 25 19,763 14,433
Property, plant and equipment 26, 27, 30 334,684 309,836
Intangible assets 28 1,028 93
Other non-current assets 29 833 811

Total Non-Current Assets  356,308 326,873

TOTAL ASSETS  466,008 433,749

LIABILITIES

Current Liabilities
Payables 31 8,355 9,216
Borrowings 32 3,485 3,337
Provisions 33 23,584 18,076
Other current liabilities 34 1,200 – 

Total Current Liabilities  36,624 30,629
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Statement of Financial Position  
as at 30 June 2015 (continued)

  2015 2014 
 Note $000 $000

Non-Current Liabilities
Borrowings 32 62,230 65,716
Provisions 33 9,795 8,973
Other non-current liabilities 34 3,233 811

Total Non-Current Liabilities  75,258 75,500

TOTAL LIABILITIES  111,882 106,129

NET ASSETS  354,126 327,620

EQUITY 35
Contributed equity  334,700 336,787
Reserves  54,809 32,056
Accumulated deficit  (35,383) (41,223)

TOTAL EQUITY  354,126 327,620

The Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of Changes in Equity  
for the year ended 30 June 2015

   Accumulated 
  Contributed   surplus Total 
  equity Reserves / (deficit) equity 
 Note $000 $000 $000 $000

Balance at 1 July 2013 35 315,856 24,593 (35,092) 305,357

 Surplus/(Deficit) for the year  – – (6,137) (6,137)
 Other comprehensive income  – 7,463 6 7,469

Total comprehensive income for the period  – 7,463 (6,131) 1,332

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:
 Capital appropriations  24,980 – – 24,980
 Other contributions by owners  (113) – – (113)
 Distributions to owners  (3,936) – – (3,936)

Total  20,931 – – 20,931

Balance at 30 June 2014  336,787 32,056 (41,223) 327,620

Balance at 1 July 2014  336,787 32,056 (41,223) 327,620
 Surplus/(Deficit) for the year  – – 5,840 5,840
 Other comprehensive income  – 22,753 – 22,753

Total comprehensive income for the period  – 22,753 5,840 28,593

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:
 Capital appropriations  – – – – 
 Other contributions by owners  – – – – 
 Distributions to owners  (2,087) – – (2,087)

Total  (2,087) – – (2,087)

Balance at 30 June 2015  334,700 54,809 (35,383) 354,126

The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of Cash Flows  
for the year ended 30 June 2015

  2015 2014 
 Note $000 $000

CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
Payments
Transfer of net assets to other agency  (1,862) (3,505)
Receipts
Service appropriation  48,095 46,257
Capital appropriations  – 24,980
Holding account drawdowns  5,000 5,000
Royalties for Regions Fund  301 371

Net cash provided by State Government  51,534 73,103

Utilised as follows:

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES   
Payments
Employee benefits  (181,986) (175,355)
Supplies and services  (100,833) (87,923)
Finance costs  (2,855) (2,449)
Accommodation  (5,989) (7,701)
Grants and subsidies  (30,780) (36,707)
GST payments on purchases  (15,247) (14,501)
Other payments  (3,176) (3,155)
Receipts
User charges and fees  298,994 279,289
Commonwealth grants and contributions  1,776 4,435
Interest received  118 118
GST receipts on sales  2,105 1,559
GST receipts from taxation authority  12,926 12,871
Other receipts  9,144 3,030

Net cash used in operating activities 36 (15,803) (26,489)
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Statement of Cash Flows  
for the year ended 30 June 2015 (continued)

  2015 2014 
 Note $000 $000

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Payments
Purchase of non-current physical assets  (19,093) (16,182)

Receipts
Proceeds from sale of non-current physical assets  803 793

Net cash used in investing activities  (18,290) (15,389)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Payments
Repayment of borrowings  (3,338) (26,995)

Receipts
Proceeds from borrowings  – 11,842

Net cash used in financing activities  (3,338) (15,153)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  14,103 16,072
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period  76,630 60,558

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE PERIOD 36 90,733 76,630

The Statement of Cash Flow should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service  
for the year ended 30 June 2015
 Prevention Services Emergency Services Total

 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 
 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

COST OF SERVICES
Expenses
Employee benefits expense  26,042   26,973   158,592   148,716   184,634   175,689
Supplies and services  11,404   10,052   91,755   79,175   103,159   89,227
Depreciation and amortisation expense  1,977   2,218   13,577   14,027   15,554   16,245
Finance costs  368   411   2,529   2,601   2,897   3,012
Accommodation expenses  754   1,046   5,235   6,655   5,989   7,701
Grants and subsidies  2,287   2,091   40,952   37,828   43,239   39,919
Loss on disposal of non-current assets  59   –   404   –   463   – 
Other expenses  493   2,125   3,381   13,363   3,874   15,488
Total cost of services  43,384   44,916   316,425   302,365   359,809   347,281

Income
User charges and fees  38,019   38,347   261,067   242,483   299,086   280,830
Commonwealth grants and contributions  590   606   4,050   3,829   4,640   4,435
Interest revenue  15   16   103   104   118   120
Other revenue   772   450   5,304   2,849   6,076   3,299
Gain on disposal of non-current assets  –   51   –   321   –   372
Total Income other than income from State Government  39,396   39,470   270,524   249,586   309,920   289,056
NET COST OF SERVICES  3,988   5,446   45,901   52,779   49,889   58,225

INCOME FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
Service appropriation  6,791   6,921   46,634   43,767   53,425   50,688
Services received free of charge  255   141   1,748   888   2,003   1,029
Royalties for Regions Fund  38   51   263   320   301   371
Total Income from State Government  7,084   7,113   48,645   44,975   55,729   52,088
SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE PERIOD  3,096   1,667   2,744   (7,804)  5,840   (6,137)

The Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Schedule of Assets and Liabilities by Service  
as at 30 June 2015
 Prevention Services Emergency Services Total

 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 
 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Assets
Current assets  13,945   14,594   95,755   92,282   109,700   106,876
Non-current assets  45,292   44,635   311,016   282,238   356,308   326,873

Total assets  59,237   59,229   406,771   374,520   466,008   433,749

Liabilities
Current liabilities  4,655   4,182   31,969   26,447   36,624   30,629
Non-current liabilities  9,566   10,310   65,692   65,190   75,258   75,500

Total liabilities  14,221   14,492   97,661   91,637   111,882   106,129

 

NET ASSETS  45,016   44,737   309,110   282,883   354,126   327,620

The Schedule of Assets and Liabilities by Service should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Summary of Consolidated Account Appropriations and Income Estimates 
for the year ended 30 June 2015
 2015 2015  2015 2014 
 Estimate Actual Variance Actual Actual Variance 
 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Delivery of Services
Item 111 Net amount appropriated to deliver services  30,920   52,434   21,514   52,434   49,786   2,648
Section 25 transfer of service appropriation  –   –   –   –   (65)  65
Amount Authorised by Other Statutes
 – Salaries and Allowances Act 1975  991   991   –   991   967   24

Total appropriations provided to deliver services  31,911   53,425   21,514   53,425   50,688   2,737

Capital
Item 173 Capital appropriations  –   –   –   –   24,980   (24,980)
Administered Transactions
Item 112 Administered grants, subsidies and other transfer payments  –   –   –   –   12,423   (12,423)

Total administered transactions  –   –   –   –   12,423   (12,423)

GRAND TOTAL  31,911   53,425   21,514   53,425   88,091   (34,666)

Details of Expenses by Service
Prevention Services  51,335   43,384   (7,951)  43,384   44,916   (1,532)
Emergency Services  282,896   316,425   33,529   316,425   302,365   14,060

Total Cost of Services  334,231   359,809   25,578   359,809   347,281   12,528
Less Total Income  305,974   309,920   3,946   309,920   289,056   20,864

Net Cost of Services  28,257   49,889   21,632   49,889   58,225   (8,336)
Adjustments  3,654   3,536   (118)  3,536   (7,537)  11,073

Total appropriations provided to deliver services  31,911   53,425   21,514   53,425   50,688   2,737
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Summary of Consolidated Account Appropriations and Income Estimates 
For the year ended 30 June 2015 (continued)
 2015 2015  2015 2014 
 Estimate Actual Variance Actual Actual Variance 
 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Capital Expenditure
Purchase of non-current physical assets  42,523   19,093   (23,430)  19,093   16,182   2,911
Repayment of borrowings  4,601   3,338   (1,263)  3,338   26,995   (23,657)
Adjustments for other funding sources  (47,124)  (22,431)  24,693   (22,431)  (18,197)  (4,234)

Capital appropriations  –   –   –   –   24,980   (24,980)

Details of Income Estimates
Income disclosed as Administered Income  –   –   –   –   12,423   (12,423)

  –   –   –   –   12,423   (12,423)

Adjustments comprise movements in cash balances and other accrual items such as receivables, payables and superannuation.
Note 41 ‘Explanatory statement’ provides details of any significant variations between estimates and actual results for 2015 and between the actual results 
for 2015 and 2014.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2015Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2015
1 Australian Accounting Standards

General
The Department’s financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2015 have been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards.  
The term ‘Australian Accounting Standards’ includes Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB).

The Department has adopted any applicable, new and revised Australian Accounting Standards from their operative dates.

Early adoption of standards
The Department cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless specifically permitted by TI 1101 Application of Australian Accounting 
Standards and Other Pronouncements. Partial exemption permitting early adoption of AASB 2015-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Fair 
Value Disclosures of Not-for-Profit Public Sector Entities has been granted. Aside from AASB 2015-7, there has been no early adoption of any other Australian 
Accounting Standards that have been issued or amended (but not operative) by the Department for the annual reporting period ended 30 June 2015.

2 Summary of significant accounting policies

(a)  General statement
The Department is a not-for-profit reporting entity that prepares general purpose financial statements in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards, 
the Framework, Statements of Accounting Concepts and other authoritative pronouncements of the AASB as applied by the Treasurer’s instructions.

Several of these are modified by the Treasurer’s instructions to vary application, disclosure, format and wording.

The Financial Management Act 2006 and the Treasurer’s instructions impose legislative provisions that govern the preparation of financial statements and 
take precedence over Australian Accounting Standards, the Framework, Statements of Accounting Concepts and other authoritative pronouncements of 
the AASB.

Where modification is required and has had a material or significant financial effect upon the reported results, details of that modification and the resulting 
financial effect are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

(b)  Basis of preparation
The financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting using the historical cost convention, except for land and buildings which 
have been measured at fair value.

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements have been consistently applied throughout all periods presented unless 
otherwise stated.

The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand dollars ($’000).

Note 3 ‘Judgements made by management in applying accounting policies’ discloses judgements that have been made in the process of applying the 
Department’s accounting policies resulting in the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2015
2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(b)  Basis of preparation (continued)
Note 4 ‘Key sources of estimation uncertainty’ discloses key assumptions made concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at 
the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next 
financial year.

(c)  Reporting entity
The reporting entity comprises the Department of Fire and Emergency Services.

Mission
The Department’s mission is to improve community safety practices and provide timely, quality and effective emergency services, in partnership with the 
local communities and emergency management partners.

Services
Service 1: Prevention and Mitigation Services
Western Australian communities able to prevent, prepare for and recover from emergencies.

Service 2: Emergency Services
The impact of emergencies is minimised through the delivery of appropriate emergency response.

(d)  Contributed equity
AASB Interpretation 1038 Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly Owned Public Sector Entities requires transfers in the nature of equity contributions, 
other than as a result of a restructure of administrative arrangements, to be designated by the Government (the owner) as contributions by owners (at the 
time of, or prior to transfer) before such transfers can be recognised as equity contributions. Capital appropriations have been designated as contributions 
by owners by TI 955 Contributions by Owners made to Wholly Owned Public Sector Entities and have been credited directly to Contributed Equity.

The transfers of net assets to/from other agencies, other than as a result of a restructure of administrative arrangements, are designated as contributions 
by owners where the transfers are non-discretionary and non-reciprocal (see note 35 ‘Equity’).
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2015
2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(e)  Income
Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised and measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable. Revenue is recognised for the major business activities as 
follows:

Emergency Services Levy
The Emergency Services Levy (ESL) funds Western Australia’s fire and emergency services. The majority of the ESL is raised and collected by local 
government authorities (LGA) on behalf of the Department by including it on their council rates notices. The ESL is calculated on the Gross Rental Value 
(GRV) of most urban properties, with a fixed rate charge per property in rural and remote areas. The Department raises assessment notices during 
the financial year for the ESL directly for properties owned by the State Government (General Sector), Local Governments and State Government 
instrumentalities (corporations) for large corporations.

LGAs either remit the ESL to the Department on a monthly basis as they collect it (Option A), or enter into a memorandum of understanding (Option B) 
authorised by the Minister and pay the ESL they assess to DFES in four quarterly instalments (30%, 30%, 30% and 10%) or one annual instalment. The 
annual payment option is generally selected by local governments that raise a small amount of ESL and wish to further simplify the ESL administrative 
arrangements.

All LGAs submit a Declaration of Annual Emergency Services Levy Billing Assessment Profile Return (Form A) within 14 days of issue of rates notices. 
Revenue is recognised when an invoice is issued to the LGAs. See note 13 ‘User charges and fees’.

Late payment interest of 11% per annum is charged if a property owner does not pay either the full or part payment of ESL on time. However, late ESL 
payment penalty interest will not be charged when eligible pensioners choose to defer the payment of their ESL charge.

Direct Brigade Alarm
The DFES Direct Brigade Alarm (DBA) network monitors over 3,564 premises across Western Australia. Categories of monitored premises include  
(but not limited to):
• commercial properties
• schools/universities
• hospitals
• aged care facilities
• high rise buildings

Fire Safety Pty Ltd trading as Fire Alarm Monitoring Services (FAMS) – Chubb delivers customer service, administration (including annual billing and debt 
management) and 24/7 monitoring services to DFES and all DFES’ monitored customers.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2015
2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(e)  Income (continued)
The recovery of the DBA monitoring charge is based on a full cost recovery methodology and the revenue is recognised at the time of raising the invoice 
for the service.

Sale of goods
Revenue is recognised from the sale of goods and disposal of other assets when the significant risks and rewards of ownership transfer to the purchaser 
and can be measured reliably.

Interest
Revenue is recognised as the interest accrues.

Service appropriations
Service Appropriations are recognised as revenues at fair value in the period in which the Department gains control of the appropriated funds. The 
Department gains control of appropriated funds at the time those funds are deposited to the bank account or credited to the ‘Amounts receivable for 
services’ (holding account) held at Treasury. See note 18 ‘Income from State Government’.

Net Appropriation Determination
The Treasurer may make a determination providing for prescribed receipts to be retained for services under the control of the Department. In accordance 
with the most recent determination, as quantified in the 2014–15 Budget Statements, the Department retained $309.9 million in 2015 ($289.1 million in 
2014) from the following:
• proceeds from fees and charges
• sale of goods
• Commonwealth specific purpose grants and contributions
• other departmental revenue.

Grants, donations, gifts and other non-reciprocal contributions
Revenue is recognised at fair value when the Department obtains control over the assets comprising the contributions, usually when cash is received.

Other non-reciprocal contributions that are not contributions by owners are recognised at their fair value. Contributions of services are only recognised 
when a fair value can be reliably determined and the services would have been purchased if not donated.

Royalties for Regions funds are recognised as revenue at fair value in the period in which the Department obtains control over the funds. The Department 
obtains control of the funds at the time the funds are deposited into the Department’s bank account.

62Department of Fire and Emergency Services | Annual Report 2014/15



Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2015
2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(e)  Income (continued)
Gains
Realised and unrealised gains are usually recognised on a net basis. These include gains arising on the disposal of non-current assets and some 
revaluations of non-current assets.

(f)  Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are expensed when incurred.

(g)  Property, plant and equipment
Capitalisation/expensing of assets
Items of property, plant and equipment costing $5,000 or more are recognised as assets and the cost of utilising assets is expensed (depreciated) over 
their useful lives. Items of property, plant and equipment costing less than $5,000 are immediately expensed direct to the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income (other than where they form part of a group of similar items which are significant in total).

Initial recognition and measurement
Property, plant and equipment are initially recognised at cost.

For items of property, plant and equipment acquired at no cost or for nominal cost, the cost is the fair value at the date of acquisition.

Subsequent measurement
Subsequent to initial recognition as an asset, the revaluation model is used for the measurement of land and buildings and historical cost for all other 
property, plant and equipment. Land and buildings are carried at fair value less accumulated depreciation (buildings only) and accumulated impairment 
losses. All other items of property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

Where market-based evidence is available, the fair value of land and buildings is determined on the basis of current market values determined by reference 
to recent market transactions. When buildings are revalued by reference to recent market transactions, the accumulated depreciation is eliminated against 
the gross carrying amount of the asset and the net amount restated to the revalued amount.

In the absence of market-based evidence, fair value of land and buildings is determined on the basis of existing use. This normally applies where buildings 
are specialised or where land use is restricted. Fair value for existing use buildings is determined by reference to the cost of replacing the remaining 
future economic benefits embodied in the asset, i.e. the depreciated replacement cost. Where the fair value of buildings is determined on the depreciated 
replacement cost basis, the gross carrying amount and the accumulated depreciation are restated proportionately. Fair value for restricted use land 
is determined by comparison with market evidence for land with similar approximate utility (high restricted use land) or market value of comparable 
unrestricted land (low restricted use land).
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2015
2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(g)  Property, plant and equipment (continued)
Land and buildings are independently valued annually by the Western Australian Land Information Authority (Valuation Services) and recognised annually 
to ensure that the carrying amount does not differ materially from the asset’s fair value at the end of the reporting period.

The most significant assumptions and judgements in estimating fair value are made in assessing whether to apply the existing use basis to assets and in 
determining estimated economic life. Professional judgement by the valuer is required where the evidence does not provide a clear distinction between 
market type assets and existing use assets. See note 26 ‘Property, plant and equipment’ and 35 ‘Equity’ for further information.

Derecognition
Upon disposal or derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment, any revaluation surplus relating to that asset is retained in the asset 
revaluation surplus.

Asset revaluation surplus
The asset revaluation surplus is used to record increments and decrements on the revaluation of non-current assets on a class of assets basis as 
described in note 26 ‘Property, plant and equipment’ and note 35 ‘Equity’.

Depreciation
All non-current assets having a limited useful life are systematically depreciated over their estimated useful lives in a manner that reflects the consumption 
of their future economic benefits.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight line method, using rates which are reviewed annually. Estimated useful lives for each class of depreciable 
asset are:
Buildings 40 years
Vehicles 5 – 20 years
Plant and equipment 3 – 10 years

Works of art controlled by the Department are classified as property, plant and equipment. These are anticipated to have indefinite useful lives. Their 
service potential has not, in any material sense, been consumed during the reporting period and consequently no depreciation has been recognised.

Leasehold improvements of a capital nature are classified as property, plant and equipment. The leasehold improvement is depreciated over the lease 
term.

Land is not depreciated.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2015
2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(h)  Intangible assets
Capitalisation/expensing of assets
Acquisitions of intangible assets costing $5,000 or more and internally generated intangible assets costing $50,000 or more are capitalised. The cost 
of utilising the assets is expensed (amortised) over their useful lives. Costs incurred below these thresholds are immediately expensed directly to the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost. For assets acquired at no cost or for nominal cost, the cost is their fair value at the date of acquisition.

The cost model is applied for subsequent measurement requiring the asset to be carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated 
impairment losses.

Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives is calculated for the period of the expected benefit (estimated useful life which is reviewed annually) 
on the straight line basis. All intangible assets controlled by the Department have a finite useful life and zero residual value.

The expected useful lives for each class of intangible asset are:
Licences up to 10 years
Software(a) 3 to 5 years
(a) Software that is not integral to the operation of any related hardware.

Licenses
Licenses have a finite useful life and are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

Computer software
Software that is an integral part of the related hardware is recognised as property, plant and equipment. Software that is not an integral part of the related 
hardware is recognised as an intangible asset. Software costing less than $5,000 is expensed in the period of acquisition.

(i)  Impairment of assets
Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are tested for any indication of impairment at the end of each reporting period. Where there is an 
indication of impairment, the recoverable amount is estimated. Where the recoverable amount is less than the carrying amount, the asset is considered to 
be impaired and is written down to the recoverable amount and the impairment loss is recognised. Where an asset measured at cost is written down to 
recoverable amount, an impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss. Where a previously revalued asset is written down to recoverable amount, the loss 
is recognised as a revaluation decrement in other comprehensive income. As the Department is a not-for-profit entity, unless an asset has been identified 
as a surplus asset, the recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and depreciated replacement cost.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2015
2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(i)  Impairment of assets (continued)
The risk of impairment is generally limited to circumstances where an asset’s depreciation is materially understated, where the replacement cost is falling, 
or where there is significant change in useful life. Each relevant class of asset is reviewed annually to verify that the accumulated depreciation/amortisation 
reflects the level of consumption or expiration of the asset’s future economic benefits and to evaluate any impairment risk from falling replacement costs.

The Department tests intangible assets with an indefinite useful life and intangible assets not yet available for use for impairment at the end of each 
reporting period irrespective of whether there is any indication of impairment.

The recoverable amount of assets identified as surplus assets is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and the present value of future cash flows 
expected to be derived from the asset. Surplus assets carried at fair value have no risk of material impairment where fair value is determined by reference 
to market-based evidence. Where fair value is determined by reference to depreciated replacement cost, surplus assets are at risk of impairment and 
the recoverable amount is measured. Surplus assets at cost are tested for indications of impairment at the end of each reporting period. See note 30 
‘Impairment of assets’ for the outcome of impairment reviews and testing.

(j)  Non-current assets (or disposal groups) classified as held for sale
Non-current assets (or disposal groups) held for sale are recognised at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell, and are disclosed 
separately from other assets in the Statement of Financial Position. Assets classified as held for sale are not depreciated or amortised. See note 24  
‘Non-current assets classified as held for sale’.

All Crown land holdings are vested in the Department by the Government. The Department of Lands (DoL) is the only agency with the power to sell Crown 
land. The Department transfers the Crown land and any attached buildings to DoL when the land becomes available for sale.

(k)  Leases
Finance lease rights and obligations are initially recognised, at the commencement of the lease term, as assets and liabilities equal in amount to the fair 
value of the leased item or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments, determined at the inception of the lease. The assets are disclosed 
as plant, equipment and vehicles under lease, and are depreciated over the period during which the Department is expected to benefit from their use. 
Minimum lease payments are apportioned between the finance charge and the reduction of the outstanding lease liability, according to the interest rate 
implicit in the lease.

Operating leases are expensed on a straight line basis over the lease term as this represents the pattern of benefits derived from the leased properties 
and services. See note 7 ‘Supplies and services’ and note 38 ‘Commitments’.

66Department of Fire and Emergency Services | Annual Report 2014/15



Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2015
2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(l)  Financial instruments
In addition to cash, the Department has two categories of financial instrument:
• Loans and receivables; and
• Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost.

Financial instruments have been disaggregated into the following classes:
Financial Assets
• Cash and cash equivalents
• Restricted cash and cash equivalents
• Receivables
• Amounts receivable for services
• Other financial assets

Financial Liabilities
• Payables
• Western Australian Treasury Corporation borrowings
• Deferred revenue

Initial recognition and measurement of financial instruments is at fair value which normally equates to the transaction cost or the face value. Subsequent 
measurement is at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

The fair value of short-term receivables and payables is the transaction cost or the face value because there is no interest rate applicable and subsequent 
measurement is not required as the effect of discounting is not material. See note 32 ‘Borrowings’ and note 42 ‘Financial instruments’.

(m) Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalent (and restricted cash and cash equivalent) assets comprise cash on hand. See 
note 19 ‘Cash and cash equivalents’.

(n)  Accrued salaries
Accrued salaries represent the amount due to staff but unpaid at the end of the reporting period. Accrued salaries are settled within a week of the end of 
the reporting period. The Department considers the carrying amount of accrued salaries to be equivalent to its fair value. See note 31 ‘Payables’.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2015
2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(o)  Receivables
Receivables are recognised and carried at original invoice amount less any allowance for uncollectible amounts (i.e. impairment). The collectability of 
receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis and any receivables identified as uncollectible are written-off against the allowance account. The allowance 
for uncollectible amounts (doubtful debts) is raised when there is objective evidence that the Department will not be able to collect the debts. The carrying 
amount is equivalent to fair value as it is due for settlement within 30 days. See note 2(l) ‘Financial instruments’ and note 22 ‘Receivables’.

(p)  Amounts receivable for services (holding account)
The Department receives funding on an accrual basis. The appropriations are paid partly in cash and partly as an asset (holding account receivable).  
The accrued amount is accessible on the emergence of the cash funding requirement to cover leave entitlements and asset replacement. See note 18 
‘Income from State Government’ and note 25 ’Amounts receivable for services (holding account)’.

(q)  Inventories
The inventory held for consumption represents fire appliances parts, consumable items, service exchange equipment and tools stored in the Fleet and 
Equipment Services workshop facility in O’Connor. The inventory held for consumption is measured on a weighted average cost basis.

The inventory held for distribution represents fire appliances under construction for local governments as part of the ESL capital grants process. The 
inventory held for distribution is measured at cost. Grant expenses are recognised when the fire appliances are delivered to the local governments. See 
note 21 ‘Inventories’ and note 11 ‘Grants and subsidies’.

(r)  Payables
Payables are recognised at the amounts payable when the Department becomes obliged to make future payments as a result of a purchase of assets 
or services. The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value, as settlement is generally within 30 days. See note 2(l) ‘Financial instruments’ and note 31 
‘Payables’.

(s)  Borrowings
All loans payable are initially recognised at fair value, being the net proceeds received. Subsequent measurement is at amortised cost using the effective 
interest rate method. See note 2(l) ‘Financial instruments’ and note 32 ‘Borrowings’.

(t)  Provisions
Provisions are liabilities of uncertain timing or amount and are recognised where there is a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past 
event and when the outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is probable and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. 
Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting period. See note 33 ‘Provisions’.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2015
2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(t)  Provisions (continued)
Provisions – employee benefits
All annual leave and long service leave provisions are in respect of employees’ services up to the end of the reporting period.

Annual leave
Annual leave is not expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the reporting period and is therefore considered to be ‘other long-term 
employee benefits’. The annual leave liability is recognised and measured at the present value of amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are 
settled using the remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement.

When assessing expected future payments consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels including non-salary components such as 
employer superannuation contributions, as well as the experience of employee departures and periods of service. The expected future payments are 
discounted using market yields at the end of the reporting period on national government bonds with terms to maturity that match, as closely as possible, 
the estimated future cash outflows.

The provision for annual leave is classified as a current liability as the Department does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for 
at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period.

Long service leave
Long service leave is not expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the reporting period and is therefore recognised and measured 
at the present value of amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled using the remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement.

When assessing expected future payments consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels including non-salary components such as 
employer superannuation contributions, as well as the experience of employee departures and periods of service. The expected future payments are 
discounted using market yields at the end of the reporting period on national government bonds with terms to maturity that match, as closely as possible, 
the estimated future cash outflows.

Unconditional long service leave provisions are classified as current liabilities as the Department does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement 
of the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period. Pre-conditional and conditional long service leave provisions are classified as 
non-current liabilities because the Department has an unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability until the employee has completed the 
requisite years of service.

Deferred Leave
The provision for deferred leave relates to Public Service employees who have entered into an agreement to self-fund an additional 12 months leave in the 
fifth year of the agreement. The provision recognises the value of salary set aside for employees to be used in the fifth year. This liability is measured on 
the same basis as annual leave. Deferred leave is reported as a current provision as employees can leave the scheme at their discretion at any time.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(t)  Provisions (continued)
Provisions – employee benefits (continued)
Superannuation
The Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB), the Fire and Emergency Services Superannuation Fund (FESSF) and other fund providers 
administer public sector superannuation arrangements in Western Australia in accordance with legislative requirements. Eligibility criteria for membership 
in particular schemes for public sector employees vary according to commencement and implementation dates.

The FESSF is a superannuation fund available to employees of the Department of Fire and Emergency Services. Membership is also available to 
employees of the United Firefighters Union of Western Australia, the Western Australian Volunteer Fire Brigades Association (Inc.), and the Fire and 
Emergency Services Superannuation Board (FESSB). The FESSB is a trustee of the Fund and is responsible for managing the fund in the best interest of 
members and for ensuring the fund is managed in accordance with its governing legislation; the Fire and Emergency Services Superannuation Act 1985 
and the Fire and Emergency Services (Superannuation Fund) Regulations 1986. The liability for superannuation charges is extinguished by payments of 
employer contributions to the FESSF.

Members can make additional voluntary contributions to an accumulation account and are payable in addition to any defined benefit entitlement. 
Contributing members who have reached the age of 55 or completed 30 years of contributing membership can elect to transfer their defined benefit into 
their accumulation account.

The Department also makes employer contributions to the FESSF during the year. The FESSF is a defined benefit scheme for the purpose of employees 
and is a defined contribution plan for the Department. The concurrent contributions (defined contributions) made by the Department to the FESSF 
extinguishes the Department’s obligations to the related superannuation liability.

Eligible employees contribute to the Pension Scheme, a defined benefit pension scheme closed to new members since 1987, or the Gold State 
Superannuation Scheme (GSS), a defined benefit lump sum scheme closed to new members since 1995.

Employees commencing employment prior to 16 April 2007 who were not members of either the Pension Scheme or the GSS became non-contributory 
members of the West State Superannuation Scheme (WSS). Employees commencing employment on or after 16 April 2007 became members of the 
GESB Super Scheme (GESBS). From 30 March 2012, existing members of the WSS or GESBS and new employees have been able to choose their 
preferred superannuation fund provider. The Department makes contributions to GESB or other fund providers on behalf of employees in compliance with 
the Commonwealth Government’s Superannuation Guarantee (Administration) Act 1992. Contributions to these accumulation schemes extinguish the 
Department’s liability for superannuation charges in respect of employees who are not members of the Pension Scheme or GSS.

The GSS is a defined benefit scheme for the purposes of employees and whole-of-government reporting. However, it is a defined contribution plan for 
agency purposes because the concurrent contributions (defined contributions) made by the Department to GESB extinguishes the agency’s obligations to 
the related superannuation liability.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(t)  Provisions (continued)
Provisions – employee benefits (continued)
Superannuation (continued)
The Department has no liabilities under the Pension Scheme or the GSS. The liabilities for the unfunded Pension Scheme and the unfunded GSS transfer 
benefits attributable to members who transferred from the Pension Scheme, are assumed by the Treasurer. All other GSS obligations are funded by 
concurrent contributions made by the Department to the GESB.

The GESB makes all benefit payments in respect of the Pension Scheme and GSS, and is recouped from the Treasurer for the employer’s share. See note 
2(v) ‘Superannuation expense’.

Provisions – other
Employment on-costs
Employment on-costs, including workers’ compensation insurance, are not employee benefits and are recognised as liabilities and expenses when the 
employment to which they relate has occurred. Employment on-costs are included as part of ‘Supplies and Services’ and are not included as part of the 
Department’s ‘Employee benefits expense’. The related liability is included in ‘Employment on-costs provision’. See note 12 ‘Other expenses’ and note 33 
‘Provisions’.

(u)  Assets and services received free of charge or for nominal cost
Assets or services received free of charge or for nominal cost that the Department would otherwise purchase if not donated, are recognised as income at 
fair value of the assets or services where they can be reliably measured. A corresponding expense is recognised for services received. Receipts of assets 
are recognised in the Statement of Financial Position.

Assets or services received from other State Government agencies are separately disclosed under Income from State Government in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income. See note 18 ‘Income from State Government’.

(v)  Superannuation expense
The superannuation expense is recognised in the profit or loss of the Statement of Comprehensive Income comprises employer contributions paid to 
the Fire and Emergency Services Superannuation Fund (FESSF), the Gold State Superannuation Scheme (GSS) (concurrent contributions), the West 
State Superannuation (WSS), and the Government Employees Superannuation Board Scheme (GESBS), or other superannuation funds. The employer 
contribution paid to the GESB in respect of the GSS is paid back into the Consolidated Account by the GESB.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(w)  Establishment of volunteer entities
(i) Volunteer Emergency Service Units

Volunteer Emergency Service Units are formed in accordance with Part 3 of the Fire and Emergency Services Act 1998.

(ii)  Volunteer State Emergency Service Units
Volunteer State Emergency Service Units are formed in accordance with Part 3A of the Fire and Emergency Services Act 1998.

(iii)  Volunteer Fire and Rescue Service Brigades
Volunteer Fire and Rescue Service Brigades are formed in accordance with Part VI of the Fire Brigades Act 1942.

(iv)  Volunteer Fire Service Brigades
Volunteer Fire Service Brigades are formed in accordance with Part 3 of the Fire and Emergency Services Act 1998.

(v)  Volunteer Marine Rescue Service Groups
Volunteer Marine Rescue Service Groups are formed in accordance with Part 3B of the Fire and Emergency Services Act 1998.

(vi)  Indian Ocean Territories Services
In accordance with the Indian Ocean Territories Law Reform Ordinance, the Department provides capital and operating support to the Volunteer  
Fire and Emergency Service Brigades and Volunteer Marine Rescue Service Groups operating on Christmas Island and the Cocos (Keeling) Islands. 
The costs associated with this support are recouped from the Commonwealth Government.

(y)  Comparative figures
Comparative figures are, where applicable, reclassified to be comparable with the figures presented in the current financial year.

3 Judgements made by management in applying accounting policies

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements about the application of accounting policies that have a significant 
effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements. The Department evaluates these judgements regularly.
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4 Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Key estimates and assumptions concerning the future are based on historical experience and various other factors that have a significant risk of causing a 
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

Long Service Leave
Several estimations and assumptions used in calculating the Department’s long service leave provision include expected future salary rates, discount 
rates, employee retention rates and expected future payments. Changes in these estimations and assumptions may impact on the carrying amount of the 
long service leave provision.

Depreciation
The Department estimates the useful lives of non-current assets in a manner that reflects the consumption of their future economic benefits.

5 Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates

Initial application of an Australian Accounting Standard
The Department has applied the following Australian Accounting Standards effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2014 that 
impacted on the Department.

Int 21 Levies
 This Interpretation clarifies the circumstances under which a liability to pay a government levy imposed should be recognised. There is 

no financial impact for the Department at reporting date.

AASB 127 Separate Financial Statements
 This Standard, issued in august 2011, supersedes AASB 127 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements removing the 

consolidation requirements of the earlier standard whilst retaining accounting and disclosure requirements for the preparation of 
separate financial statements. There is no financial impact.

AASB 1031 Materiality
 This Standard supersedes AASB 1031 (February 2010), removing Australian guidance on materiality not available in IFRSs and refers to 

guidance on materiality in other Australian pronouncements. There is no financial impact.

AASB 1055 Budgetary Reporting
 This Standard requires specific budgetary disclosures in the general purpose financial statements of not-for-profit entities within the 

General Government Sector. The Department will be required to disclose additional budgetary information and explanations of major 
variances between actual and budgeted amounts, though there is no financial impact.
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5 Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates (continued)

Initial application of an Australian Accounting Standard (continued)
AASB 2011-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Consolidation and Joint Arrangements Standards [AASB 1, 2, 3, 5, 7, 

101, 107, 112, 118, 121, 124, 132, 133, 136, 138, 139, 1023 & 1038 and Int 5, 9, 16 & 17]
 This Standard gives effect to consequential changes arising from issuance of AASB 10, AASB 11, AASB 127 Separate Financial 

Statements and AASB 128 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures. There is no financial impact for the department.

AASB 2012-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities [AASB 132]
 This Standard adds application guidance to AASB 132 to address inconsistencies identified in applying some of the offsetting criteria, 

including clarifying the meaning of “currently has a legally enforceable right of set-off” and that some gross settlement systems may be 
considered equivalent to net settlement. There is no financial impact.

AASB 2013-3 Amendments to AASB 136 – Recoverable Amount Disclosures for Non-Financial Assets
 This Standard introduces editorial and disclosure changes. There is no financial impact.

AASB 2013-4 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards –Novation of Derivatives and Continuation of Hedge Accounting [AASB 139]
 This Standard permits the continuation of hedge accounting in circumstances where a derivative, which has been designated as 

a hedging instrument, is novated from one counter party to a central counterparty as a consequence of laws or regulations. The 
Department does not routinely enter into derivatives or hedges, therefore there is no financial impact.

AASB 2013-9 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Conceptual Framework, Materiality and Financial Instruments.
 Part B of this omnibus Standard makes amendments to other Standards arising from the deletion of references to AASB 1031 in other 

Standards for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014. It has no financial impact.

AASB 2014-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards
 Part A of this Standard consists primarily of clarifications to Accounting Standards and has no financial impact for the Department.

 Part B of this Standard has no financial impact as the Department contributes to schemes that are either defined contribution plans, or 
deemed to be defined contribution plans.

 Part C of this Standard has no financial impact as it removes references to AASB 1031 Materiality from a number of Accounting Standards.

AASB 2015-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Fair Value Disclosures of Not-for-Profit Public Sector Entities [AASB 13]
 The amendments reduce the disclosure requirement for not-for-profit public sector fair value measurements. Since the early adoption 

of this Standard was granted by the Under Treasurer, the Department has opted to the early adoption of this Standard to reduce the 
disclosure in the associated fair value note.
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5 Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates (continued)

Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative
The Department cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless specifically permitted by TI 1101 Application of Australian Accounting 
Standards and Other Pronouncements or by an exemption from TI 1101. By virtue of a limited exemption, the Department has early adopted AASB 2015-7 
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Fair Value Disclosures of Not-for-Profit Public Sector Entities. Where applicable, the Department plans 
to apply the following Australian Accounting Standards from their application date.

Operative for 
reporting periods 
beginning on/after

AASB 9 Financial Instruments
This Standard supersedes AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, introducing a number of 
changes to accounting treatments.

The mandatory application date of this Standard is currently 1 January 2018 after being amended by AASB 2012-
6, AASB 2013-9 and AASB 2014-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards. The Department has not yet 
determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2018

AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
This Standard establishes the principles that the Department shall apply to report useful information to users of 
financial statement about the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from a 
contract with a customer. The Department has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of the 
Standard.

1 Jan 2017

AASB 2010-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 (December 2010) [AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 
108, 112, 118, 120, 121, 127, 128, 131, 132, 136, 137, 139, 1023 & 1038 and Int 2, 5, 10, 12, 19 & 127]
This Standard makes consequential amendments to other Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations as a 
result of issuing AASB 9 in December 2010.

The mandatory application date of this Standard has been amended by AASB 2012-6 and AASB 2014-1 to 1 January 
2018. The Department has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2018

AASB 2013-9 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards Conceptual Framework, Materiality and Financial Instruments.
Part C of this omnibus Standard defers the application of AASB 9 to 1 January 2017. The application date of AASB 
9 was subsequently deferred to 1 January 2018 by AASB 2014-1. The Department has not yet determined the 
application or the potential impact of AASB 9.

1 Jan 2015
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Operative for 
reporting periods 
beginning on/after

AASB 2014-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards
Part E of this Standard makes amendments to AASB 9 and consequential amendments to other Standards. It has not 
yet been assessed by the Department to determine the application or potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2018

AASB 2014-4 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and 
Amortisation [AASB 116 & 138]
The adoption of this Standard has no financial impact for the Department as depreciation and amortisation is not 
determined by reference to revenue generation, but by reference to consumption of future economic benefits.

1 Jan 2016

AASB 2014-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 15
This Standard gives effect to the consequential amendments to Australian Accounting Standards (including 
Interpretations) arising from the issuance of AASB 15. The Department has not yet determined the application or the 
potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2017

AASB 2014-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 (December 2014)
This Standard gives effect to the consequential amendments to Australian Accounting Standards (including 
Interpretations) arising from the issuance of AASB 9 (December 14). The Department has not yet determined the 
application or the potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2018

AASB 2014-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 (December 2014) – Application of AASB 9 
(December 2009) and AASB 9 (December 2010) [AASB 9 (2009 & 2010)]
This Standard makes amendments to AASB 9 Financial Instruments (December 2009) and AASB 9 Financial 
Instruments (December 2010), arising from the issuance AASB 9 Financial Instruments in December 2014. The 
Department has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2015

AASB 2015-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Annual Improvements to Australian Accounting Standards 2012-
2014 Cycle [AASB 1, 2, 3, 5, 7, 11, 110, 119, 121, 133, 134, 137 & 140]
These amendments arise from the issuance of International Financial Reporting Standard Annual Improvements to 
IFRSs 2012-2014 Cycle in September 2014, and editorial corrections. The Department has not yet determined the 
application or the potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2016

5 Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates (continued)

Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative (continued)
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Operative for 
reporting periods 
beginning on/after

AASB 2015-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Disclosure Initiative: Amendments to AASB 101 [AASB 7, 101, 134 
& 1049]
This Standard amends AASB 101 to provide clarification regarding the disclosure requirements in AASB 101. 
Specifically, the Standard proposes narrow-focus amendments to address some of the concerns expressed about 
existing presentation and disclosure requirements and to ensure entities are able to use judgement when applying a 
Standard in determining what information to disclose in their financial statements. There is no financial impact.

1 Jan 2016

AASB 2015-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Withdrawal of AASB 1031 Materiality
This Standard completes the withdrawal of references to AASB 1031 in all Australian Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations, allowing that Standard to effectively be withdrawn. There is no financial impact.

1 Jul 2015

AASB 2015-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Extending Related Party Disclosures to Not-for-Profit Public 
Sector Entities [AASB 10, 124 & 1049]
The amendments extend the scope of AASB 124 to include application by not-for-profit public sector entities. 
Implementation guidance is included to assist application of the Standard by not-for-profit public sector entities.  
The Department has not yet determined the application of the Standard, though there is no financial impact.

1 Jul 2016

Changes in accounting estimates
There were no changes in accounting estimates that will have an effect on the current reporting period.

5 Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates (continued)

Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative (continued)
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  2015 2014 
  $000 $000

6 Employee benefits expense

Wages and salaries (a) 159,694 152,950
Protective clothing and uniforms 5,426 4,259
Superannuation – defined contribution plans: (b)

Fire and Emergency Services Superannuation Board 15,921 14,984
Government Employees Superannuation Board 1,583 1,657
Other related expenses 2,010 1,839

 184,634 175,689
(a) Includes the value of the fringe benefit to the employee plus the fringe benefits tax component, leave entitlements including superannuation contribution component. This amount also includes redundancy payments for the 2013/14 

year of $6m.

(b) Defined contribution plans include West State, Gold State, GESB Super Scheme (contribution paid), FESS Fund (contribution paid) and other eligible funds.

Employment on-costs expenses such as workers’ compensation insurance, are included at note 12 ‘Other expenses’.

Employment on-costs liability is included at note 33 ‘Provisions’.

7 Supplies and services

Administration 3,796 3,577
Advertising and promotion expense 341 255
Communications 4,518 4,206
Consultants and contractors 27,103 22,135
Electricity and water expense 2,422 2,357
Insurance premiums and claims 9,832 8,970
Leases 31,971 23,713
Maintenance 19,093 19,966
Travel 4,083 4,048

 103,159 89,227
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  2015 2014 
  $000 $000

8 Depreciation and amortisation expense

Depreciation
Buildings 5,315 4,767
Vehicles 8,140 9,451
Plant and equipment 1,682 1,706
Leasehold improvements 221 221

Total depreciation 15,358 16,145

Amortisation
Intangible assets 196 100

Total amortisation 196 100

Total depreciation and amortisation 15,554 16,245

9 Finance costs

Interest expense 2,897 3,012

Finance cost expensed 2,897 3,012

10 Accommodation expenses

Lease rentals 965 909
Repairs and maintenance 5,024 6,792

 5,989 7,701
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  2015 2014 
  $000 $000

11 Grants and subsidies

Recurrent
Local governments 9,043 10,880
Private fire brigades 208 207
Grants and subsidies paid to volunteer entities and external bodies in line with approved schemes, agreements and statutes:
– Various volunteer entities (a) 740 776
– Volunteer Marine Rescue Service Group (VMRSG) 1,239 1,330
– Affiliated bodies (b) 1,931 1,726
– Local government – Community Emergency Services Managers 2,121 1,944
– Other grants and subsidies 564 1,466

Capital (c)

Local governments 26,416 20,825
Volunteer Marine Rescue Service Groups 977 765

 43,239 39,919
(a) See note 2(w) ‘Establishment of volunteer entities’.

(b) See note 45 ‘Affiliated bodies’.

(c) The majority of capital assets represent fire appliances built and transferred free of charge to local governments funded by the Emergency Services Levy.

12 Other expenses

Doubtful debts expense (21) (6)
Employment on-costs (a) 3,750 3,031
Audit fees (b) 145 147

 3,874 3,172
(a) Employment on-costs expenses include superannuation and workers’ compensation insurance.

(b) See note 44 ‘Remuneration of auditor’.
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  2015 2014 
  $000 $000

13 User charges and fees

User charges 9,410 7,743
Emergency services levy 289,676 273,087

 299,086 280,830

See note 2(e) ‘Income’.

14 Commonwealth grants and contributions

Recurrent 4,440 4,408
Capital 107 23
Other 93 4

 4,640 4,435

Commonwealth grants are received for various purposes including non-repayable grants that contribute towards DFES’  
operational capabilities such as the state support package, aerial fire fighting and the Indian Ocean Territories.  
See note 47 ‘Indian Ocean Territories’.

15 Interest revenue

Gift and trust funds 3 2
Emergency Services Levy (a) 115 118

 118 120
(a) See note 2(e) ‘Income’.
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  2015 2014 
  $000 $000

16 Other revenue

Employee cost recovery 831 906
Sponsorship and donations (a) 1,202 676
Non reciprocal contributed assets 1,811 857
Grants 1,721 71
Recoupment 168 291
General revenue 343 498

 6,076 3,299
(a)  The majority is related to the RAC rescue helicopter four year sponsorship which commenced in 2014-15 FY. Sponsorship for the next three years is disclosed as current ($1.2m for 2015-16) and non-current ($2.4m for 2016-17 and 

2017-18) liabilities. See note 31 ‘Payables’ and note 34 ‘Other non-current liabilities’.

17 Net gain/(loss) on disposal of non-current assets

Proceeds from disposal of non-current assets
Plant, equipment and vehicles 803 793

Carrying amount of non-current assets disposed
Plant, equipment and vehicles (1,266) (421)

Net gain/(loss) (463) 372

Loss on disposal of non-current assets (979) (150)
Gain on disposal of non-current assets 516 522

Net gain/(loss) on disposal of non-current assets (463) 372
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  2015 2014 
  $000 $000

18 Income from State Government

Appropriation received during the period:
Service appropriation (a) 53,425 50,688
Services received free of charge from other State Government agencies during period:
 Western Australian Land Information Authority (Landgate) 1,806 920
 State Solicitor’s Office 63 109
 SEMC 134 – 
Royalties for Regions Fund:
 Regional Community Services Account (b) 301 371

 55,729 52,088
(a) Service appropriations fund the net cost of services delivered. Appropriation revenue comprises a cash component and a receivable (asset). The receivable (holding account) comprises the budgeted depreciation expense for the 

period and any agreed increase in leave liability during the period.

(b) This is a sub-fund within the over-arching ‘Royalties for Regions Fund’ related to the Regional Workers Incentives Allowance Payments program.

19 Cash and cash equivalents

Current
Cash at bank 86,691 71,981
Cash on hand and advances 40 41

 86,731 72,022

See note 2(m) ‘Cash and cash equivalents’.
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  2015 2014 
  $000 $000

20 Restricted cash and cash equivalents

Current
Gift fund (a) 53 91
Rental property bonds (b) – 1
Coolgardie Trust Fund (c) 296 285
Cecilia Veal Trust Fund (c) 440 – 
Bushfire Risk Mitigation Plan Process Project (d) 1,013 535
53rd pay (e) 2,200 – 
Royalties for Regions Fund (f) – 1,996

 4,002 2,908
(a) Funds held for DFES work place giving program and general public donations.

(b) Bonds held as part of residential tenancy agreements.

(c) Monies held in trust by the Department on behalf of the beneficiaries of Coolgardie Volunteer Fire and Rescue Service Brigade and WA volunteer fire services brigades. See note 31 ‘Payables’.

(d) This project is funded through the National Disaster Resilience Program administered by SEMC.

(e) Funds held for the purpose of meeting the 53rd pay due in 2015-16 financial year that occurs every 11 years.

(f) Unspent Community Safety Network residual funding returned to the WA Police as a result of the closure of the project. See note 35 ‘Equity’.

Non-current
53rd pay (e) – 1,700

 – 1,700
(e) Funds held for the purpose of meeting the 53rd pay in 2015-16 that is classified as current restricted cash and cash equivalents.

21 Inventories

Current
Inventories held for consumption (a) 2,047 2,000
Inventories held for distribution (b) 6,789 19,295

 8,836 21,295
(a) Inventory held for consumption represents fire appliances parts, consumable items, service exchange equipment and tools stored in the Fleet and Equipment Services workshop facility in O’Connor. These inventories are measured 

on a weighted average cost basis. See note 2(q) ‘Inventories’.

(b) Inventories held for distribution represent fire appliances under construction as part of the Emergency Services Levy capital grants process. These inventories are measured at cost. See note 2(q) ‘Inventories’.
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  2015 2014 
  $000 $000

22 Receivables

Current
Receivables 5,949 3,437
Allowance for impairment of receivables (49) (70)
Accrued revenue – 5
Interest receivable 2 3
GST receivable 2,125 1,758

Total current 8,027 5,133

Reconciliation of changes in the allowance for impairment of receivables:
Balance at start of period 70 104
Doubtful debts expense (21) (6)
Amounts written off during the period – (28)

Balance at end of period 49 70

The Department does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements as security for receivables.
See note 2(o) ‘Receivables’ and note 42 ‘Financial instruments’.

23 Other assets

Prepayments (a) 2,104 518

Total 2,104 518
(a) Prepayments include salary pay in advance, computer maintenance and licences, former FESA directors and officers liability insurance and association subscriptions etc.

85Department of Fire and Emergency Services | Annual Report 2014/15



Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2015
  2015 2014 
  $000 $000

24 Non-current assets classified as held for sale

Opening balance
Land (a) – 17,372

 – 17,372

Impairment loss (b) – (12,260)

 – (12,260)

Assets reclassified
Land (a) – (5,112)

 – (5,112)

Closing balance
Land – – 

 – – 
(a) FESA House Sale of Contract was entered in December 2013 with a deposit of $800k paid and held in the lawyer’s interest bearing trust account with settlement scheduled in the 2017-18 financial year. As a result, the non-current 

asset held for sale was reclassified as Land in 2013-14 with its net present value of future cash flow as its approximated fair value. See note 2(j) ‘Non-current assets (or disposal groups) classified as held for sale’, note 29 ‘Other non-
current assets’ and note 34 ‘Other non-current liabilities’.

(b) See note 30 ‘Impairment of assets’.

25 Amounts receivable for services (Holding Account)

Current – 5,000
Non-current 19,763 14,433

Total 19,763 19,433

Represents the non-cash component of service appropriations. It is restricted in that it can only be used for asset replacement or payment of leave liability. 
See note 2(p) ‘Amounts receivable for services (holding account)’.
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  $000 $000

26 Property, plant and equipment
Land
At fair value (a) 97,776 93,828
Buildings
At fair value (a) 159,170 135,438
Accumulated depreciation – – 
 159,170 135,438

Buildings under construction
Construction costs 4,905 5,586

Vehicles
At cost 82,929 72,451
Accumulated depreciation (21,928) (14,325)
 61,001 58,126

Vehicles under construction
Construction costs 5,302 9,786

Plant and equipment
At cost 9,519 8,458
Accumulated depreciation (4,197) (2,695)
 5,323 5,763

Plant and equipment under construction
Construction costs 1,030 911

Leasehold improvements
At cost 607 607
Accumulated depreciation (588) (367)
 19 240

Works of Art
At cost 158 158
Total 334,684 309,836
(a) Land and buildings were revalued as at 1 July 2014 by the Western Australian Land Information Authority (Valuation Services) with the exception of the FESA House site. See note 24 ‘Non-current assets classified as held for sale’. The 

valuations were performed during the year ended 30 June 2014 and recognised at 30 June 2015. In undertaking the revaluation, fair value was determined by reference to market values for land: $15,635,600 (2014: $11,459,000) and 
buildings: $37,560,000 (2014: $37,093,900). For the remaining balance, fair value of buildings was determined on the basis of depreciated replacement cost; and the fair value of land was determined on the basis of current use and 
net present value of future cash flow for the FESA House site.
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26 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of property, plant, equipment and vehicles at the beginning and end of the reporting period are set out in the table 
below.
       Plant and 
   Buildings  Vehicles  equipment Leasehold 
   under  under Plant and  under Improve- Works 
 Land Buildings construction Vehicles construction equipment construction ments of Art Total 
 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

June 2015
Carrying amount as at start of period  93,828   135,438   5,586   58,126   9,786   5,763   911   240   158   309,836
Additions(Deductions)    10,630   579   6,145   610   1,014     18,978
Transfers  1,692   9,072   (11,311)  11,203   (10,629)  868   (895)    – 
Other disposals  (225)  (297)   (732)   (236)     (1,490)
Revaluation increments/(decrements)  2,481   20,272          22,753
Depreciation   (5,315)   (8,140)   (1,682)   (221)   (15,358)
Reclassification     (35)       (35)

Carrying amount at end of period  97,776   159,170   4,905   61,001   5,302   5,323   1,030   19   158   334,684

June 2014
Carrying amount as at start of period  85,291   126,511   7,752   56,490   9,344   6,240   5,453   710   158   297,949
Additions(Deductions)    8,186   409   7,293   253   311     16,452
Transfers  1,635   8,299   (10,352)  11,042   (6,851)  1,080   (4,853)    – 
Other disposals   (277)   (371)   (117)   (249)   (1,014)
Revaluation increments/(decrements)  1,790   5,672          7,462
Depreciation   (4,767)   (9,451)   (1,706)   (221)   (16,145)
Reclassification (a)  5,112     7    13      5,132

Carrying amount at end of period  93,828   135,438   5,586   58,126   9,786   5,763   911   240   158   309,836
(a) In 2014 FESA House land was reclassified from non-current assets held for sale. See note 24 ‘Non-current assets classified as held for sale’.

88Department of Fire and Emergency Services | Annual Report 2014/15



Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2015
27 Fair value measurements

Assets measured at fair value:      Fair Value  
      at end of 
   Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 the period 
2015   $000 $000 $000 $000

Land (Note 26) – 17,440 80,336 97,776
Buildings (Note 26)   – 38,001 121,169 159,170

   – 55,441 201,505 256,946

Assets measured at fair value:
2014

Land (Note 26) – 15,433 78,395 93,828
Buildings (Note 26)   – 37,941 97,497 135,438

   – 53,374 175,892 229,266

There were no transfers between Levels 1, 2 or 3 during the current and previous periods.
Valuation techniques to derive Level 2 fair values
Level 2 fair values of Land and Buildings (Office Accommodation) are derived using the market approach. Market evidence of sales prices of comparable 
land and buildings (office accommodation) in close proximity is used to determine price per square metre.
Fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3)
  Land Buildings 
2015  $000 $000

Fair Value at the beginning of the year 78,395 97,497
Additions 1,629 9,072
Revaluation increments/(decrements) recognised in Other Comprehensive Income 537 19,058
Disposals (225) (297)
Depreciation Expense – (4,161)

Fair Value at the end of the year 80,336 121,169

Total gains or losses for the period included in profit or loss, under ‘Other Gains’ – – 
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27 Fair value measurements (continued)

  Land Buildings 
2014  $000 $000

Fair Value at the beginning of the year 75,099 88,978
Additions 1,635 7,698
Revaluation increments/(decrements) recognised in Other Comprehensive Income 1,661 4,752
Disposals – (277)
Depreciation Expense – (3,654)

Fair Value at the end of the year 78,395 97,497

Total gains or losses for the period included in profit or loss, under ‘Other Gains’ – – 

Valuation processes
There were no changes in valuation techniques during the period.

Transfers in and out of a fair value level are recognised on the date of the event or change in circumstances that caused the transfer. Transfers are 
generally limited to assets newly classified as non-current assets held for sale as Treasurer’s instructions require valuations of land, buildings and 
infrastructure to be categorised within Level 3 where the valuations will utilise significant Level 3 inputs on a recurring basis.

Land (Level 3 fair values)
Fair value for restricted use land is based on comparison with market evidence for land with low level utility (high restricted use land). The relevant 
comparators of land with low level utility is selected by the Western Australian Land Information Authority (Valuation Services) and represents the 
application of a significant Level 3 input in this valuation methodology. The fair value measurement is sensitive to values of comparator land, with higher 
values of comparator land correlating with higher estimated fair values of land.

Buildings (Level 3 fair values)
Fair value for existing use specialised buildings is determined by reference to the cost of replacing the remaining future economic benefits embodied in 
the asset, i.e. the depreciated replacement cost. Depreciated replacement cost is the current replacement cost of an asset less accumulated depreciation 
calculated on the basis of such cost to reflect the already consumed or expired economic benefit, or obsolescence, and optimisation (where applicable) of 
the asset. Current replacement cost is generally determined by reference to the market observable replacement cost of a substitute asset of comparable 
utility and the gross project size specifications.
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27 Fair value measurements (continued)

Valuation using depreciation replacement cost utilises the significant Level 3 input, consumed economic benefit/obsolescence of asset which is estimated 
by the Western Australian Land Information Authority (Valuation Services). The fair value measurement is sensitive to the estimate of consumption/
obsolescence, with higher values of the estimate correlating with lower estimated fair values of buildings. For some specialised buildings, the current 
replacement cost is determined by reference to the historical cost adjusted by relevant indices.

Basis of Valuation
In the absence of market-based evidence, due to the specialised nature of some non-financial assets, these assets are valued at Level 3 of the fair value 
hierarchy on an existing use basis. The existing use basis recognises that restrictions or limitations have been placed on their use and disposal when 
they are not determined to be surplus to requirements. These restrictions are imposed by virtue of the assets being held to deliver a specific community 
service.

Information about significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) in fair value measurements
Description Fair value 

2015 $000
Fair value 
2014 $000

Valuation  
technique(s)

Unobservable  
inputs

Relationship of unobservable 
inputs to fair value

Land 80,336 78,395 Market Value and 
Hypothetical Alternate 
Land Use Value 
Approach

Selection of land with 
similar approximate 
utility

Restricted utility 
reduces estimated fair 
value. 
Higher value of 
similar land increases 
estimated fair value.

Buildings 121,169 97,497 Depreciated 
Replacement Cost

Consumed economic 
benefit/ obsolescence 
of asset

Greater consumption 
of economic benefit 
or increased 
obsolescence lowers 
fair value.

Historical cost per 
square metre floor area 
(m2)

Higher historical cost 
per m2 increases fair 
value.

Reconciliations of opening and closing balances are provided in Note 26.
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  2015 2014 
  $000 $000

28 Intangible assets

Computer software
At cost 1,392 279
Accumulated amortisation (364) (186)

 1,028 93

Reconciliations:
Computer software
Carrying amount at start of period 93 214
Additions 1,131 – 
Disposals/adjustments – (21)
Amortisation expense (196) (100)

Carrying amount at end of period 1,028 93

29 Other non-current assets

Non-current
Deposit held in trust account (a) 833 811

Total 833 811
(a) See note 24 ‘Non-current assets classified as held for sale’ and note 34 ‘Other non-current liabilities’.

30 Impairment of assets

FESA House (a) – 12,260
Plant and equipment – 56

Total impairment loss – 12,316
(a) The 2014 impairment loss of $12.26m is related to the write down of the FESA House land. See note 24 ‘Non-current assets classified as held for sale’.

In 2015, DFES made a considered decision not to continue utilising Success Fire Station operationally and a replacement site is currently being sourced.

As a result, a building impairment loss of $859k was recognised in 2014-15 through assets revaluation surplus. See note 2(i) ‘Impairment of assets’.

The Department held no goodwill or intangible assets with an indefinite useful life during the reporting period. At the end of the reporting period there were no intangible assets not yet available for use.
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  2015 2014 
  $000 $000

31 Payables

Current
Trade payables 6,642 6,101
Accrued interest 605 563
Accrued salaries 52 2,097
Trust Funds 736 286
GST payable 320 169

Total current 8,355 9,216

See note 2(r) ‘Payables’, note 2(n) ‘Accrued salaries’, note 20 ‘Restricted cash and cash equivalents’ and note 42 ‘Financial instruments’.

32 Borrowings

Current
Western Australian Treasury Corporation 3,485 3,337

Non-current
Western Australian Treasury Corporation 62,230 65,716
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  2015 2014 
  $000 $000

33 Provisions

Current
Employee benefits provision
 Annual leave (a) 10,255 7,060
 Long service leave (b) 10,002 8,621
 Deferred salary scheme (c) 719 423

 20,976 16,104

Other provisions
 Employment on-costs (d) 2,608 1,972

 23,584 18,076

Non-current
Employee benefits provision
 Long service leave (b) 8,652 7,914

Other provisions
 Employment on-costs (d) 1,143 1,059

 9,795 8,973
(a) Annual leave liabilities have been classified as current as there is no unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period.  

Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities is expected to occur as follows:

 Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period 9,481 6,842

 More than 12 months after the end of the reporting period 774 218

 10,255 7,060
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  2015 2014 
  $000 $000

33 Provisions (continued)
(b) Long service leave liabilities have been classified as current where there is no unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period.  

Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities is expected to occur as follows:

Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period 2,256 2,072

More than 12 months after the end of the reporting period 16,398 14,463

 18,654 16,535

(c) Deferred salary scheme liabilities have been classified as current where there is no unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period.  
Actual settlement of the liabilities is expected to occur as follows:

Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period – – 

More than 12 months after the end of the reporting period 719 423

 719 423

(d) The settlement of annual and long service leave liabilities gives rise to the payment of employment on-costs including workers’ compensation insurance.  
The provision is the present value of expected future payments.

 The associated expense, apart from the unwinding of the discount (finance cost), is disclosed in note 12 ‘Other expenses’.

Movements in other provisions
Movements in each class of provisions during the financial period, other than employee benefits, are set out below.

Employment on-cost provision
Carrying amount at start of period 3,031 3,008
Additional/(reversals of) provisions recognised 719 23

Carrying amount at end of period 3,750 3,031

See note 2(t) ‘Provisions’.
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  2015 2014 
  $000 $000

34 Other liabilities

Current
Deferred revenue – RAC sponsorship (a) 1,200 – 

Total current 1,200 – 

Non-current
Deferred revenue – RAC sponsorship (a) 2,400 – 
Deferred revenue – FESA House (b) 833 811

Total non-current 3,233 811
(a) DFES and RAC renewed the sponsorship agreement to continue the support of the WA Emergency Rescue Helicopter service. The sponsorship provides funding of $1.2m each year for next 4 years until 30 June 2018 with one 

year extension option. A total of $4.8m was received in 2014-15, as such $1.2m funding for 2015-16 is disclosed as current liabilities and $2.4m funding for 2016-2018 is disclosed as non-current. See note 16 ‘Other revenue’ for the 
funding for 2014-15.

(b) This represents the deposit for the sale of FESA House site held by Landcorp’s lawyer as part of the terms and conditions of the Contract of Sale. Settlement is scheduled for 2017-18 Financial Year. See note 24 ‘Non-current assets 
classified as held for sale’ and note 29 ‘Other non-current assets’.

35 Equity

The Government holds the equity interest in the Department on behalf of the community. Equity represents the residual interest in the net assets of the 
Department. The asset revaluation surplus represents that portion of equity resulting from the revaluation of non-current assets.
Contributed equity
Balance at start of period 336,787 315,856

Contributions by owners
Capital appropriation – 24,980

Total contributions by owners – 24,980
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  2015 2014 
  $000 $000

35 Equity (continued)

Distributions to owners
Transfer of net assets to other agencies
Derby Fire Station building at 35 Clarendon Street, Derby transferred to Department of Lands – (182)
Leased office at 20 Southport Street, West Leederville transferred to SEMC Secretariat – (249)
NDRP program funding balance transferred to SEMC Secretariat – (3,505)
Return of unspent RfR CSN funding to WA Police (a) (1,862) – 
Exmouth VFRS, transferred to Department of Lands (225) – 

Total distributions to owners (2,087) (3,936)

Adjustments – (113)

Balance at end of period 334,700 336,787
(a) See note 20 ‘Restricted cash and cash equivalents’.

Reserves
Asset revaluation surplus
Balance at start of period 32,056 24,593
Net revaluation increments
 Land 2,481 1,791
 Buildings 20,272 5,672

Balance at end of period 54,809 32,056

Accumulated surplus/(deficit)
Balance at start of period (41,223) (35,092)
Result for the period 5,840 (6,137)
Adjustments (a) – 6

Balance at end of period (35,383) (41,223)

Total Equity at end of period 354,126 327,620
(a)  Adjustments in 2014 was related to the comprehensive fire appliances stocktake and Indian Ocean Territories analytical review, which resulted in the derecognition of assets.
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  2015 2014 
  $000 $000

36 Notes to the Statement of Cash Flows

Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents
Cash at the end of the financial period as shown in the Statement of Cash Flows is reconciled to the related items  
in the Statement of Financial Position as follows:
Cash and cash equivalents (note 19 ‘Cash and cash equivalents’) 86,731 72,022
Restricted cash and cash equivalents (note 20 ‘Restricted cash and cash equivalents’) 4,002 4,608

 90,733 76,630

Reconciliation of net cost of services to net cash flows provided by/(used in) operating activities
Net cost of services (49,889) (58,225)
Non-cash items:
Depreciation and amortisation expense (note 8 ‘Depreciation and amortisation expense’) 15,554 16,245
Net loss (gain) on disposal of property, plant and equipment (note 17 ‘Net gain/(loss) on disposal of non-current assets’) 463 (372)
Services received free of charge (note 18 ‘Income from State Government’) 2,003 1,029
Doubtful debt expense (note 12 ‘Other expenses’) (21) (6)
Impairment loss (note 30 ‘Impairment of assets’) – 12,316

(Increase)/decrease in assets:
Current receivables (a) 644 (1,543)
Other assets (2,118) (280)
Current inventories 12,459 3,212

Increase/(decrease) in liabilities:
Current payables (a) (1,012) 1,522
Current provisions 5,508 (1,304)
Non-current provisions 822 988
Change in GST in receivables/payables (b) (216) (71)

Net cash used in operating activities (15,803) (26,489)
(a) Note that the Australian Taxation Office (ATO) receivable/payable in respect of GST and the receivable/payable in respect of the sale/purchase of non-current assets are not included in these items as they do not form part of the 

reconciling items.

(b) This reverses out the GST in receivables and payables.
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  2015 2014 
  $000 $000

37 Services provided free of charge

During the period the following services were provided to State Emergency Management Committee Secretariat:
Financial, human resources, information technology and corporate support services 402 485

 402 485

38 Commitments

The commitments below are inclusive of GST where relevant.
Capital expenditure commitments
Capital expenditure commitments, being contracted capital expenditure additional to the amounts reported  
in the financial statements, are payable as follows:
Within 1 year 28,790 27,613
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 18,925 27,686

 47,715 55,299

The capital commitments include amounts for:
Land and Buildings 47,715 54,505
Plant and equipment – 794

 47,715 55,299

Non-cancellable operating lease commitments
Commitments for minimum lease payments are payable as follows:
Within 1 year 11,591 4,761
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 12,188 4,899
Later than 5 years 311 424

 24,090 10,084

DFES’s aviation services, fleet, residential and commercial leases account for the majority of the non-cancellable operating lease commitments. The fleet 
lease term varies depending on the vehicle.
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39 Contingent liabilities and contingent assets

Contingent liabilities
The following contingent liabilities are additional to the liabilities included in the financial statements.

Industrial relations claim in progress
A claim is before the WA Industrial Relations Commission for determination. The financial effect, should DFES not be successful in this determination, is 
considered not significant based on the estimation provided from the State Solicitor’s Office.

Contaminated sites
Under the Contaminated Sites Act 2003, the Department is required to report known and suspected contaminated sites to the Department of 
Environment Regulation (DER). In accordance with the Act, DER classifies these sites on the basis of the risk to human health, the environment 
and environmental values. Where sites are classified as contaminated – remediation required or possibly contaminated – investigation required, the 
Department may have a liability in respect of investigation or remediation expenses.

In 2006/07 the Fire and Emergency Services Authority of Western Australia (FESA was transitioned to Department of Fire and Emergency Services (DFES) 
on 1 November 2012) reported one contaminated site to DER. The site is a former drum storage area at the DFES Training Centre located at Dundas 
Road, Forrestfield. The Department is unable to assess the likely outcome of the classification process. It is not practicable to estimate the potential 
financial effect or to identify the uncertainties relating to the amount or timing of any outflows. The Department has applied and received funding from the 
Contaminated Sites Management Account to undertake further investigative work.

In August 2008, a contract was awarded to a qualified consultant to undertake a Detailed Site Investigation (DSI) including soil and gas vapour surveys. 
In October 2008, an accredited contaminated sites auditor was also appointed to provide a mandatory audit report as part of the DSI. The DSI was 
completed late 2009 and the comprehensive report delivered to FESA mid-2011. The report indicates no immediate need for site remediation, but this may 
be a consideration in future depending on site development plans.

Golder Associates was commissioned by Landgate on behalf of DFES to develop a Site Management Plan (SMP) for future contamination monitoring and 
guidelines which can be referenced when conducting future works on the site. LandCorp has appointed Waves Environmental as the auditor to review the 
draft Site Management plan in May 2014 as requested by DER.

A meeting was held between DFES, DER, Landcorp, Golder Associates and Auditor – Warren Dodge on 1 April 2015 to formulate the plan moving 
forward. Golder Associates have been contacted by Landcorp in undertaking additional work which will address the potential on-site human health risks 
for the purposes of revising the site management plan (SMP), this will include the review and comparison of the previous soil, vapour and groundwater 
assessments against the National Environmental Protection (Assessment of Site Contamination) Measure 1999, once the results of the additional works 
are finalised and provided to DER the site classification will be reviewed and updated.
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40 Events occurring after the end of the reporting period

No other matter or circumstance has arisen since 30 June 2015 that has significantly affected, or may significantly affect the department’s operations, the 
results of those operations, or the department’s state of affairs in future financial years.

Note 41 Explanatory statement

Major variances between estimates (original budget) and actual results for 2015, and between the actual results for 2014 and 2015 are shown below. 
Major variances are considered to be those greater than 10% and $7 million.
      Variance 
     Variance between 
     between actual results 
Statement of Comprehensive Income Variance Estimate Actual Actual estimate for 2015 
 Note 2015 2015 2014 and actual and 2014 
(Controlled Operations)  $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Employee benefits expense  184,555 184,634 175,689 79 8,945
Supplies and services 1, A 88,591 103,159 89,227 14,568 13,932
Depreciation and amortisation expense  16,985 15,554 16,245 (1,431) (691)
Finance costs  3,048 2,897 3,012 (151) (115)
Accommodation expenses  6,530 5,989 7,701 (541) (1,712)
Grants and subsidies 2 34,387 43,239 39,919 8,852 3,320
Loss on disposal of non-current assets  – 463 – 463 463
Other expenses  135 3,874 3,172 3,739 702
Impairment loss B – – 12,316 – (12,316)

Total cost of services  334,231 359,809 347,281 25,578 12,528

Income
Revenue
User charges and fees  296,192 299,086 280,830 2,894 18,256
Commonwealth grants and contributions  4,505 4,640 4,435 135 205
Interest revenue  103 118 120 16 (2)
Other revenue  5,175 6,076 3,299 901 2,777

Total Revenue  305,974 309,920 288,684 3,946 21,236
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Note 41 Explanatory statement (continued)
      Variance 
     Variance between 
     between actual results 
Statement of Comprehensive Income Variance Estimate Actual Actual estimate for 2015 
 Note 2015 2015 2014 and actual and 2014 
(Controlled Operations)  $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Gains
Gain on disposal of non-current assets  – – 372 – (372)

Total Gains  – – 372 – (372)

Total income other than income from State Government  305,974 309,920 289,056 3,946 20,864

NET COST OF SERVICES  28,257 49,889 58,225 21,632 (8,336)

Income from State Government
Service appropriation 3 31,911 53,425 50,688 21,514 2,737
Services received free of charge  745 2,003 1,029 1,258 974
Royalties for Regions Fund 4 8,056 301 371 (7,755) (70)

Total income from State Government  40,712 55,729 52,088 15,017 3,641

SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE PERIOD  12,455 5,840 (6,137) (6,615) 11,977

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Changes in asset revaluation surplus C – 22,753 7,463 22,753 15,290
Gains/(losses) recognised directly in equity  – – 6 – (6)

Total other comprehensive income  – 22,753 7,469 22,753 15,284

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) FOR THE PERIOD  12,455 28,593 1,332 16,138 27,261
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Note 41 Explanatory statement (continued)
      Variance 
     Variance between 
     between actual results 
Statement of Financial Position Variance Estimate Actual Actual estimate for 2015 
 Note 2015 2015 2014 and actual and 2014 
(Controlled Operations)  $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 5, D 22,664 86,731 72,022 64,067 14,709
Restricted cash and cash equivalents  1,500 4,002 2,908 2,502 1,094
Inventories 6, E 19,090 8,836 21,295 (10,254) (12,459)
Receivables  4,919 8,027 5,133 3,108 2,894
Other assets  879 2,104 518 1,225 1,586
Amounts receivable for services  – – 5,000 – (5,000)

Total Current Assets  49,052 109,700 106,876 60,648 2,824

Non-Current Assets
Restricted cash and cash equivalents  – – 1,700 – (1,700)
Amounts receivable for services  20,140 19,763 14,433 (377) 5,330
Property, plant and equipment 15,C 355,754 334,684 309,836 (21,070) 24,848
Intangible assets  817 1,028 93 211 935
Other non-current assets  2,200 833 811 (1,367) 22

Total Non-Current Assets  378,911 356,308 326,873 (22,603) 29,435

TOTAL ASSETS  427,963 466,008 433,749 38,045 32,259
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Note 41 Explanatory statement (continued)
      Variance 
     Variance between 
     between actual results 
Statement of Financial Position Variance Estimate Actual Actual estimate for 2015 
 Note 2015 2015 2014 and actual and 2014 
(Controlled Operations)  $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities
Payables  11,614 8,355 9,216 (3,259) (861)
Borrowings  3,323 3,485 3,337 162 148
Provisions J 19,952 23,584 18,076 3,632 5,508
Other current liabilities  – 1,200 – 1,200 1,200

Total Current Liabilities  34,889 36,624 30,629 1,735 5,995

Non-Current Liabilities
Borrowings 7 70,575 62,230 65,716 (8,345) (3,486)
Provisions  8,228 9,795 8,973 1,567 822
Other non-current liabilities  – 3,233 811 3,233 2,422

Total Non-Current Liabilities  78,803 75,258 75,500 (3,545) (242)

TOTAL LIABILITIES  113,692 111,882 106,129 (1,810) 5,753

NET ASSETS  427,963 354,126 327,620 39,855 26,506

EQUITY
Contributed equity 8 393,172 334,700 336,787 (58,472) (2,087)
Reserves 9, C 28,804 54,809 32,056 26,005 22,753
Accumulated deficit 10 (107,705) (35,383) (41,223) 72,322 5,840

TOTAL EQUITY  314,271 354,126 327,620 39,855 26,506
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Note 41 Explanatory statement (continued)
      Variance 
     Variance between 
     between actual results 
Statement of Cash Flows Variance Estimate Actual Actual estimate for 2015 
 Note 2015 2015 2014 and actual and 2014 
(Controlled Operations)  $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
Payments
Transfer of net assets to other agency  – (1,862) (3,505) (1,862) 1,643
Receipts
Service appropriation (a)  26,581 48,095 46,257 21,514 1,838
Capital appropriations G – – 24,980 – (24,980)
Holding account drawdowns  5,000 5,000 5,000 – – 
Royalties for Regions Fund  10,856 301 371 (10,555) (70)
Net cash provided by State Government  42,437 51,534 73,103 9,097 (21,569)

Utilised as follows:
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Employee benefits 11 (193,939) (181,986) (175,355) 11,953 (6,631)
Supplies and services 12, A (75,110) (100,833) (87,923) (25,723) (12,910)
Finance costs  (6,974) (2,855) (2,449) 4,119 (406)
Accommodation 16 (8,824) (5,989) (7,701) 2,835 1,712
Grants and subsidies (a)  (35,923) (30,780) (36,707) 5,143 5,927
GST payments on purchases 17 (8,794) (15,247) (14,501) (6,453) (746)
Other payments  (3,869) (3,176) (3,155) 693 (21)
Receipts
User charges and fees  289,209 298,994 279,289 9,785 19,705
Commonwealth grants and contributions  5,728 1,776 4,435 (3,952) (2,659)
Interest received  – 118 118 118 – 
GST receipts on sales  1,250 2,105 1,559 855 546
GST receipts from taxation authority 18 7,544 12,926 12,871 5,382 55
Other receipts  10,746 9,144 3,030 (1,602) 6,114
Net cash used in operating activities  (18,956) (15,803) (26,489) 3,153 10,686
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2015
Note 41 Explanatory statement (continued)
      Variance 
     Variance between 
     between actual results 
Statement of Cash Flows Variance Estimate Actual Actual estimate for 2015 
 Note 2015 2015 2014 and actual and 2014 
(Controlled Operations)  $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Purchase of non-current physical assets 13 (42,523) (19,093) (16,182) 23,430 (2,911)
Receipts
Proceeds from sale of non-current physical assets  – 803 793 803 10

Net cash used in investing activities  (42,523) (18,290) (15,389) 24,233 (2,901)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Repayment of borrowings H (4,601) (3,338) (26,995) 1,263 23,657
Receipts
Proceeds from borrowings 14, I 8,735 – 11,842 (8,735) (11,842)

Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities  4,134 (3,338) (15,153) (7,472) 11,815

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  (14,908) 14,103 16,072 29,011 (1,969)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period  41,272 76,630 60,558 35,358 16,072

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE PERIOD  26,364 90,733 76,630 64,369 14,103
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2015
Note 41 Explanatory statement (continued)

Major Estimate and Actual (2015) Variance Narratives for Controlled Operations
1)  Supplies and services expense exceeded estimates by $14.6 million (16.4%) mainly due to the extraordinary and unforseen expenditure on wildfire 

suppression and State Emergency Service (SES) response and recovery incidents, such as Northcliffe and Bullsbrook.

2)  Grants and subsidies expense exceeded estimates by $8.9 million (25.7%) largely due to an overspend on ESL Capital Grants associated with the 
completion and delivery of firefighting appliances to Local Government and the acquittance of building grants, outstanding from previous years.

3)  Service appropriation exceeded estimates by $21.5 million (67.4%) mainly due to the extraordinary and unforseen expenditure on wildfire suppression 
and SES response and recovery incidents, such as Northcliffe and Bullsbrook.

4)  Royalties for Regions Fund receipts under collected by $7.8 million (-96.3%) largely due to delays in project approvals for the South West Emergency 
Rescue Helicopter Service, Volunteer Fuel Card and the Comprehensive Fire Crew Protection project.

5)  Current cash and cash equivalents exceeded estimates by $64.1 million (282.7%) mainly due to underspends on recurrent and capital projects 
including CFRS Perth West Fire Station , CFRS Albany Fire Station, CFRS Bunbury Fire Station and Appliance Replacement Programs, savings on 
staff turnover during 2014/15 and the receipt of fours years RAC sponsorship in advance.

6)  Inventories was under estimate by $10.3 million (-53.7%) primarily due to the completion and delivery of firefighting appliances to Local Government 
outstanding from previous years together with delays in the commencement of the 2014/15 fire appliance replacement program.

7)  Non-current Borrowings was under estimates by $8.3 million (-11.8%) largely due to a decision to defer borrowings from the Western Australia 
Treasury Corporation (WATC) pending an assessment of cash requirements beyond the next 12 months.

8)  Contributed equity was under estimates by $58.5 million (14.9%) mainly due to reporting differences associated with the transition from FESA to DFES.

9)  Reserves exceeded estimates by $26.0 million (90.3%) mainly due to the revaluation of land and buildings from Landgate.

10) Accumulated Deficit was lower than estimates by $72.3 million (67.1%) mainly due to different reporting formats between the estimates and the annual 
report when accounting for the transition from FESA to DFES.

11)  Employee benefits payments underspent by $12.0 million (-6.2%) largely due to savings on staff turnover throughout 2014/15 and the timing of 
payment for salaries and wages.

12)  Supplies and services payments exceeded estimates by $25.7 million (34.2%) mainly due to extraordinary and unforseen expenses on wildfire and 
SES response and recovery incidents and the timing of invoice payments.

13) Payments for purchase of non-current physical assets underspent by $23.4 million (-55.1%) due to delays in capital projects such as the South West 
Emergency Rescue Helicopter Service, CFRS Perth West Fire Station, and the CFRS Albany Fire Station.
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Note 41 Explanatory statement (continued)

Major Estimate and Actual (2015) Variance Narratives for Controlled Operations (continued)
14)  Proceeds from borrowings are under estimates by $8.7 million (-100%) predominantly due to the decision to defer borrowings from the WATC in 

2014/15.

15) PP&E was under estimated by $21.1 million (-5.9%) mainly due to delays in capital projects such as the South West Emergency Rescue Helicopter 
Services, Perth West Fire Station, and the Albany Fire Station.

16) Accommodation payments underspent by $2.8 million (-32.1%) mainly due to the timing of invoice payments.

17)  GST payments on purchases exceeded estimates by $6.5 million (73.4%) mainly due to increased expenditure associated with extraordinary and 
unforseen costs of responding to emergency incidents.

18) GST receipts from taxation authority exceeded estimates by $5.4 million (71.3%) mainly due to an increase in GST receipts, from the Australian 
Taxation Office, associated with the extraordinary and unforseen costs of responding to emergency incidents.

Major Actual (2015) and Comparative (2014) Variance Narratives for Controlled Operations
A)  The variance in Supplies and Services is mainly due to the unprecedented and unforseen expenditure on wildfire suppression and SES response and 

recovery incidents, such as Northcliffe and Bullsbrook.

B)  The variance in the impairment loss is due to a loss of $12.3 million realised at 30 June 2014, related to the write down of the FESA House land.

C)  The variance is attributed to the annual revaluation of land and buildings conducted by Landgate.

D)  Cash and cash equivalents increased by $14.7 million mainly due to underspends on recurrent and capital projects including CFRS Perth West Fire 
Station, CFRS Albany Fire Station, CFRS Bunbury Fire Station and Appliance Replacement Programs, savings on staff turnover during 2014/15 and 
the receipt of four years’ RAC sponsorship in advance.

E)  Inventory has decreased by $12.5 million mainly due to the completion and delivery of firefighting appliances to Local Government outstanding from 
previous years.

G)  The variance of – $25.0 million is attributed to the equity injection received from Government in 2013/14 relating to the sale of FESA House.

H)  Repayment of Borrowings is $23.7 million lower than prior year mainly due to the repayment of $25.0 million of debt in 2013/14 associated with the 
sale of FESA House.

I)  Proceeds from borrowings have decreased by $11.8 million mainly due to the decision to defer borrowings from WATC in 2014-15.

J)  The variance in leave provision of $5.5 million is predominantly attributed to a change in the actuarial assessment assumptions and increase in FTEs.
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42 Financial instruments

(a) Financial risk management objectives and policies
Financial instruments held by the Department are cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and cash equivalents, Western Australian Treasury 
Corporation (WATC) borrowings, receivables and payables. The Department has limited exposure to financial risks. The Department’s overall risk 
management program focuses on managing the risks identified below.

Credit risk
Credit risk arises when there is the possibility of the Department’s receivables defaulting on their contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the 
Department.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period in relation to each class of recognised financial assets is the gross carrying 
amount of those assets inclusive of any allowance for impairment as shown in the table at note 42(c) ‘Financial instruments disclosures’ and note 22 
‘Receivables’.

Credit risk associated with the Department’s financial assets is minimal because the main receivable is the amounts receivable for services (holding 
account). For receivables other than government, the Department trades only with recognised, creditworthy third parties. The Department has policies 
in place to ensure that sales of products and services are made to customers with an appropriate credit history. In addition, receivable balances are 
monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the Department’s exposure to bad debts is minimal. At the end of the reporting period there were no 
significant concentrations of credit risk.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk arises when the Department is unable to meet its financial obligations as they fall due.

The Department is exposed to liquidity risk through its trading in the normal course of business.

The Department has appropriate procedures to manage cash flows including drawdown of appropriations by monitoring forecast cash flows to ensure 
that sufficient funds are available to meet its commitments.

Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices such as foreign exchange rates and interest rates will affect the Department’s income or the 
value of its holdings of financial instruments. The Department does not trade in foreign currency and is not materially exposed to other price risks. The 
Department’s exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates relates primarily to long-term debt obligations.

Other than as detailed in the interest rate sensitivity analysis table at note 42(c), the Department is not exposed to interest rate risk as the majority of cash 
and cash equivalents and restricted cash are non-interest bearing and it has no borrowings other than WATC borrowings.
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  2015 2014 
  $000 $000

42 Financial instruments (continued)

(b)  Categories of financial instruments
The carrying amounts of each of the following categories of financial assets and financial liabilities at the end of the reporting period are:
Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 86,731 72,022
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 4,002 4,608
Other financial assets (a) 833 811
Receivables (b) 25,665 22,808
Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 76,983 78,911
(a) See note 29 ‘Other non-current assets’.

(b) The amount of receivables excludes GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).

110Department of Fire and Emergency Services | Annual Report 2014/15



Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2015
42 Financial instruments (continued)

(c) Financial instrument disclosures
Credit risk
The following table discloses the Departments’ maximum exposure to credit risk and the ageing analysis of financial assets.  The Department’s maximum 
exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period is the carrying amount of financial assets as shown below.  The table discloses the ageing of 
financial assets that are past due but not impaired and impaired financial assets. The table is based on information provided to senior management of the 
Department. 

The Department does not hold any collateral as security or other credit enhancements relating to the financial assets it holds.
     Ageing analysis of financial assets

                 Past due but not impaired

  Not past      Impaired 
 Carrying due and  Up to 1 1 – 3 3 – 12 1 – 5 More than financial 
 Amount not impaired month months months years 5 years assets 
 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

2015
Cash and cash equivalents  86,731   86,731   –   –   –   –   –   – 
Restricted cash and cash equivalents  4,002   4,002   –   –   –   –   –   – 
Receivables (a)  5,902   2,584   390   2,750   166   3   –   9
Amounts receivable for services  19,763   19,763   –   –   –   –   –   – 
Other financial assets  833   833   –   –   –   –   –   – 

  117,231   113,913   390   2,750   166   3   –   9

2014
Cash and cash equivalents  72,022   72,022   –   –   –   –   –   – 
Restricted cash and cash equivalents  4,608   4,608   –   –   –   –   –   – 
Receivables (a)  3,375   1,904   541   806   117   7   –   – 
Amounts receivable for services  19,433   19,433   –   –   –   –   –   – 
Other financial assets  811   811   –   –   –   –   –   – 

  100,249   98,778   541   806   117   7   –   – 
(a) The amount of receivables excludes the GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable). Of the $2.75m receivables past due but not impaired (1-3 months), $2.64m payment was received in July 2015.
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42 Financial instruments (continued)
(c)  Financial instrument disclosures (continued)
Liquidity risk and interest rate exposure
The following table details the Department’s interest rate exposure and the contractual maturity analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities.  
The maturity analysis section includes interest and principal cash flows.  The interest rate exposure section analyses only the carrying amounts of each item.

Interest rate exposure and maturity analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities
Interest rate exposure Maturity dates

Weighted 
Average 
Effective 

Interest Rate
%

Carrying 
Amount

$000

Fixed 
interest rate

$000

Variable 
interest rate

$000

Non-interest 
bearing

$000

Nominal 
Amount

$000

Up to 1
month
$000

1 - 3
months

$000

3 - 12
months

$000

1 - 5
years
$000

More than
5 years

$000

2015
Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents  –  86,731  –  –  86,731  86,731  86,731  –  –  –  – 
Restricted cash and cash 
equivalents

 2.70  4,002  –  349  3,653  4,002  4,002  –  –  –  – 

Receivables (a)  –  5,902  –  –  5,902  5,902  5,902  –  –  –  – 
Amounts receivable for services  –  19,763  –  –  19,763  19,763  –  –  5,000  5,000  9,763 
Other financial assets  2.70  833  –  833  –  833  –  –  –  833  – 

 117,231  –  1,182  116,049  117,231  96,635  –  5,000  5,833  9,763 

Financial Liabilities
Payables  –  8,355  –  349  8,006  12,016  12,016  –  –  –  – 
WATC borrowings  4.03  65,715  6,951  58,764  –  65,715  871  871  1,742  20,892  41,339 
Other liabilities  2.85  4,433  –  833  3,600  4,433  –  –  1,200  3,233  – 

 78,503  6,951  59,946  11,606  82,164  12,887  871  2,942  24,125  41,339 
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Interest rate exposure Maturity dates

Weighted 
Average 
Effective 

Interest Rate
%

Carrying 
Amount

$000

Fixed 
interest rate

$000

Variable 
interest rate

$000

Non-interest 
bearing

$000

Nominal 
Amount

$000

Up to 1
month
$000

1 - 3
months

$000

3 - 12
months

$000

1 - 5
years
$000

More than
5 years

$000

2014
Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents  –  72,022  –  –  72,022  72,022  72,022  –  –  –  – 
Restricted cash and cash 
equivalents

 2.81  4,608  –  376  4,232  4,608  4,608  –  –  –  – 

Receivables (a)  –  3,375  –  –  3,375  3,375  3,375  –  –  –  – 
Amounts receivable for services  –  19,433  –  –  19,433  19,433  –  –  5,000  5,000  9,433 
Other financial assets  2.85  811  –  811  –  811  –  – –  811  – 

 100,249  –  1,187  99,062  100,249  80,005  –  5,000  5,811  9,433 

Financial Liabilities
Payables  –  9,047  –  –  9,047  9,047  9,047  –  –  –  – 
WATC borrowings  4.15  69,053  6,951  62,102  –  69,053  723  723  1,891  20,893  44,823 
Deferred revenue  2.85  811  –  811  –  811  –  –  –  811  – 

 78,911  6,951  62,913  9,047  78,911  9,770  723  1,891  21,704  44,823 

(a)  The amount of receivables excludes the GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).

42 Financial instruments (continued)
(c)  Financial instrument disclosures (continued)
Liquidity risk and interest rate exposure (continued)
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42 Financial instruments (continued)
(c)  Financial instrument disclosures (continued)
Interest rate sensitivity analysis
The following table represents a summary of the interest rate sensitivity of the Department’s financial assets and liabilities at the end of the reporting period 
on the surplus for the period and equity for a 1% change in interest rates. It is assumed that the change in interest rates is held constant throughout the 
reporting period.
   – 100 basis points   +100 basis points

 Carrying Amount Surplus Equity  Surplus Equity 
 $000 $000 $000  $000 $000

2015
Financial Assets
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 349 (3.5) (3.5)  3.5 3.5
Other financial assets 833 (8.3) (8.3)  8.3 8.3

Financial Liabilities
WATC borrowings 58,764 587.6 587.6  (587.6) (587.6)
Deferred revenue 833 8.3 8.3  (8.3) (8.3)

Total (Decrease)/Increase  584.1 584.1  (584.1) (584.1)

2014
Financial Assets
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 376 (3.8) (3.8)  3.8 3.8
Other financial assets 811 (8.1) (8.1)  8.1 8.1

Financial Liabilities
WATC borrowings 62,102 621.0 621.0  (621.0) (621.0)
Deferred revenue 811 8.1 8.1  (8.1) (8.1)

Total (Decrease)/Increase  617.2 617.2  (617.2) (617.2)

Fair Values
All financial assets and liabilities recognised in the Statement of Financial Position, whether they are carried at cost or fair value, are recognised at amounts 
that represent a reasonable approximation of fair value unless otherwise stated in the applicable notes.
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  2015 2014 
  $000 $000

43 Remuneration of senior officers
The number of senior officers whose total fees, salaries, superannuation, non-monetary benefits and other benefits  
for the reporting period fall within the following bands are:
 30,001  – 40,000 1 – 
 50,001  – 60,000 – 1
 80,001  – 90,000 1 – 
 90,001  – 100,000 1 – 
 110,001  – 120,000 1 – 
 160,001  – 170,000 – 2
 170,001  – 180,000 3 1
 180,001  – 190,000 1 – 
 190,001  – 200,000 – 3
 200,001  – 210,000 1 1
 210,001  – 220,000 – 5
 220,001  – 230,000 – 1
 230,001  – 240,000 2 – 
 240,001  – 250,000 5 – 
 260,001  – 270,000 – 1
 270,001  – 280,000 – 1
 280,001  – 290,000 1 – 
 300,001  – 310,000 1 – 
 410,001  – 420,000 – 1
 450,001  – 460,000 1 1
  $000 $000

Base remuneration and superannuation  3,776 4,035
Annual leave and long service leave accruals 121 (42)
Other benefits 62 72

Total remuneration of senior officers 3,959 4,065

The total remuneration includes the superannuation expense incurred by the Department in respect of senior officers for the reporting period.
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  2015 2014 
  $000 $000

44 Remuneration of auditor

Remuneration payable to the Auditor General in respect of the audit for the current financial period is as follows:

Auditing the accounts, controls, financial statements and key performance indicators 138 145

 138 145

45 Affiliated bodies

The following are classified as non-government affiliated bodies and receive direct and/or indirect financial assistance.
Direct financial assistance is given in the form of a grant. Indirect financial assistance is given in the form of administrative  
support including the use of a motor vehicle and running costs, office accommodation and minor administrative support. 

Association of Volunteer Bush Fire Brigades WA Inc 116 44
Emergency Services Volunteer Association Inc 75 44
SES Volunteers Association of Western Australia Inc 118 44
Surf Life Saving Western Australia Inc 1,276 1,239
Volunteer Marine Rescue Western Australia Inc 35 40
Western Australian Volunteer Fire Brigades Association Inc 311 292

 1,931 1,703

46 Supplementary financial information

(a) Write-Offs
During the financial year, nil (2014: $41,864.24) was written off the Department’s bad debts under the authority of:
The accountable authority – 42

 – 42

(b) Losses through theft, defaults and other causes
Losses of public money and public and other property through theft or default 6 5
Amounts recovered – (4)

 6 1
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  2015 2014 
  $000 $000

46 Supplementary financial information (continued)

(c) Gifts of public property
No gifts of public property was provided by the Department. – – 

 – – 

47 Indian Ocean Territories

Funds are provided by the Commonwealth Department of Infrastructure and Regional Development to provide services to the Indian Ocean Territories as 
specified in the Service6 Delivery Arrangements entered into between the State and Commonwealth.

Opening Balance – 194
Adjustment (a) 183 – 
Total Receipts 289 359
Total Expenditure (459) (553)

Closing Balance 13 – 
(a) DFES conducted a comprehensive analytical audit of 2013-14 costs associated with delivering emergency services in accordance with the Services Delivery Arrangement. An adjustment was made in 2014-15 to reflect the revised 

carry forward funding identified.
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Certification of Key Performance Indicators
I hereby certify that the performance indicators are based on proper records, are relevant and appropriate for assisting users to assess the Department of 
Fire and Emergency Services’ performance, and fairly represent the performance of the Department of Fire and Emergency Services for the financial year 
ended 30 June 2015.

W Gregson APM, BA, MBA
Accountable Authority

27 August 2015
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WHY is this a key indicator of our performance? The degree to which preventable fires in the 
home can be reduced is an indicator of the effectiveness of our fire safety education programs. 
Programs such as ‘Working Smoke Alarms’ and ‘Fire Safety in Your Home’ aim to increase 
awareness of risk and appropriate behaviours for reducing the impact of accidental residential fires. 
A lower than target performance is desired.

HOW is this indicator derived? This indicator is derived by dividing the number of reported 
accidental fires in homes as a proportion of the number of households in Western Australia.

Retrospective data entry will affect results in any given year. Past data has been updated to reflect 
completed reports as at 30 June 2015.

WHAT does this indicator show? This indicator shows a continued improvement in the number of 
accidental residential fires as a proportion of the number of households in Western Australia. 

The number of households in Western Australia has increased over the last year by more than three 
percent and over the last five years by more than 12 percent. The number of residential structure 
fires reported has decreased by more than two percent since last year and almost eight percent over 
the last five years. Our results also show a consistent decline in the number of accidental residential 
structure fires since 2008/09.

There has been some movement in the number of incomplete data compared to last year, however 
this is not material. The improved performance result is attributed to both an improvement in data 
coding and an increased community awareness of the risk of fires.

Number of accidental residential fires per 100,000 households 

  Target = Less than 70 accidental residential fires per 100,000 households

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

14/1513/1412/1311/1210/11

60.27 Accidental residential fires per 100,000 households
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WHY is this a key indicator of our performance? This indicator is measures the effectiveness of 
community fire safety education programs and fire service response. Higher levels of confinement 
will reduce the incident’s impact on the community. Our objectives are to raise awareness at the 
community level of how to deal with small fires safely where possible and the importance of an 
early call to emergency services. This indicator is linked to the indicators that measure the reduction 
of accidental residential fires and fire service response times. A higher than target performance 
is desired.

There are a range of uncontrollable factors affecting how quickly a fire will spread. These include 
the types of household furnishings, building standards and materials and the time taken to alert 
emergency services. Prompt detection and early notification are likely to increase the percentage of 
fires confined.

HOW is this indicator derived? This indicator is derived by dividing the number of reported 
structure fires either confined to the container or room of origin by the total number of reported 
structure fires in which damage was recorded.

Retrospective data entry affects results for any given year. Past data has been updated to reflect 
completed reports as at 30 June 2015.

WHAT does this indicator show? As this data set has some volatility, longer term trends provide 
a more accurate reflection of results. The Department continues to meet the target, however 
performance over the last four years shows a downward trend. We will be undertaking some detailed 
analysis to determine factors contributing to this result and identify opportunities for improvement.

Proportion of structure fires confined to the room or object of origin 
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  Total Confinement %

  Target 72% of structure fires are confined to 
the room or object of origin

73.58% of structure fires are confined to the room or object of origin
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On 1 January 2014 the amendments to the Dangerous Goods Safety (Storage and Handling of 
Non-explosives) Regulations 2007 came into effect. As a result, the term ‘special risk plans’ is not 
recognised and the Department of Mines and Petroleum requires DFES Special Risk Plans to be 
renamed ‘FES Emergency Response Guide’. Regulation 76B now specifies the circumstances under 
which a Guide is prepared for a dangerous goods site.

WHY is this a key indicator of our performance? DFES has a legislated role for preparedness 
and response to hazardous materials emergencies. This indicator measures the rate at which FES 
Emergency Response Guides (formerly called special risk plans) are developed and reviewed for 
hazardous materials. The currency of guides is important for ensuring the safety of emergency 
responders and reducing impacts on the community. A higher than target performance is desired.

HOW is this indicator derived? This indicator is derived by determining the number of Emergency 
Response Guides reviewed every two years as a percentage of the total number of emergency 
response guides on our register.

WHAT does this indicator show? This year’s result of 80.06 percent of guides reviewed in 2014/15 
is lower than our target of 90 percent. This indicator is being reassessed as part of the KPI Review. 
This will include confirmation of sites requiring guides and taking a more risk based approach to the 
identification of sites requiring site visits.

The number of FES Emergency Response Guides has increased by more than 42 percent over 
the last five years. The increase is a result of increased risk awareness, compliance monitoring and 
industry expansion. A continued increase in the number of facilities requiring guides may impact our 
capacity to continue to complete reviews within specified timeframes and will require monitoring.

Percentage of FES Emergency Response Guides for hazardous material sites reviewed within specified timeframes

  Target = 90% FES Emergency Response 
Guides for hazardous material sites 
reviewed within specified timeframes
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80.06% of FES Emergency Response Guides for hazardous material sites are reviewed within specified timeframes
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WHY is this a key indicator of our performance? This indicator is intended to measure how 
efficiently we manage resources for delivering prevention and mitigation services. Our objective is to 
deliver services as efficiently as possible while still effectively supporting community stakeholders in 
reducing preventable emergencies, for example accidental residential fire (KPI1), confinement of fires 
(KPI2) and in mitigating the risks of natural hazards. More effective prevention and mitigation services 
should reduce the demand for emergency services as well as reducing the consequence of structure 
fires and emergencies resulting from severe weather events.

HOW is this indicator derived? This indicator is derived by dividing the total cost of services 
provided for prevention and mitigation by the total number of residents in Western Australia as 
calculated by the Australian Bureau of Statistics.

In 2013/14, there was a change in the methodology for allocation of overhead expenses across our 
two services to more accurately reflect overall cost allocations.

WHAT does this indicator show? The perceived drop in expenditure per Western Australian 
on figures reported for prevention and mitigation in 2014/15 has resulted from a recalculation of 
population figures by the Australian Bureau of Statistics which are considerably higher than estimates 
used to set the targets. As a result our expenditure per Western Australian was less than planned in 
2014/15 ($15.59 spent, $20.90 budgeted). Had the population figures not changed our result would 
have been $16.73 per Western Australian, which is still less than the budgeted figure.

Further information on the variations between end of year actual and budgeted expenditure can be 
accessed in the notes to the financial statements.

Cost of prevention and mitigation services per capita (WA)
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  Per Person Cost $

  Target Cost Per Person $

DFES spent $15.59 per Western Australian on prevention and mitigation services in WA
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WHY is this a key indicator of our performance? This indicator measures the time taken for the 
initial emergency call to be transferred from Telstra’s central emergency call centre to DFES. The 
time is measured from the point of connection (ringing) to the point of disconnection (handover) from 
Telstra. The faster an emergency call can be transferred, the earlier an emergency service response 
can be dispatched. This indicator is linked to the indicators that measure the reduction of accidental 
residential fires, the confinement of fires and emergency service response times. A higher than target 
performance is desired.

A change in the call transfer process in February 2011 extended the time to handover the call from 
Telstra to DFES. This change was implemented following a process review of response to the 
Roleystone fire and ensures that DFES can identify whether 000 calls during significant events are 
related to an existing or new emergency. The target for 2011/12 was revised to reflect the change in 
procedures.

HOW is this indicator derived? This indicator is derived by dividing the number of calls answered in 
less than 20 seconds by the total number of calls transferred to DFES.

WHAT does this indicator show? DFES’ target for 2014/15 was to answer 95 percent of 000 
calls within 20 seconds. Our result for the year is 95.27 percent. Following the drop in performance 
in 2012/13, DFES conducted an investigation into Comcen processes and the reliability and 
appropriateness of the data used to measure performance. A range of process and equipment 
improvements have been implemented to resolve the identified issues.

Percentage of 000 calls answered within the target timeframes

  Total = 95% of 000 calls are 
answered within 20 Seconds 
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95.27% of 000 calls are answered within 20 seconds
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WHY is this a key indicator of our performance? This indicator measures the percentage of career 
Fire and Rescue incident responses in the metropolitan area which meet the target timeframe of 12 
minutes. Career firefighters currently respond to 71.2 percent of DFES incidents in Western Australia. 
Of those, 91.48 percent occur in the metropolitan area. Timely response is critical in minimising the 
impact on the community. A higher than target performance result is desired.

Factors that impact total response times include adverse weather or traffic conditions, shorter or 
longer travel times if crews are not on station when notified or crews being mobilised to incidents 
outside of their area.

HOW is this indicator derived? This indicator is derived by determining the percentage of incidents 
where a career Fire and Rescue appliance arrives on scene at an incident within the metropolitan 
area within 12 minutes of the 000 call being received by DFES’ ComCen.

Retrospective data entry will affect response time results for all incident types. Data for past years 
has been updated to reflect completed reports as at 30 June 2015.

WHAT does this indicator show? The overall result for 2014/15 (89 percent) is marginally slower 
than the target for the 90th percentile. The result is impacted by data for non life critical incidents that 
have longer response times.

Response time information for specific incident types is detailed on the following pages.

Percentage of metropolitan responses by career Fire and Rescue Service within target timeframes 

  Target % of total metropolitan incidents 
responded to within 12 minutes

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

14/1513/1412/1311/1210/11

89% of all metropolitan incidents are responded to by career Fire and Rescue Services within 12 minutes
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  Target 90% of total metropolitan incidents responded to within 12 minutes

  Target % of total metropolitan incidents responded to within 12 minutes
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Structure fires 
WHAT does this indicator show? This indicator shows that a career Fire and Rescue appliance was 
on-scene at more than 92 percent of all structure fire incidents in the metropolitan area within  
12 minutes. This response rate has generally been increasing over the last five years.

In 2014/15 the total number of structure fires attended by career firefighters in the metropolitan area 
(771) was less than last year (818). The number of structure fires has been reducing over the last  
three years. 

Rescue
WHAT does this indicator show? This indicator shows that a career Fire and Rescue appliance was 
on-scene at more than 90 percent of all rescue incidents in the metropolitan area within 12 minutes.

Records show the total number of rescue incidents attended by career firefighters in the metropolitan 
area (1,491) has been increasing over the last five years.

Structure fires and rescues pose a high threat to life and are categorised as ‘life critical’ incidents. They receive the highest priority for response. 
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  Target 90% of total metropolitan incidents responded to within 12 minutes

  Target 90% of total metropolitan incidents responded to within 12 minutes

HAZMAT 
Hazardous materials incidents (HAZMAT) are those where there is an accidental or deliberate release 
of a hazardous material. Response times to HAZMAT incidents are traditionally longer than for other 
incident types as additional time is usually taken at the mobilisation stage to determine what materials 
are involved, the appropriate response strategy and whether specialised resources, for example 
special protective clothing, are required to safely deal with the incident.

WHAT does this indicator show? This indicator shows that a career Fire and Rescue appliance 
was on-scene at more than 86 percent of all HAZMAT incidents in the metropolitan area within 12 
minutes.

While the total number of HAZMAT incidents attended by career firefighters in 2014/15 in the 
metropolitan area (593) was less than last year (678), these incident types have been generally 
increasing over the last five years which will also have an impact on response times. 

Other (Property) fires
Other (property) incidents include fires in special structures such as piers, bridges or tunnels; and 
outside storage facilities and mobile property, such as aircraft and rail transport. 

WHAT does this indicator show? This indicator shows that a career Fire and Rescue appliance was 
on-scene at more than 82 percent of all other (property) incidents in the metropolitan area within 12 
minutes. This is our lowest result for this incident type in five years.

In 2014/15 the total number of other fire incidents attended by career firefighters in the metropolitan 
area (575) was less than last year (690), though the number of other incidents has fluctuated greatly 
over the last five years.
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Grass, Scrub, Rubbish and Bush fires
This incident category includes landscape or bush fires and outside rubbish fires, including those in 
landfill or construction sites.

Extra time is often required with landscape or bushfires for crews to determine the severity or 
potential impact of the incident and to reach the exact location of the fire, especially if they are 
required to move off road. This can result in delays in notification that the crew has arrived on scene, 
which will overstate travel times.

WHAT does this indicator show? This indicator shows that a career Fire and Rescue appliance 
was on-scene at more than 85 percent of all grass, scrub, rubbish and bush fire incidents in the 
metropolitan area within 12 minutes.

The number of grass, scrub, rubbish and bush fires has been decreasing over the last five years. 
In 2014/15 the total number of grass, scrub, rubbish and bush fire incidents attended by career 
firefighters in the metropolitan area was 2,344, which is 39 percent fewer than five years ago. This 
decrease in incident numbers can be attributed, in part, to improvements in data quality.

  Target 90% of total metropolitan incidents responded to within 12 minutes

0

20

40

60

80

100

14/1513/1412/1311/1210/11

127Department of Fire and Emergency Services | Annual Report 2014/15



WHY is this a key indicator of our performance? This indicator measures the percentage of 
volunteer Fire & Rescue turnouts which meet target timeframes. It assists in determining where there 
are challenges in mustering a full volunteer crew for incident response. For volunteer services the 
turnout time is the most useful indicator for measuring service delivery. Total response time is not 
used as a key indicator of performance as response times can be affected by extended distances to 
incident sites in regional areas. A higher than target performance is desired.

HOW is this indicator derived? This indicator is derived by determining the percentage of incidents 
where the volunteer crew turned out within 14 minutes of receiving notification from DFES ComCen. 
DFES has limited, or no control over response to incidents where they provide a support role to other 
agencies (such as fire response in local government areas and rescue incidents). As a consequence, 
this indicator excludes incidents attended by other volunteer services.

WHAT does this indicator show? Volunteer Fire & Rescue crews are consistently turning out to 
incidents within their target timeframe. 

Percentage of volunteer Fire & Rescue Service turnouts within target timeframes

  Target = 90% of VFRS turnouts are 
within target timeframes
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93.75% of volunteer Fire & Rescue Service turnouts are within target timeframes 
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WHY is this a key indicator of our performance? DFES has a legislated role for preparedness and 
response to bushfire. This indicator measures DFES’ capacity to manage multiple major bushfire 
incidents. The number of personnel required to be trained in level 2 and 3 Incident Management are 
48 and 12 respectively. A higher than target performance is desired.

HOW is this indicator derived? This indicator is derived by determining the number of operational 
personnel endorsed to fill a level 2 and level 3 incident management role as a percentage of the 
number deemed required.

WHAT does this indicator show? DFES has 73 level 2 Incident Managers and 22 level 3 Incident 
Managers being 152 percent and 183 percent of our targets respectively.

Percentage of required operational personnel trained in Level 2 and Level 3 incident management (bushfire) 

  Level 2 Incident Managers 

  Target = 90% of required operational personnel trained in level 2 incident Management 
(Bushfires)

  Level 3 Incident Managers 

  Target = 90% of required operational personnel trained in level 3 incident Management 
(Bushfires)

152% and 183% respectively of required operational personnel trained in level 2 and level 3 incident management (bushfire)
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WHY is this a key indicator of our performance? This indicator is intended to measure how 
efficiently we manage resources in preparing for and responding to emergencies.  Our objective is to 
manage resources as efficiently as possible while still providing an effective response service.

HOW is this indicator derived? This indicator is derived by dividing the total cost of services 
provided for response and recovery services by the total number of residents in Western Australia as 
calculated by the Australian Bureau of Statistics. 

The total cost of emergency services includes all fixed and variable expenditure involved in 
maintaining emergency services.  

In 2013/14, there was a change in the methodology for allocation of overhead expenses across our 
two services to more accurately reflect overall cost allocations.

WHAT does this indicator show? The perceived drop in expenditure per Western Australian on 
figures reported for Emergency Services in 2013/14 and 2014/15 has resulted from a recalculation of 
population figures by the Australian Bureau of Statistics which are considerably higher than estimates 
used to set the targets. As a result our expenditure per Western Australian was less than planned in 
2014/15 ($104.48 spent, $115.18 budgeted). Had the population figures not changed our result would 
have been $112.47 per person, which is closer to the budgeted figure.

Further information on the variations between end of year actual and budgeted expenditure can be 
accessed in the notes to the financial statements. 

Cost of emergency services per capita (WA)
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DFES spent $104.48 per Western Australian on emergency services in WA
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Independent Audit Opinion

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
To the Parliament of Western Australia
DEPARTMENT OF FIRE AND EMERGENCY SERVICES

Report on the Financial Statements
I have audited the accounts and financial statements of the Department of Fire and Emergency Services.

The financial statements comprise the Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2015, the Statement of Comprehensive Income, Statement of 
Changes in Equity, Statement of Cash Flows, Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service, Schedule of Assets and Liabilities by Service, and Summary 
of Consolidated Account Appropriations and Income Estimates for the year then ended, and Notes comprising a summary of significant accounting 
policies and other explanatory information.

Commissioner’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
The Commissioner is responsible for keeping proper accounts, and the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with 
Australian Accounting Standards and the Treasurer’s Instructions, and for such internal control as the Commissioner determines is necessary to enable 
the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial statements based on my audit. The audit was 
conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Those Standards require compliance with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit 
engagements and that the audit be planned and performed to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected 
depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud 
or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the Department’s preparation and fair presentation of the 
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness 
of the accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the Commissioner, as well as evaluating the overall presentation 
of the financial statements.

I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my audit opinion.

Opinion
In my opinion, the financial statements are based on proper accounts and present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Department 
of Fire and Emergency Services at 30 June 2015 and its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended. They are in accordance with 
Australian Accounting Standards and the Treasurer’s Instructions.

7th Floor Albert Facey House  
469 Wellington Street Perth  
MAIL TO: Perth BC PO Box 8489 Perth WA 6849  
TEL: 08 6557 7500 FAX: 08 6557 7600
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Report on Controls
I have audited the controls exercised by the Department of Fire and Emergency Services during the year ended 30 June 2015.

Controls exercised by the Department of Fire and Emergency Services are those policies and procedures established by the Commissioner to ensure that 
the receipt, expenditure and investment of money, the acquisition and disposal of property, and the incurring of liabilities have been in accordance with 
legislative provisions.

Commissioner’s Responsibility for Controls
The Commissioner is responsible for maintaining an adequate system of internal control to ensure that the receipt, expenditure and investment of money, 
the acquisition and disposal of public and other property, and the incurring of liabilities are in accordance with the Financial Management Act 2006 and 
the Treasurer’s Instructions, and other relevant written law.

Auditor’s Responsibility
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the controls exercised by the Department of Fire and 
Emergency Services based on my audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing and Assurance Standards.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the adequacy of controls to ensure that the Department complies with the 
legislative provisions. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement and include an evaluation of the design and implementation of relevant 
controls.

I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my audit opinion.

Opinion
In my opinion, the controls exercised by the Department of Fire and Emergency Services are sufficiently adequate to provide reasonable assurance that 
the receipt, expenditure and investment of money, the acquisition and disposal of property, and the incurring of liabilities have been in accordance with 
legislative provisions during the year ended 30 June 2015.

Report on the Key Performance Indicators
I have audited the key performance indicators of the Department of Fire and Emergency Services for the year ended 30 June 2015.

The key performance indicators are the key effectiveness indicators and the key efficiency indicators that provide information on outcome achievement 
and service provision.

Commissioner’s Responsibility for the Key Performance Indicators
The Commissioner is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the key performance indicators in accordance with the Financial Management 
Act 2006 and the Treasurer’s Instructions and for such controls as the Commissioner determines necessary to ensure that the key performance indicators 
fairly represent indicated performance.
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Auditor’s Responsibility
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the key performance indicators based on my audit conducted 
in accordance with Australian Auditing and Assurance Standards.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the key performance indicators. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the key performance indicators. In making these risk assessments the 
auditor considers internal control relevant to the Commissioner’s preparation and fair presentation of the key performance indicators in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances. An audit also includes evaluating the relevance and appropriateness of the key performance 
indicators for measuring the extent of outcome achievement and service provision.

I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my audit opinion.

Opinion
In my opinion, the key performance indicators of the Department of Fire and Emergency Services are relevant and appropriate to assist users to assess 
the Department’s performance and fairly represent indicated performance for the year ended 30 June 2015.

Independence
In conducting this audit, I have complied with the independence requirements of the Auditor General Act 2006 and Australian Auditing and Assurance 
Standards, and other relevant ethical requirements.

Matters Relating to the Electronic Publication of the Audited Financial Statements and Key Performance Indicators
This auditor’s report relates to the financial statements and key performance indicators of the Department of Fire and Emergency Services for the year 
ended 30 June 2015 included on the Department’s website. The Department’s management is responsible for the integrity of the Department’s website. 
This audit does not provide assurance on the integrity of the Department’s website. The auditor’s report refers only to the financial statements and key 
performance indicators described above. It does not provide an opinion on any other information which may have been hyperlinked to/from these financial 
statements or key performance indicators. If users of the financial statements and key performance indicators are concerned with the inherent risks arising 
from publication on a website, they are advised to refer to the hard copy of the audited financial statements and key performance indicators to confirm the 
information contained in this website version of the financial statements and key performance indicators.

COLIN MURPHY
AUDITOR GENERAL
FOR WESTERN AUSTRALIA
Perth, Western Australia
28 August 2015
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Ministerial Directives [TI 903(12)]
On 18 June 2014 Department of Treasury 
provided written advice to the Fire and 
Emergency Services Commissioner pursuant to 
Cabinet’s Budget Framework Reform initiative. 
DFES is required to review its Outcome Based 
Management reporting structures.

Ministerial Communication
In accordance with Section 74 of the Public 
Sector Management Act 1994, the Department 
has a communications agreement with the 
Minister for Emergency Services that outlines 
communication procedures between the 
Minister’s office and DFES employees. This 
agreement ensures that the Minister receives 
accurate and timely information and advice. 
In 2014/15, 96 percent of correspondence was 
attended to within the specified timeframes.

2013/14 2014/15

Total Ministerial Items 
(not including 
Parliamentary 
Questions)

752 630

Parliamentary Questions 65 92

Functions attended by 
the Minister (including 
events/meetings/visits)

35 31

Pricing Policies of Services Provided
User charges and fees are reviewed annually. 
Increases in user charges and fees are generally 
limited to increases in the consumer price index 
as advised by the Department of Treasury.

The Emergency Services Levy (ESL) was 
introduced in 2003/04 and provides the majority 
of funding to enable effective service delivery 
for bushfires and structure fires, cyclones, 
earthquakes, floods, incidents involving 
hazardous materials, severe storms, tsunamis, 
road crash rescues and a range of search and 
rescue call outs.

The ESL is a Western Australian Government 
charge that is primarily invoiced and collected 
by local governments, with the funds being 
remitted to DFES. ESL rates and charging 
parameters are determined annually by the 
Minister for Emergency Services to raise an 
approved amount each year. The 2015/16 rates, 
charging parameters and other associated ESL 
administrative matters were published in the 
Government Gazette on 12 June 2015.

Indemnity Insurance
Following DFES’ transition from a statutory 
authority to a Department effective 1 November 
2012, the SEMC Secretariat was established 
as a sub department of DFES on 1 July 2013. 
While DFES has coverage from RiskCover, 
DFES has taken separate directors’ and 
officers’ liability insurance for seven years 
ending 30 June 2020 to align with the Statute 
of Limitations. The Indemnity Insurance covers 
both DFES and the SEMC Secretariat. 

The amount of the liability insurance premium 
paid for seven years was $58,865. The 
proportion relating to this reporting period is 
$8,240.

Ministerial Directives and 
Communication

Other Financial Disclosures
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Capital Works

Capital Projects  
in Progress

Estimated 
Completion

CFRS Wangara Fire Station 
Modifications

2016/17

CFRS Geraldton Fire Station 2016/17

CFRS Bunbury Fire Station 2016/17

CFRS Albany Fire Station 2016/17

South West Emergency 
Rescue Helicopter Service

2016/17

Strategic Land Acquisition 
Program – Kensington and 
Perth West

2017/18

The estimated completion date of the CFRS 
Geraldton Fire Station has been revised to 
2016/17 largely due to delays in acquiring the 
land. Construction commenced in May 2015.

The scope of the CFRS Bunbury Fire Station 
was amended to only construct a replacement 
career station for Bunbury. The estimated 
completion date has been revised to 2016/17 
which is associated with the selection of the 
preferred model and change in scope.

The information below relates to DFES land and 
building capital projects.

Capital Building 
Projects Completion Date

VFRS Geraldton Fire 
Station

August 2014

CFRS Butler Fire 
Station

December 2014

Strategic Land 
Acquisition Program 
– Forrestfield

December 2014

The purchase of the site adjacent to the  
WAFES Academy at 539 Dundas Road, 
Forrestfield provides for the future 
redevelopment and expansion of the training 
facility as well as a base for the State Wide 
Operational Response Division.

Land acquisition for the CFRS Albany Fire 
Station is expected to be finalised in July 2015 
with construction completed in 2017.

Cabinet approved funding (via Royalties for 
Regions) for the South West Emergency Rescue 
Helicopter Service in May 2015. This service will 
provide a fit-for-purpose helicopter base to meet 
current and likely future requirements. A site 
has been identified within a new dedicated 
emergency services aviation precinct at 
Bunbury Airport.

Strategic Land Acquisition Program
The DoE has agreed to provide part of the 
Kensington High School site for a new CFRS 
Kensington Fire Station. The proposed 5,756m2 
site is to the rear of the existing fire station.  
In May 2015 the DoE approved the transfer of 
the site to DFES subject to the approval of the 
Department of Lands.

DFES has reached agreement on the preferred 
site for the CFRS Perth West Fire Station and is 
finalising the purchase.
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Employment and Industrial Relations

people from different backgrounds and cultures 
may be perceived in selection processes and 
providing recruitment methods to assist in 
greater inclusivity.

DFES has implemented strategies to increase 
the representation of women as career 
firefighters. These include a dedicated firefighter 
recruitment webpage and information sessions 
specifically for women and the creation of 
a ‘Girls on Fire’ identity for high level female 
sporting events. These, and other strategies, 
have resulted in a 200 percent increase in the 
number of women applying to be a firefighter 
from 2013/14 to 2014/15. More than eight 
percent of successful applicants are now 
women, compared to three percent previously. 

DFES has successfully implemented a range of 
strategies to address an under-representation  
of Aboriginals employed by the Department. 
These strategies have resulted in an increase 
in both the number of Aboriginals applying for 
positions, and the number employed by DFES.

Of the Aboriginal trainees employed under the 
strategy, some have now obtained permanent 
positions within DFES, some continue on 
temporary contracts while increasing their skills 
and employability, and others have gained 
employment with other organisations through 
the support and training provided by DFES.

Public Service Officers also negotiated a new 
agreement, the Public Service and Government 
Officers’ General Agreement 2014.

The Department has embarked on a project 
to review its approach to performance 
management. The project will enable the 
implementation of a departmental wide 
performance framework. The guiding principles 
of the framework are to:
• have individual role clarity
• be clear about required results in relation to 

DFES’ identified business goals
• discuss career considerations, professional 

development needs and personal 
circumstances.

Equity and Diversity
Implementation of DFES’ Strategic Workforce 
and Diversity Plan 2013-2016 is continuing.  
Key strategies focus on the areas of Women 
in Firefighting and Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander employment and retention. The Equity 
and Diversity Committee’s responsibilities 
include overseeing plan initiatives, consultation 
and guidance on issues specific to each 
Command and advice to the CLT on measures 
to improve DFES’ equity and diversity outcomes.

Substantive equality training has been 
conducted in conjunction with selection panel 
training to provide an understanding of how 

Staff Profile

2013/14 2014/15

Full time permanent 1,359 1,456

Full time contract 37 38

Full time trainees 30 9

Full time apprentice 1 1

Part time permanent 33 38

Part time contract 5 15

Part time trainee 1 0

On secondment  
(at DFES)1

11 9

On secondment 
(to other agencies)

2 1

Casual 3 1

Total (headcount) 1,471 1,559

Note: The total will not correlate with figures in Appendix 2 as this table 
relates to staff head count, not Full Time Equivalent staff numbers.

1 Staff on secondment (at DFES) have been excluded from total 
headcount.

Workforce Management
The Western Australian Fire Service Enterprise 
Bargaining Agreement 2015, covering employees 
eligible to be members of the United Firefighters 
Union of Australia, Western Australian Branch 
was registered in August 2014.  

136Department of Fire and Emergency Services | Annual Report 2014/15



Under the guidance of a newly created 
Aboriginal Employment Development Officer, 
the Aboriginal Firefighter Cadetship Program 
continues to develop cadets in readiness to 
apply for firefighter positions. This newly created 
position also provides advice and consultation 
within and external to DFES in Aboriginal 
employment initiatives, including developing 
partnerships and relationships with other 
Aboriginal organisations.

In order to further achieve equality in employment, 
DFES has continued to utilise Section 50d of the 
Equal Opportunity Act 1984, to test the job market 
for suitable Aboriginal employees prior to wider 
advertisement.

Dedicated DFES webpages and registration lists 
for Aboriginal people interested in firefighting 
as a career provide culturally appropriate 
information and support.

Our strategies to create a more culturally 
inclusive workplace have seen an increase in 
employees who identify as Aboriginal or Torres 
Strait Islander from 1.5 percent on 30 June 2014 
to 2.9 percent as at 30 June 2015.

Wellness
To support recommendations of the Community 
Development and Justice Standing Committee 
report on exposure of emergency service 

workers to trauma, DFES has made significant 
changes, including:
• commenced rollout of the Mental Health First 

Aid Training Program, with in excess of 100 
people already trained by seven accredited 
employees

• relaunched the Peer Support Program with 
62 Peer Supporters recruited

• employment of an additional Psychologist 
in DFES

• engaged an additional chaplain and 
expanded the Regional Chaplaincy Network

• increased investment in the DFES Employee 
Assistance Program, including a pilot regional 
visit initiative

• development of a Critical Incident Response 
Assessment tool.

Recruitment
DFES successfully recruited 48 trainee 
firefighters in 2014/15 from 788 applicants. 
A research project undertaken by the University 
of Western Australia examined the perception 
of applicants throughout the selection process. 
The project identified a number of areas for 
improvement for future processes but also 
confirmed the vast majority of applicants 
consider the process fair and reasonable. 
Unsuccessful applicants still consider DFES and 
the firefighter role to be attractive and desirable.

Innovative recruiting practices are increasingly 
being used that provide selection panels with 
greater flexibility to use selection methods that 
meet their individual needs. These practices are 
actively supported by Workforce Services along 
with the rollout of tailored training.

Staff Development
Professional Development is responsible for:
• pathway development and management
• career and volunteer technical training
• curriculum development
• incident management training
• leadership training
• management training.

In 2014/15, internal and external training 
providers completed the following activities:
• a total of 1,615 courses were delivered across 

Western Australia, involving 2,962 DFES staff 
members, 10,856 volunteers and 204 external 
personnel

• of the 1,615 courses delivered, 147 were 
conducted at the WAFES Academy and 
involved 746 DFES staff members, 605 
volunteers and 32 external personnel.

• online delivery and assessment conducted 
via the eAcademy Learning Management 
System involved 1,225 DFES staff members, 
34 volunteers and 13 external personnel.

137Department of Fire and Emergency Services | Annual Report 2014/15

http://www.austlii.edu.au/au/legis/wa/consol_act/eoa1984250/


The Audit and Risk Management Committee 
(ARMC) held four meetings during the 2014/15 
year on, 28 August 2014, 27 November 2014,  
26 February 2015 and 28 May 2015.

Standing Members Meetings 
Attended

Executive Director Governance 
and Strategy (Chair)

3

Executive Director Corporate 
Services

4

Deputy Commissioner 
Operations

4

Deputy Commissioner 
Capability

2

Executive Director SEMC 
Secretariat

2

Independent member,  
General Manager RiskCover

4

Observers/Technical Advisors

Director, Business Services (Chief Finance 
Officer)

Office of the Auditor General

External Auditors – Deloitte

Internal Auditors – KPMG

The ARMC is a component of DFES’ corporate 
governance framework and is an advisory  
body designed to give assurance to the  
FES Commissioner, Government and the 
community that management is maintaining 
adequate and satisfactory controls over the 
operations of DFES.

A performance review of the ARMC was 
undertaken in March 2015 which affirmed that 
the Committee had met the requirements of 
its Charter to a high standard and that the 
processes and procedures will continue to 
mature over time.

Some of the benefits of the ARMC that were 
highlighted by this review include:
• greater awareness of risk management 

priorities
• improved processes for monitoring traction 

on risk management and opportunities to 
escalate when progression of actions are  
off track

• provides valuable visibility of emerging 
risks and seeks guidance of members for 
corrective actions

• provides a forum for raising risk and gaining 
an understanding of risk in other business 
areas

• transparency and accountability of risks 
highlighted either through internal or external 
audit findings

• the Committee provides a formal record of 
events and provides for follow up procedures 
to ensure actions are taken to address risks.

Audit and Risk Management Committee
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The performance review resulted in some 
changes being made to the Charter to better 
reflect how the Committee fulfils its roles and 
responsibilities. The proposed changes were 
formally approved by the FES Commissioner.

DFES’ internal audits are conducted by an 
outsourced provider in accordance with the 
Financial Management Act 2006 and the 
Institute of Internal Auditors International 
Standards for the Professional Practice of 
Internal Auditing.

KPMG provided the internal audit function for 
the period 1 July 2014 to 30 June 2015. Internal 
audits provide independent, objective assurance 
and consulting that is designed to add value and 
improve DFES’ operations.

Internal Audit Reports Submitted to 
ARMC 2014/15.
Sponsorship – to consider the existence 
and effectiveness of key controls in place to 
facilitate compliance with the Department’s 
Sponsorship Policy.

Temporary Deployment and Contract 
for Service Arrangements – to consider 
processes and key controls in place to facilitate 
compliance with the key requirements of the 
Public Sector Management Act 1994 and 
relevant Commissioner’s Instructions regarding 
temporary deployment and contract for service 
arrangements.

Built Environment Branch Processes 
and Controls – to identify the key controls 
associated with the building plan assessment 
processes utilised by Built Environment Branch 
and to consider the application of these.

South East Regional Office (Belmont) – to 
consider the South East Regional Office finance, 
administrative and operational processes in 
accordance with relevant Department policies 
and procedures including asset management, 
purchasing, payroll and management processes 
and records management.

Petty Cash Management and Controls – 
to consider the effectiveness of key controls 
in place for the management of petty cash 
including the accuracy and completeness 
of policies and procedures, and delegations 
of authority.

Incident Expenditure Controls – to consider 
the governance framework and effectiveness 
of key controls in place for expenditure during 
incidents.

National Disaster Resilience Program 
(NDRP) Administration Processes and 
Controls – to consider the existence and 
effectiveness of the processes and controls in 
place to administer the NDRP.

Corporate Leadership Team (CLT) Reporting 
– to consider the appropriateness and 
completeness of CLT reporting to support 
decision making and performance monitoring.
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Advertising
(Electoral Act 1907)

In accordance with Section 175ZE of the 
Electoral Act 1907, DFES incurred the following 
expenditure in advertising, market research, 
polling, direct mail and media advertising.

Total expenditure for 2014/15 was $69,799.

Advertising agencies $15,886 Adcorp Australia Limited $15,886

Market research 
organisations

Nil

Polling organisations Nil

Direct mail organisations Nil

Media advertising 
organisations

$53,913 Albany Chamber of Commerce & Industry 
Community Service Group

$160

AttractionsPerth.com.au $90

Britel Enterprises Pty Ltd $1,368

Derby Visitor Centre – internet advert $1,520

Government Gazette $246

Job Target $315

Marsh Agencies $1,273

Media on Mars $1,330

Optimum Media Decisions (WA) Ltd $24,264

RadioWest Broadcaster $4,515

Rural Press Regional Media (WA) Pty Ltd $1,224

Stephen Straw $500

State Law Publisher $1,005

The West Australian $3,514

ThinkTribe Pty Ltd $7,520

Tyson Reeves $364

Walpole Community Resource Centre $25

West Australian Newspapers Limited $30

Westcoast Radio $3,000

Wiseman Signs $1,650

Other Legal Requirements
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(Disability Services Act 1933, S29)

The DFES Disability Access Improvement Plan applies to both DFES and the SEMC Secretariat. During 2014/15 we:
• published the annual report in a format compatible with Adobe Read Out Loud making the document conducive to be used by individuals with specific 

visual impairments
• in collaboration with Better Hearing TSH (Telethon Speech and Hearing) the production of a Fire Safety in Your Home DVD tailored to include key 

messages captioned for people that have hearing impairments
• established a cadre of seven accredited Mental Health First Aid (MHFA) Trainers to deliver MHFA training to DFES staff and volunteers. Evaluations have 

consistently shown that MHFA training is associated with improved knowledge of mental illnesses and their treatments, knowledge of appropriate first 
aid strategies, and confidence in providing first aid to individuals with mental illness. Research shows that these benefits are sustained over time. Some 
studies have also shown improved mental health in those who attend the training, decreases in stigmatising attitudes and increases in the amount and 
type of support provided to others

• engagement of trainees with disabilities

• support for an injured firefighter in his return to work after a major motor vehicle accident through modifications of the workplace, and job redesign to 
enable meaningful engagement and work outcomes within the workplace.

In 2015/16, DFES will develop its plan for 2015/19.

Disability Access and Inclusion Plan Outcomes
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(Public Sector Management Act 1994, S31(1))

In the administration of DFES during 2014/15, I have complied with the Public Sector Standards in Human Resource Management, the Western Australian 
Public Sector Code of Ethics and our Code of Conduct.

I have established procedures designed to ensure such compliance and conducted appropriate internal assessments to satisfy myself that the statement 
made above is correct.

W Gregson APM, BA, MBA
Accountable Authority
27 August 2015

Breaches of Standards Review
The applications made for breach of standards review and the corresponding outcomes for the reporting period are:
Number lodged: Six
Number of breaches found: Nil
Number of multiple breaches: Nil
Number still under review: Nil

Compliance With Public Sector Standards and Ethical Codes
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Record Keeping Plans
(State Records Act 2000 and State Records 
Commission Standard 2, Principle 6).

Recordkeeping 2014-15
DFES developed an Information Management 
Framework (IMF) to guide records management 
within the Department over the next five years in 
line with DFES’ strategic plan. The IMF includes:
• a set of information principles
• Information Management Strategy
• implementation roadmap.

These will assist and enable DFES to align its 
management and use of information with best 
practice and apply a consistent and efficient 
approach. The IMF will be implemented during 
2015/16.

DFES has also undertaken a records 
management compliance audit against the 
DFES Recordkeeping Plan using the State 
Records Office Recordkeeping Maturity Model.  
The findings will be used as a baseline to 
monitor the effectiveness of the implementation 
of the Information Management Strategy  
going forward.

Recordkeeping System
The use of TRIM across DFES has increased 
consistently over the past four years.  
The development of a records management 
training strategy will establish a formal training 
program to increase TRIM use.

Disposal Program
The DFES disposal program is ongoing with 
Information Resources managing the flow of 
closed records to off-site storage and identifying 
archival records. A revised approach is planned 
for this program to derive further efficiencies in 
the management of these records.

Over the next 12 months, Information Resources 
will audit its records storage areas throughout 
metropolitan and regional offices. Vital records 
will be identified as part of this audit. A process 
for managing vital records will form part of the 
DFES Disaster Preparedness and Recovery Plan.

2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15

Documents created in TRIM 32,930 49,062 65,433 78,196

Folders created in TRIM 3,153 4,033 35,4961 5,756

1 Over 30,000 Volunteer files containing information relating to volunteer training certificates and Recognition of Prior Learning were registered in TRIM 
during 2013/14.
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Freedom of Information

(Freedom of Information Act 1992 (FOI Act) – 
Section 111)

The Freedom of Information Statistical Return for 
DFES (including the SEMC Secretariat) for the 
period 1 July 2014 to 30 June 2015 has been 
submitted to the Information Commissioner as 
required under the FOI Act. 

As in previous years, most applications sought 
access to non-personal information from Fire 
Incident Reports and Fire Investigation Reports 
in relation to domestic and commercial structural 
fires.

A total of 126 valid applications were received; 
an increase of 27 applications (27.3 percent) 
from 2013/14. In addition, eight applications were 
carried over from the previous reporting period.

One hundred and twenty three applications were 
dealt with during this reporting period; with 118 
granted edited access, one withdrawn (including 
documents not found), two were deferred and 
access for two applications was denied.

Freedom of Information Applications 2014/15

Applications carried over from previous reporting period 8

New valid applications received within this reporting period 126

Applications transferred from another Government Agency 0

Total applications for reporting period 134

Applications withdrawn or invalid 1

Applications transferred in full to another Government Agency 0

Edited access granted 118

Full access granted 0

Access denied 2

Access deferred 2

Applications carried over to next reporting period 11

Freedom of Information Fees and Charges 2014/15

Application fees collected $3,780.00

Actual charges collected $137.50

Charges waived (when processing costs are less than $20.00) $1,521.40
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Occupational Safety, Health and Injury Management
The management and continuous improvement 
of our health and safety systems and processes 
is a key corporate priority. DFES’ journey to 
achieve the highest standards in occupational 
health and safety is progressing with the launch 
of the Safety Management System in September 
2014. The system includes a range of user 
friendly tools and resources so DFES personnel 
can understand how the system relates to 
them and safety performance monitoring and 
measurement and safety auditing guidelines.

Health and safety continues to be an integral 
part of DFES’ overall governance framework, 
with safety management practices being 
governed by the CLT, ARMC and the Health and 
Safety Governance Committee (HSGC).

The HSGC meets bi-annually to review 
and make recommendations to the CLT on 
improving safety performance. The HSGC 
reports to the ARMC, ensuring accountability for 
safety performance.

The strategic importance of health and safety is 
reflected through:
• the Health and Safety Services Branch 

reporting directly to the Office of the 
Commissioner

• the annual Strategic Health and Safety 
Planning Forum

• the annual Health and Safety Conference for 
DFES personnel.

Health and Safety
In September 2014, DFES launched the Safety 
Management System. The key objectives of the 
system were to:
• align to Australian Standard 4801:2001
• develop user friendly tools and resources
• promote the system to DFES personnel.

The following tools and resources have been 
developed in consultation with DFES personnel:
• safety wheel providing an interactive visual 

representation of health and safety processes 
linking to topics on DFES’ Health and Safety 
intranet site

• health and safety dedicated intranet site 
and one-stop-shop for health and safety 
information, tools and resources

(Public Sector Commissioner’s Circular 2009-
11: Code of Practice: Occupational Safety and 
Health in the Western Australian Public Sector)

Occupational Safety, Health and Injury 
Management and Workers’ Compensation 
management services are provided by DFES to 
the SEMC Secretariat.

DFES is committed to providing all DFES 
personnel with a safer place to work and 
achieving successful and sustainable safety, 
health and injury management outcomes.  
Our key safety value is ‘strive to keep ourselves 
and others safe’. All DFES personnel are 
encouraged to uphold this value by actively 
engaging in the following safety behaviours:
• contributing to a positive DFES safety culture
• working collaboratively to create a safer 

workplace
• communicating and consulting about safety 

effectively
• managing safety hazards and risks
• adopting a continuous improvement approach 

to the management of safety.

DFES’ last full safety management system 
audit was completed in 2009. Implementation 
of the extensive recommendations are now 
85% complete. The next audit of our safety 
management system will be carried out in 
2015/16.
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• health and safety handbook guide to health 
and safety

• health and safety e-learning module on health 
and safety management in DFES.

Health and Wellbeing
In May 2015, DFES relaunched the Peer 
Support Program. The program comprises 
62 peer support officers trained to provide 
individualised, practical and confidential support 
to employees, volunteers and their partners and 
families.

DFES also developed a network of seven 
mental health first aid trainers to rollout further 
mental health first aid training across DFES. Pilot 
training courses have been conducted, with 
the aim of rolling out the training to employees 
and volunteers over the next two years. A 
successful regional information and counselling 
pilot program has been undertaken and will be 
expanded.

DFES’ Fit for Duty team undertook two 
important projects:
• research into activities that provide an 

accurate indication of a firefighter’s fitness for 
their role

• development of a draft policy outlining how 
DFES will support, resource and monitor 
operational fitness for duty.

Consulting and Communicating on Health 
and Safety
The safety communication, consultation and 
reporting policy for the adoption of appropriate 
consultation, communication and reporting 
procedures was released. The policy provides 
for a comprehensive committee structure and 
a network of health and safety representatives 
across DFES.

DFES’ Hazard and Safety Issue Resolution 
process recognises the importance of 
consultation and cooperation to ensure the 
best safety outcomes for DFES personnel. 
The process supports significant or imminent 
risks being reported immediately to senior 
management for resolution.

DFES has more than 80 health and safety 
representatives, employed in both corporate 
and operational roles across the State. Over 
94 percent of these positions are filled. 
Representatives are consulted on changes to 
operational doctrine, new and revised training 
products, organisational projects and capital 
works applications. They are also included on 
all corporate health and safety risk assessment 
teams.

DFES’ Safety Matters Discussion Board 
provides an additional mechanism to provide 
feedback discussion on health and safety items.

Workers Compensation and Injury 
Management
In 2014/15, DFES focused on developing and 
improving injury management processes. A draft 
Workers’ Compensation and Injury Management 
(WCIM) policy was developed and will be 
finalised as a key deliverable in 2015/16.

The WCIM services provided by DFES 
were reviewed in 2014/15, with the WCIM 
satisfaction survey revealing injured workers 
who had sustained minor injuries had a positive 
experience in the management of their injury. 
The review recommended:
• education to workers and supervisors on the 

WCIM system and process
• increase return to work options
• improved contact and interaction between 

the Injury Management Consultants and the 
injured worker.

These recommendations will be progressed in 
2015/16.

The FES Commissioner was a key note speaker 
at WorkCover’s 2015 WA Injury Management 
Conference attended by more than 300 
workers’ compensation and injury management 
delegates. The Commissioner presented on 
the importance of reform and leadership in 
managing sick and injured workers.  
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Staff from DFES’ WCIM team also presented 
at the Conference on the tools, resources 
and strategies developed by DFES to support 
improved outcomes for injured workers.

Other WCIM initiatives include:

• development and dissemination of information 
to medical practitioners on the roles of the 
WCIM team within DFES

• introduction of return to work plans enabling 
injured workers to return to meaningful work 
sooner resulting in positive outcomes for both 
physical and psychological recovery.

Statement of Compliance with Injury 
Management Requirements
Compliance with the legislative requirements 
for workers compensation claims and return to 
work programs is a key focus of the WCIM team. 
The team, consisting of injury management 
consultants and a claims management officer, 
have built a positive working relationship 
with DFES’ insurer. Working closely with key 
stakeholders, the team are able to meet DFES’ 
legislative requirements and strive to deliver an 
optimal injury management service.
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Table of Results:
Public Sector Commissioner’s OSH Performance requirements 2012-14

Indicator Target 2011/2012 2012/2013 2013/14
Rolling 
3 Year 

Average
2014/15

Comment on Result

Result Achieved?

Number of Fatalities Zero (0) 0 0 0 0 0 0  ✓

Lost time injury/disease (LTI/D) 
incidence rate

Zero (0) or 10% 
improvement on the 
previous three (3) 
years

8.80 7.76 7.86 8.14 5.59 -31% ✓

Lost time injury severity rate Zero (0) or 10% 
improvement on the 
previous three (3) 
years

10.24 8.85 10.26 9.78 4.71 -54% ✓

Percentage of injured workers 
returned to work within (i) 13 
weeks

90.55% 96.46% 92.31% 93% 96.47%

Percentage of injured workers 
returned to work within (ii) 26 
weeks

Greater than or 
equal to 80% 

94.49% 97.35% 98.29% 97% 100.00% ✓

Percentage of managers and 
supervisors trained in occupational 
safety, health and injury 
management responsibilities

Greater than or 
equal to 80%

30% 63% 70% 69.3% 75% +5% ✗

Injury data provided by RiskCover.
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DFES Reconciliation Action Plan
Progress on the Reconciliation Action Plan 
for 2014/15 support Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander people and acknowledge their 
role in Australian society. DFES’ Aboriginal 
Advancement Unit facilitates our commitment 
to progressing actions through the current 
Reconciliation Action Plan and by working in 
close consultation with Aboriginal communities 
to develop tailored messages, employment 
opportunities, inclusive land management, 
emergency services and response capacity in 
and around their communities and homelands.

DFES recognises that it is crucial to respect 
and protect Aboriginal knowledge and practices 
and to be mindful of this when integrating them 
within existing knowledge and practices.

An updated Reconciliation Action Plan that aligns 
with DFES’ strategic plan is being progressed, 
enabling a cohesive approach across the 
Department to supporting Aboriginal people.

A major project delivered in 2014/15 was Ready 
on Country. Ready on Country has been a 
positive vehicle for building on DFES’ existing 
relations with the wider Aboriginal community.  

DFES continues to identify opportunities to 
highlight its commitment to engaging better with 
the Western Australian Aboriginal community 
and to provide meaningful engagement. Projects 
currently underway are:
• the Commissioner’s Aboriginal Scholarship 

program
• the Aboriginal Firefighter Cadetship program
• aboriginal traineeships or apprenticeships. 

This strategy aims to provide participants with 
opportunities in temporary and permanent 
roles. Trainees who complete their studies 
are also registered in the Public Sector 
Commission entry level pool for potential 
opportunities elsewhere in the public sector

• the Aboriginal Mentoring Program 
commenced in 2015 and provides support for 
Aboriginal employees to increase retention. 
The main focus is to assist Aboriginal people 
within the Trainee Firefighter Schools and the 
Aboriginal Cadetship program

• NAIDOC celebrations occur annually to raise 
awareness and understanding of Aboriginal 
culture and to promote an inclusive workplace

• a newly created Aboriginal Employment 
Development Officer position is responsible 
for the day to day running of the Aboriginal 
Firefighter Cadetship program and developing 
and evaluating attraction and retention 
strategies

• establishment of entry level positions to assist 
successful Aboriginal trainees to transition 
into permanent employment

• invitation only Open Days at the Fire and 
Emergency Services Academy for prospective 
Aboriginal applicants including information 
session and demonstration of skills and 
assessments

• a specific Aboriginal firefighter recruitment 
webpage providing information in an 
appropriate language. This includes a 
dedicated registration list that allows DFES to 
contact and support Aboriginal applicants

• publicity will continue to be distributed 
amongst Aboriginal networks and service 
providers to attract Aboriginal people to 
career firefighting

• the ‘Ignite your Future’ video featuring 
interviews with Aboriginal firefighters. This 
video is shown at the DFES Academy and 
Emergency Services Complex. It is also 
available for viewing through the recruitment 
page on the DFES website.

149Department of Fire and Emergency Services | Annual Report 2014/15



AFSM Australian Fire Service Medal
APM Australian Police Medal
ARMC  Audit and Risk Management 

Committee
AVL Automatic Vehicle Location
BFS Bush Fire Service
C3IS Command, Control, Coordination 

and Information System
CBRN Chemical Biological Radiological 

and Nuclear
CLT Corporate Leadership Team
ComCen Communications Centre
DFES Department of Fire and 

Emergency Services
DoE Department of Education
DPaW Department of Parks and Wildlife
ESL Emergency Services Levy
ESM Emergency Services Medal
FES Fire and Emergency Services
FESA Fire and Emergency Services 

Authority of Western Australia
FRS Fire and Rescue Service
FTE Full Time Equivalent

HAZMAT Hazardous Materials
HSGC Health and Safety Governance 

Committee
IMF Information Management 

Framework
LGA Local Government Authority
MLA Member of the Legislative 

Assembly
NAIDOC National Aboriginal and Islander 

Day Observance Committee
NDRP Natural Disaster Resilience 

Program
OBRM Office of Bushfire Risk 

Management
OSH Occupational Safety and Health
SEMC State Emergency Management 

Committee
SES State Emergency Service
TRIM Tower Records and Information 

Management
UWA University of Western Australia
VES Volunteer Emergency Service

VFRS Volunteer Fire and Rescue Service
VFS Volunteer Fire Service
VMR Volunteer Marine Rescue
WAFES Western Australian Fire and 

Emergency Services
WALGA Western Australian Local 

Government Association
WAPOL Western Australia Police
WCIM Workers’ Compensation Injury 

Management

Glossary
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Appendices
Appendix 1: Other Key Legislation
In performing its functions, DFES complies with relevant legislation including:

• Associations Incorporation Act 1987
• Auditor General Act 2006
• Building Act 2011
• Conservation and Land Management Act 1984
• Corruption and Crime Commission Act 2003
• Country Areas Water Supply Act 1947
• Dangerous Goods Safety Act 2004
• Environmental Protection Act 1986
• Equal Opportunity Act 1984
• Financial Management Act 2006
• Fire and Emergency Services Superannuation Act 1985
• Freedom of Information Act 1992
• Government Employees’ Housing Act 1964
• Government Financial Responsibility Act 2000
• Heritage of Western Australia Act 1990

• Land Administration Act 1997
• Local Government Act 1995
• Metropolitan Water Supply, Sewerage and Drainage Act 1909
• Occupational Safety and Health Act 1984
• Pay-roll Tax Assessment Act 2002
• Public and Bank Holidays Act 1972
• Public Interest Disclosure Act 2003
• Public Sector Management Act 1994
• Road Traffic Act 1974
• State Records Act 2000
• State Superannuation Act 2000
• Transfer of Land Act 1893
• Workers’ Compensation and Injury Management Act 1981
• Working with Children (Criminal Record Checking) Act 2004
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Appendix 2: Emergency Response Statistics
All figures current as at 30 June 2015

DFES staff allocation as at 30 June 2015

Employees covered by the Western Australian Fire Service Enterprise Bargaining Agreement 2014 1,130.40

Others 374.81

Total 1,505.21

Cadets and Juniors as at 30 June 2015

Emergency Services Cadets 1,890

Juniors registered with brigades, groups and units 420

Total cadets and juniors 2,310

Emergency Services Cadet Units 42

Junior Cadet Programs 87

Note: The total in this table will not relate to Staff Profile numbers on page 136. This is because this table relates to Full 
Time Equivalent staff numbers, not staff head count.

Volunteers Number of Brigades, 
Groups or Units

Volunteer Numbers as at 30 June 2015

Operational Support Total

Volunteer Bush Fire Service 580 21,135 811 21,946

Volunteer Fire and Rescue Service 93 2,316 142 2,458

State Emergency Service 63 1,977 56 2,033

Volunteer Marine Rescue Services 37 1,522 41 1,563

Volunteer Emergency Service 20 553 7 560

Volunteer Fire Service 7 327 6 333

Other DFES Volunteers 5 15 33 48

Total 805 27,845 1,096 28,941

Note: Total will not correlate with total regional volunteer numbers on page 10 as it includes volunteers who are dual 
registered.
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Fire and Emergency Services Incident Response –  
All Services

Number of Incidents  
in 2014/15

Structure Fires 1,327

Landscape Fires 6,164

Other Fires – Includes Rubbish 3,583

Road Crash Rescues 2,651

Non-Fire Rescue Calls 1,690

Hazardous Materials (HAZMAT) 619

System Initiated False Alarms 10,381

Calls to Flood, Storm or Other Natural Disaster 188

Good Intent Calls 2,980

Petrol or Flammable Spills and Gas Leaks 542

Malicious False alarms 419

Service Calls (Excludes Storm and Natural Hazards) 720

Others 720

Total responses provided by all services 31,984

The number of responses provided by all services this year has increased by 3.4 percent when 
compared to last year (a total of 30,921 responses in 2013/14). Of concern is the 146 percent increase 
in Malicious False Alarm calls (170 in 2013/14), particularly since a large number of these occurred 
while we were responding to large simultaneous incidents such as the South West Bushfires. 

There has also been an increase of approximately seven percent in all fire calls (10,395 in 2013/14). 
Better data quality assurance has produced a 62.6 percent decrease in Others incident types.
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Aviation Services Number of 
Aircraft Type

Activations in 
2014/15 Number of Drops Total amount of 

water in litres

Aerial Fire Suppression Type 1 (Bell 214B) Helitak 6 414 8,677 21,845,250

Aerial Fire Suppression Type 1HV (Aircrane) Helitak 1 46 948 3,895,287

9,625 25,740,537

DFES Aerial Intelligence Helicopter 1 144

Aerial Rescue – RAC Rescue Helicopter (includes incidents and 
flying hours where a fee for service was charged)

1 481

Aviation Services incident numbers are included in the Fire and Emergency Service Incident Response figures above. In supporting firefighting activities on 
the ground, suppression activations (460) increased by approximately 73 percent in 2014/15 when compared to 2013/14 (266). 

In 2014/15 there was a 140 percent increase in the total amount of water delivered to fire grounds compared to the 2013/14 fire season while Aerial 
Intelligence activities increased by more than 108 percent.

The Rescue Helicopter responded to 481 missions in 2014/15, a decrease of 20 percent on 2013/14 (604).

Marine Services Incident type
2014/2015

Number of 
Incidents Total Hours

Body Search 32 1,252

Distress 183 1,257

Overdue 13 68

Recovery / Tow 612 5,149

Stand By 145 6,706

Group Authorised Training 1,043 14,385

Totals 2,028 28,818

Overall, there has been similar numbers of 
incidents attended by Volunteer Marine Rescue 
Groups in 2014/15 compared to 2013/14. 
There has been a 19 percent increase in the 
number of body searches performed by the 
groups but there is a significant reduction in the 
overdue incident type with figures being a third 
of numbers reported in 2013/14. A decrease in 
this incident type implies an improvement in the 
community’s marine safety education and log 
on log off practices.

154Department of Fire and Emergency Services | Annual Report 2014/15



Arson and Fire Investigation 2014/15

Formal Investigations 118

Formal investigations increased this year (118 compared to 93 in 2013/14).

Built Environment Safety 2014/15

Building plan assessments (Commercial and Non Commercial) 2,043

Inspections 355

Commercial building plan assessments only were reported in 2013/14. Non commercial buildings 
comprise health care facilities, aged care facilities, assembly buildings, schools and universities and 
residential apartments (hostels, motels, etc). This year 1,182 commercial building plan assessments 
were conducted, a 36.6 percent increase on last year (865 compared to 1,182).
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Appendix 3 Local Government Grants Scheme (LGGS) and VMRS Grants

Grants Expensed in 2014/15 Operating
$000

Capital
$000

Total
$000

LGGS – Bush Fire Service 7,269,325 20,946,402 28,215,727

LGGS – State Emergency Service 1,778,669 5,458,674 7,237,343

9,047,994 26,405,076 35,453,070

VMRS (includes Operating Grant of $223,696 for the 
Metropolitan Volunteer Sea Rescue Group)

1,239,095 977,249 2,216,344

10,287,089 27,382,325 37,669,414
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Appendix 4 Infrastructure and Vehicles

Infrastructure CFRS BFS SES VFRS VES VFS

Number of existing structures as at 30 June 2014 28* 354* 61* 100*̂ 19 9

Number of new (additional facilities) structure 
approvals 2014/15

0 5 0 0 0 0

Number of new (replacement facilities) structure 
approvals 2014/15 

1 1 2 1 0 0

Number of structure improvements 2014/15 
(excludes minor works)

0 2 2 0 0 0

* Includes collocated facilities.

^ Does not include private brigades.

“BFS” includes facilities approved in previous years now completed.

“SES” adjusted – cessation of four units and establishment of one.

Vehicles CFRS^ BFS SES* VFRS^ VES^ VFS^

Number of existing vehicles as at 30 June 2014 78 644 337 192 53 24

Number of replacement vehicle approvals 2014/15 14 48 15 19 4 3

Number of existing trailers as at 30 June 2014 21 N/A N/A 45 21 4

* SES includes licenced equipment such as trailers and major capital equipment such as lighting towers.

^ In addition, there are:
• 67 High Fire appliances available to be deployed across the state and are used by the FRS, VES and VFS.
• 26 Standby Appliances used for rotation of fleet during maintenance and support for breakdowns
• 15 Training Appliances held at the Training Academy. 
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